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Operational Highlights

QUALITY {'CQcC’}

86%

{2020: 91%)

QUALITY (OFSTED)

80%

(2020: 82%)

COVEBERRY

In November 2020, we completed the
transfer to the Carglech Group of seven
services previcusly operated by The
Huntercombe Group. This broadens our
Adults Specialist Service pathway by adding
highty specalised facitities for the treatment
of adults with complex tearning disabilities.
autisrn and mental health diagnoses.

CAPACITY

4"979 places

(2020 4,984 places}

ADLULTS SERVICES

2,104 places.

{2020: 1.997 places)

CHILDREN'S SERVICES

210 O Oplacgs

{2020: 1,959 places)

FOSTER CARE

(2020: 1,028 places)

ACQUISITION
OF SMARTBOX

in Qctaber 2020, we acquired Smarthox,

2 maiden investment for the Group's Digital
investment strategy. Smartbox is a global
provider af augmentative and assistive
technology for people with disabilities.

In joining CareTech, Smartbox technology
extends our Care Pathway enabling us to
deliver blended care and technology solutions
to our service users in the UK, shaping a

new market for this technology in social care,
while supporting Smartbox’s growth around
the world,

EMPLOYEE RETENTION

JAE:

{2020: 75%)

8 /5places f__._

ACQUISITION
OF REHAVISTA

In November 2021, we acquired REHAVISTA's
reach and expertise which is unparalleled in
Germany. and estimated to be the second
largest funded AAC market globally after

the LISA. With its deep knowiedge of assistive |
technology and established routes to
market. this acquisition provides a significant
oppartunity for Smartbox to expand the
products and services available in Germany,
expanding on the existing partnership
between Smartbox and REHAVISTA, and
across Srmartbax’s global customer base,
which spans mere than 30 languages and

45 distributors.
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Financial High_lights

UNDERLYING EBITDA ©

£100.5m

Increased by 10.5% (2020: £90.9m)

REVENUE

489 1m

Increased by 13.8% (2020: £430m)
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EARNINGS PER SHARE ¢

478/

UNDERLYING PROFIT
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£68, 5m

1vdls
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RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS

-.-In 2021, we developed our new Responsible Business
strategy — CARE4, spanning Planet, People. innovation
and Communities.

CARE4 Planet
2 hetter future for the planet

CARE4 Peaple
a better future for our pecple

_ CAREA Innovation
a better future for business

CARE4 Communities
a better future for
our communities

-» Read more on page 56,

Increased by 14.6% (2020: £59.7m) Increased by 13.3% (2020: 42.26p)

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE

28.80r

increased by 25.9% (2020: 22.88p)

QOPERATING PROFIT

79 5

Increased by 49.0% (2020: £53.4m)

PROPERTY PORTFOLIO
VALUATION 10

£930.0m

with net debt® of £258.7m

CPERATING CASH FLOWS BEFORE
NON-UNDERLYING ITEMS &

{2020: £94.2m)

FINAL DIVIDEND PER SHARE

9.5e

Increased by B.6% (2020: 8.75p)

i} This report provides Alternative Performance Measures [APMs’} which are not defined or
specified under the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards ('IFRS). The
Graup uses these APMs 1o improve the comparability of informaticn between reporting periods
and divisions, by adjusting for certain items which impact upon IFRS measures, to aid the user
in understzanding the activity taking place across the Group's businesses. APMs are used by
the Directors and management for performance analysis. planning, reporting and incentive
purposes. A surmwary of APMs used are defined in the appendix on pages 173 and 174. The
appendix also contains a reconciliation to their closest equivalent statutory measure.

(i} Knight Frank Property partlolio valuation in October 2021. Valuaticn is unaudited and Property
is stated at cost less accumutated depreciation and impairment losses in the balance sheet.
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Our Purpose

EXTRAORDINARY

—_EVERY DAY

OUR PURPOSE
CUR VISION IS FOR A WORLD WHERE
THERE IS EQUAL OPPORTUNITY FOR
A LIFE FULLY LIVED.

02

DAYS

We enable children, young people

and adults with complex needs to

make their own life choices, and build
confidence and independence to live,
learn, thrive and engagqe in their families
and communities for more independent
futures that meet their aspirations.



1l¥0d3YH 3IDILYHILS

Independence means having the confidence
and skills to be abte to live, learn, thrive and
engage in community activities — a future
that is unique to them and informed by

their ¢hoices.

We help thern to master the essentials of daily
life, like being able to cook, shop. keep house.,
build relationships and stay well and safe.

We provide access to learning ~ academic or
playful We build the confidence and skills for
employment for thase who would like to work
in any capacity. And we nurture the ability and
self-awareness to engage socially and build
lasting retationships.

We achieve all of this thanks to the loving,
supportive. fun and therapeutic environments
that our specialist professional teams create
and with the courage and determination

of those in our care.

Qur vision has driven our success. Our purpose
is shared by cur staff as well as by the peaple
in our care. We want everyone in the CareTech
family to have a bright future and we work
tirelessly towards that aim.

Gyl

Haroon Sheikh
Group Chief Executive Officer
6 December 2021
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At a Glance

WHO WE ARE

The CareTech family of companies provide high-quality
care and support across the whole sacial care spectrum
tor chitdren and adults below retiremant age.

QOur Adults Services support people with learning
disabitities, individuals who have or are recovering from
rmeantal ilness, peaple with autistic spectrum disorder,
indiiduals who have one or more physical impairments
and provide care and rehabilitation far acquired brain

QUR SERVICES

Adults Services

CAPACITY

2’10 4 places

injury-FABHI-We-deliver-services-inresidential-gay-care
and a wide choice of creative supported living settings.

Qur Children’s Services — recognised nationally for their
axpertise — cover assessment, residential care, education
and fostering options. We specialise.in supporting children
and young people with very complex needs including
those with challenging behaviours, sexually offending
behaviours, or who have emotional and behavioural
disorders. We carefully and professionally support any
child, irrespective of their need for being in sociat care,
and our cormprehensive high-quality services include the
UK's largest portfolio of specizlist schoals and colleges.

CareTech has pioneered cutcormes and progression along
the Care Pathway including transition services for young

peopleleaving.care and for agults.who.are.making.the___.

move into their own home after a lifetime in residential
ar institutional settings.

We are accelerating digital adoption within the Group and
blending care and technology in new meaningful ways.
s0 even peopie with the most compiex of needs can
participate and flourish in society.
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Our Adults Services support people with learning disabilities,
individuals who have or are recovering from mental illness,
peaple with autistic spectrum disarder, individuals who have
one or mare physical impairments, and provide care and
rehabilitation for pecple with acquired brain injury. We deliver
services in residential, day care and a wide choice of creative
supparted living settings.



Children’s Scrvices

CAPACITY

2’ O O O places

lFoster Care

CAPACITY

8 75 places

LYOd3IH 2IDILVHLS

We specialise in supporting children and young people with

very compiex needs including those with challenging behaviours,

sexually offending behaviours, or who have emational and
behavioural disorders. We carefully and professionally support
any child irrespective of their need far being in social care and
our camprehensive high-guality services include the UK's largest
pottfolio of specialist schools and colleges.

Qur aim is to ensure the children and young people we care for
have safe, stable and happy family-based experiences. We offer
training and support to help our foster parents provide the best
kind of parenting for their foster child,

05
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At a Glance continued

QUR SERVICES CONTINUED
Breakdown of revenue
Digital Technology
Woe are accelerating digital adoption within the Group and
blending care and technolagy in new meaningful ways

50 even service users with the most complex of ngeds
can participate and flourish in society.
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WHERE WE OPERATE

SITES ACROSS THE UK
550+

PEOPLE

LYOdIY DIDILVHLS

11,000+

LOCAL AUTHORITIES ACROSS -
ENGLAND, SCOTLAND AND WALES - o

500+

PROPERTY PORTFOLIO

£930m

* The Company has undertaken a scheduled property revaluation,
which Knight Frank has valued at £930 mitlion. Property is stated
at cost less accumulated deprediation or impairment losses in the
balance sheet.

o7
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Qur Business Modetl

WHAT WE DO

WE ARE DRIVEN BY OUR PURPOSE TO
ENABLE CHILDREN, YOUNG PEOPLE AND
ADULTS WITH COMPLEX NEEDS TO MAKE
THEIR OWN LIFE CHOICES, AND BUILD
CONFIDENCE AND INDEPENDENCE

TO LIVE, LEARN, THRIVE AND ENGAGE

IN THEIR FAMILIES AND COMMUNITIES
FOR MORE INDEPENDENT FUTURES
THAT MEET THEIR ASPIRATIONS.

o8

HOW WE GENERATE REVENUE

in the UK, tocal authorities, clinical
commissioning groups and Health
Boards commission Group services.
Funding is received in four main ways:

Framework agreements
Framework agreements are typically awarded to providers

on 3 non-exclusive basis pursyant to a public tender. These
agreements autline various service and reporting obligations
as well as pricing terms. Framewaork agreements can be

set up for any pericd of thre, although at least two years

is typical. The actual care package 10 be provided for an
individual and the pricing is agreed on a case-by-case basis

Spot contracts

Most admissions and referrals remain based on ‘spot’

contracts, which are individual placement agreements.

Spot corntracts generally have a four-week notice period to

terminate the contract and typically da not have a minimum

term. Spot contracts provide greater operational flexibility

and are appropriate for bespoke care packages to meet the

high severity support needs of the individuals in a provider's

zare. Fees are typically negotiatedon a case-by-case basis. ——

Block contracts

Alimited amaunt of specialist care funding is provided
tnrough block contracts, Such block contracts are
negotiated for a specific valume of service, pre-booked
over a fixed periad of time, usually for a specified price.

Private pay/insurance

Private pay services rmake up a very small part of our
revenye 3s the UK publicly funded bodies witi typically
provide funding. :

I the LAE, insurance plays 2 larger role in funding of
services. The Thiga programme is 8 comprehensive
healthcare programme offergd by the Government of
Abu Dhabi to UAE Nationals and those of similar status
in the Emirate.

Digital Technotogy

The Augmented and Assistive Communication industry
is typically funded by local healthcare providers {i.e. NHS
in the UK).



HOWWE DOIT

We listen to our stakeholders

We seek Lo engage in constructive dialogue with
stakeholders to gather a holistic understanding of their
key expectations and concerns. Our key stakeholders
include sharehclders, people in cur care and their families,
reguiators. suppliers, customers and the communities in
which we cperate.

-» Some examples of how CareTech purposefully

experienced internal quality and compliance teams
undertake a programme of regular inspections and
provide constructive feedback, backed by training
and supervision as required. We engage the services
of putsourced expert advisers ensuring best practice.

We are continuing to evaluate ways in which we
can improve our standards of care and are investing
significantly in the training and induction of staff.

1H0d3Y D1DILVHLS

engages with key stakeholder groups are set
out on pages 46 to 51.

We look after our people

. We.are committed to ensuring employees share in
the success of the Group, We promote our values
and culture by helping our employees and supporting
them with reqular supervision, training and clear career
development programmes.

- Read more about our pecple on page 51.

We have a persocn-centred approach to
our innovative Care Pathways

Care and support are characterised by a genvine belief in

-—{he-abilities-of the-people in cur care-and-our-professional —-

tearns work hard to help individuals in our services make
progress. Many years ago we began to describe our services
as a Care Pathway, making clear our intention to break away
from the old belief that care is for life. We have delivered

on this commitment and everyone we support, from young
children to profoundly disabled adults, shares our appraach
to maximise their independence. This is great for the people
in gur care, rewarding for our staff and strangly supported
by those who cammission and support our services.

> Read more about our persan-centred approach
on pages 47 and 48.

We live our culture of respect, quality and care
Qur gim is to provide a safe environment for people in our
care, staff and visitors. Our aim is to be the highest quality
pravider across the breadth of our services.

Our quality ang compliance perfarmance is achieved
against a backdrop of continued raising of quality
standards in the sector reflected in an increasingly
stringent reguiatory environment. Qur highly

- diagnosis for-developmentat disabilities, delivering-anline

- Read more about the work of our Care Quality
and Governance Committee on page 86.

We are innovators in social care

Through the lockdowns associated with COVID-19. we
have come to know how essential it is to level the digital
playing field for people with disabilities and comptex
needs. Addressing this is a significant driver for CareTech's
Digital Strategy, which over the coming decade seeks to
reach a million people around the world to improve their
guality of life and life chances.

To deliver on this ambition, CareTech embarked on a
buy. build and partner roadmap to develop a sector first
Digital Pathway of services encompassing screening and

therapeutic interventions for a range of behavioural
conditions, and making available augmentative and
assistive technology and thereby opening up a world of
opportunity for people with disabilities and cormplex needs
- from accessing information and having a voice to buying
products and services,

Underpinning this Digital Pathway is a drive for our UK
services to act as living labs in develcping and trialling

new service models that blend care and technology

in inncvative and meaningful ways. We designed and
embarked on our first project during this year, piloting with
our schools and care facilities’ technology that augments

" education and care plans to provide a voice to the people

in our care with complex communication needs. This
pitot, the 100 Voices initiative, is demonstrating promising
qualitative results, will inform future service models and
is receiving keen interest from social care and education
commissioners interested in seeing greater adaoption of
technology within the social care sector.
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Ouwr Business Medel continued

HOW WE DO 1T conmnuen

We believe in doing business responsibly

We are cormmitted to developing a business that is built
on the foundations of responsibility and ethicat practice that are

inherent in our model, and that builds value for all our stakeholders.

In 2021, we developed our new Responsible Business strategy —
CARE4 — to help us to achieve that goal.

The CARE4 strategy is rooted in our corporate purpose
{building independence to enable better futures) and addresses
the sustainability issues that are material to our business.

We will report our progress through an annual Purpase Report
using the Waorld Economic Forum’s 21 core ESG metrics in
combination with narrative that describes our commitments
and activities across four key areas:

CARE4
Planet

We Hnow that healthy lives go hand in hand
with = healthy planet. We are committed

1o caring for the wellbeing of our planet

to safeguard all our futures.

___Social Impact

CARE4
People

Our business exists to facilitate hettar lives -
far the peaple i our care and the people who
work for us, We gim to be the sector's best
warktorce and so we offer market-leading
empleyment opportunities, creating better
futures for our employees.

The purpose of our business is to enable children, yaung peapie
and adults with complex needs to make their own life chaices,
and to develop confidence and independence tolive, learn, thrive
and engage, building better futures.

We helieve that good business creates value
for socigty as weil as for those wham we
care. Our innovative approaches will expand
our business for a successful future, helping
us to enable independence for more people,
pesitively impacting moere lives.

CARE4
Innovation

Thriving communities are central tq

our success and we aim to be anactive
contributor in all the locations in which we
operate. We also support the vital role of
the wider social care sector through the
CareTech Foundation.

CARE4
Community

10

Governance

Qur belief in creating value for all of our stakeholders drives our commitment
10 good governance, transparency and effective engag with all involved
in our business, safeguarding its long-term success,




The strategy centres on our positive social impact — our corporate
purpose — and in the course of 2022 we will develop a methodology
that enables us to monitor and report our impact.

2022 will also see the launch of Cne Planet Living across our servicas

— a3 grassroots campaign to ensure that alt our services are aligned to
our corporate sustainability commitments, implementing activities to
reduce energy use, reduce waste, source locally and ensure responsible
procurement of goods and services. Our services with gardens will

develop riature positive [Blans sueh as wilglife=friendiy planting:
home-grown vegetables and composting.

CARE4 will enable us to respond to a rapidly evalving business
environment that is increasingly demanding a formal and transparent
approach to sustainability, allowing us to meet the requirements of our
commissioners whilst also benefitting from non-financial values such
as reputation enhancement, employee commitment. talent attraction,
community engagement, envircnmental footprint and service user
fulfilmernt and independence.

- Read more about CARE4, our approach to responsible business,
on page 10.

- Read more about the CareTech Foundation
on page 61.

11
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Investment Case

Management
Strong management
team with a broad
range of experience.

Discover meore about our Board
of Directors on pages 78 and 79

Technology
Opportunity to
develop a sector first
Digital Pathway of
services for people

. with disabilities and

complex needs.

Discover mare about our Digital
Technology division on pages 17 and 67

12

International
Well-positioned to
capitalise on opportunities
in the Gulf, having
established our presence

in the region two years

ago with our maiden
investment in the AS Group.

Discaver mare ahout development opportunities
in the Group Chief Executive’s Statement and
Performance Review on pages 24 and 25



Strategy

Clear strategy of being
a leading international
integrated provider of
specialist social care
services for children

LBOd3IY J1D3ILVHLS

Sector

Established system
of public and private
providers of health

and-adults; detivering
high-quality and care
excellence.

Discover more about our strategy on page 32

Market

Increasing demand for
specialist adults and
children’s care.

"—andsocialcare.

Discover more about the
sectors in which we operate
on paye 28

Discover more about our
markets on pages 26 to 31

13



CONTINUED
STRONG

)ERFORMANCE

Faroug Sheikh OBE

LHOdIY D1DILVELS

Continued strong performance during
COVID-19 showing resilience and
growth prospects further underpinned.

Dear Shareholder,

It is my pleasure to present another strong
set of results for the period ending 30
September 2021

I these unprecedented times, CareTech’

has continued to demanstrate the significant
resilience of its business model by delivering
strong growth in all of its kay performance
indicators. This is underpinned by a robust
perfarmance in its core aclivities with an
emphasis on accelerated organic growth
initiatives complemented by selective boit-on
acquisitions and, maost importantly, delivering
on the previgusly outlined strategy of the
creation of the Technology pathway and
International division. Both of these initiatives
have been successfully implemented and have
significant further opportunities we can build
upon in the coming years.

On behalf of the Board, | would like ta
thank aur staff who have worked tirelessly
throughout the year, enabling us to deliver
excellent quality care to individuals in

our services. | am enormously proud
particularly of our front-line colleagues in
delivering Extraordinary Days, Every Day
for gur service users.

During a year dominated by the COVID-19
pandemic we made two important strategic
moves. I October 20240, we acquired
Smartbox, a market-leading creator of
software, nardware ang content that helps

individuals without speech to Have a voice |
and live more independently. This was an
important milestone for our newly established
Digital Technology division, established to
broaden our Pathway offering to include
digital care services. Secondly. in November
2020. we completad the transfer of seven
specialist services previously operated by
The Huntercombe Group and rebranded
Coveberry. This broadens our specialist offer
by adding facilities for the treatment of adults
with complex Learning Disabilities, Autism
and Mental Health diagnoses.

In the UAE, we continued to see exciting
prospects for our lacal operating brands,

with further investments ptanned and service
developments expected to establish our long-
term goal of being the first whole person Care
Pathway of sarvices for people with disabilities
and complex needs in the region,

15
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Group Executive Chairman's Statement continued

Financial results and position

CareTech performed well during the year
to 30 September 2021 with financial
highlights as follows:

— Robust financial performance slightly
ahead of market expectations.
— Revenue increase of 13.8% to £489.1m.

— \Underlying EBITDA increase
of 10.5% to £100.5m.

- underlying basic EPS increase

7021 2020

£0D0 E0QO % change
Revenue E489.1m  E430.0m +13.8%
Underlying EBITDA £100.5m £909m +10.5%
Underlying protfit before tax £68.3m E59.7m +14.6%
Undertying basic earnings per share 47.87p 42.26p +13.3%
Statutory profit before tax E66.2m £378m +75.1%
Statutory basic earnings per share 28.80p 22.88p 25.9%
Operating cash flows befare non-underlying iterms E96.6m £94.2m +1.7%
Final dividend per share 9.5p 8.75p +8.6%

of 13.3% 10 47.87p.

— Statutory basic EPS increase
of 25.9% to 28.8Qp.

— Net debt reduced to £258.7m, underpinned
by a significantly increased new property -
portfolio valuation of the Group's freehold
and long leasehald at £930.0m, with
leverage of 2.7% adjusted EBITDA.

- Increased final dividend of 9.5p declared
and dividend policy reaffirmed.

16

13.8% driven by organic growth in Children’s
Services, the acquisition of Smartbox in
October 2020 and the portfolio of assets
transferred from The Huntercombe Group in
December 2020 to Adults Specialist Services.

Group underlying EBITOA increased by 10.5%
to £100.5m {2020: £90.9m) and underlying
EBITDA margin was 20.5% (2020Q: 21.1%).

Underlying profit before tax increased
by 14.6% to £68.3m (2020: £59.7m) and
underlying basic earnings per share was
47.87p (2020: 42.26p).

Group revenue was £489.1m, an increase of Qperating cash_ conversion was strong

at 96.1% (2020: 103.9%} with net debt at

30 September 2021 being £258.7m (2020:
£268.9m) and net debt/adjusted EBITDA
2.7% (2020: 3.1x). Cash generated during the
period was used to fund growth through
the acquisition of Smartbox for £5.4m {net
of acquired cash) and £11.8m on property
acquisitions/developments and £16.8m of
maintenance capex.




Extending our Digitat Technology
offering

Cn 29 Novermoer 2021, we annaunced the
acquisition of REHAVISTA GmBH (REHAVISTA}
and its subsidiary company LogBUK.

REHAVISTA is Germany's largest provider of
augmentative and alternative communication
{(AAC") products and services, employing over
170 staff. The company. which has six offices
across Germany. provides a range of AAC and
assistivetechnology.products.and.hias.a.strong
reputation for excelient service. LogBUX is a
subsidiary company to REHAVISTA, providing
independent speech and language therapy

to help AAC users achieve the best outcomes
through specialist ctinicat support.

REHAVISTA's reach ang expertise is
vnparalieled in Germany, estimated to be the
second largest funded AAC market globally
after the USA. With its deep knowledge of
assistive technology and established routes to
market, this acquisition provides a significant
apportunity for Smartbox to expand the
products and services available in Germany,
expanding on the existing partnership
between-Smartbox-and-REHAVISTA-and
across Smarthox’s global customer base,
which spans more than 30 languages and
45 distributaors.

REMAVISTA and LogBUK, headquartered in
Bremen, generated revenue in excess of €16m
in 2020, I is expected that the acquisition will
be immediately earnings enharncing.

Embedding and ernhancing

A progressive dividend

We continue to maintain a progressive
dividend policy. The Board has proposed 2
final dividend of 9.5p {2020: B.75p) per share
bringing the total dividend for the year to 14.1p
{2020: 12.75p) per share. This represents a full
year increase of 10.6% year on year. The final
dividend will be paid, subject to shareholder
approval, on 4 May 2022. with an ex-dividend
date of 3 March 2022 and an assaciated
record date of 4 March 2022.

With the integratian of Cambian now
complete and, given the opportunities

to further grow our existing core services
together with the significant opportunities
both Digital Technology and international
bring we have taken the apportunity ta
strengthen our operational leadership team.
This sets us up well for the next phase of
growth both here in the UK, international
and the Digital Technology division.

Outlook and prospects

sustainability

The Board is increasing its focus on
erviraonmental. social and governance {E5G)
initiatives, which we believe represent value
drivers for the Group. We have continued to
make good progress with the developmert
of our ESG strategy during a year of many
challenges, and | look forward to the
publication of our inaugural Purpose Report
in early 2022. To oversee the development
of this important area of work, we have
appointed Jonathan Freeman as the Group's'
first Sustainability Director. Jonathan will

1HO4IY DIDIUVHLS

This year has affirmed our belief that we have
a well-executed investment strategy. which
meels a critical social care need and has
demonstrated resilience. Our fundamentals
ramain strong and we remain cammitted

to providing high-guality care (o those we
look after,

CareTech enters the new financial year in

a strong financial position, underginned by
a significant property portfolio and strong
cash generation. Alohgside its successful
grow€h initiatives, the Group continues to
see an active pipeling of bolt-on acquisition
opportunities, growth in the Gulf region ang

report-to-our-CFO, and E5G-willkbecame - -~ —-gxciting opportunities ta-develop-our Digital -

a core part of the Board's agenda.

- Details of our strategy can be
found on page 32.

Strengthening Board and
Operational leadership team

The search for a new Chair of the Audit
Committee is well underway and once this
appointment is made. Karl Monaghan will
retire from CareTech's Board. In addition. we
plan to appoint an additionat indeperident
Non-Executive Director during 2022 to
further strengthen our Board.

Technology division.

Finally, | would like to thank our shareholders
tor their continued support, and my fellow
Board members for their commitment
throughout the year.

Farouq Sheikh QBE
Group Executive Chairman
& December 2021
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‘Catherine'’s’ Statement

THE SAFETY, WELLBEING AND INDEPENDENCE
OF THE PEOPLE WE SUPPORT IS OUR UTMOST
PRIORITY AND IT IS OUR PRIVILEGE TO CARE
FOR AND TEACH EACH AND EVERY ONE OF
THE ADULTS, CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE

ACROSS THE GROUP.

We pride ourselves on delivering care which
encompasses our five CareTech values:
friendly, positive, person-centred, empowering
and innovative. Most importantly, we cater to
each person’s individuat interests and needs,
ta ensure they receive tailored support. )

One cf cur residents, Catherine, tells of
her experience living in a CareTech
residential home:

‘| have lived in a CareTech service for eight
years and it is comgletely my nome. | have
painted my bedroom in the colours | like
and the furniture is exactly what | wanted.

The staff are extremely caring and make sure

| have lots of chances to experience different
things and meet new people. They are always
there to talk to if | feel anxious about anything
and are honest with me ~ | trust them and
know they want the best for me. The staif take
care of my health and are always hetpful if |
want tc try something new, They make sure all
of us build our confidence and | don't feel silly
asking a question if | don't know something.
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I"enjoy outings to thé Seaside at Brighton,
shopping trips and going to the park. The
staff took time to find out what | like to da.
They know that | enjoy seeing films so we
go to the cinema. | feel like | have the right
balance of support and | get different help
at different times depending on what | neeg,

It was really hard during lockdown as we didn't
get to go out very much at all, but the staff
were amazing and we did |ots of activities
indoors {ike karaoke nights and food frem all
over the world. Cne night we had an 80's party
with fancy dress, balloons and props ~ we had
old sweets and had to guess which song was
being played, that was a really great day. | had
l;ni.' nails Héiﬁféd on our hame spa day and

me and my friends made salt dough on the
weekends and painted it. We also did Bake Off
with the staff and baked treats for everyone

in our home, which is always good to do
together. We like to celebrate occasions like
Valentine's Day and of course Christmas — we
do 2 big menu with a roast dinner and give
out presents. Then in the evenings there is
dancing in the living room with everyone too!

The Blooming Marvellous competition is

our chance to come together and make our
garden a nicer place to hang out and it was
one of my favourite lovely things to do. It used
to took very overgrown and grey so we did

a makeover. We planted flowers and created
hanging baskets to make it more colourful and
we alsc built a lot of decking. There were tyres

that we painted as decorations and picnic
tables in bright colours. It kept us busy
and laughing together, we had lots of fun,

| like that we recycte all of our plastic at our
home and take it very seriousty. because we
care about our environment. | go to the bottle
bank and everyone tries to keep our rubbish
to small piles ctherwise it is just a waste.

We do upcycling and turn our old iterns

af furniture tike benches and boxes into
pretty new things for the outdoor area and
sametimes for indoors. We love having the
animals visit our gardern so we have made
insect houses and rock gardens so they can

---come and say ‘Hellei-had never mown-a

lawn before but | tried it and really enjoyed
it — our garden looks so nice now and is the
place where we keep fit and play games.

The best thing about it is doing shows and
dances to friends at other services, that's
when we feel like a community the most.

| really like doing arts and crafts and thera was a
competition for the Queen's Birthday so | made
a birthday card for Her Majesty with her face
on, using glitter and colouring pencils. | am &
big fan of the Royal Family and even though

| didn't win, it was stili really good to do.

| feel very lucky and am thankful for
everything the staff do for me. We share
good moments and laughter at our house,
we are definitely a family.”



‘| feel very lucky and am thankful
for everything the staff do for me.”

1H0d3Y 21DIIVHLS
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PROVIDING

Haroon Sheikh
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As we continue to live with the effects of the
global COVID-15 pandemic, CareTech has
remained resclute in its purpose to deliver the
highest guality of care while demonstrating
the resilience of our business mode!, These
two fundamentals are the basis for our
success in delivering Extraordinary Days,
Every Day to transform outcomes for the

“people inbut care and prévide value forour

commissioners.

Our commitment to high-quality care

Delivering the highest standards in education,
support and care, and striving to continualty
improve outcomes for children, young people
and adults, are the cornerstones of our
purpose as a Group. Our recipe for success,
tried and tested over two decades. is an
unrelenting focus on quality. which in turn
drives commercial suUcCess.

These principles have remained particularly
important during the pandemic which has
caused so much disruption to society. During
this time, we have remained focused on
providing certainty and assurance to the
people in aur care that they are our absolute
prigrity, as well as ensuring that our staff feel
safe and supported.

CARE

HIGH-QUALITY

As the pandemic has eased. both CQC and
Ofsted have re-commenced inspections.
CareTech's Adult CQC registered service
guality ratings at 30 September 2021 were
86% Good or Outstanding (2020; 91%) and
our Ofsted ratings at 30 Septermber 2021
were 80% (2020: B2%). Whilst both our CQC
and Ofsted ratings compares favourably to

“thie national social Care average. we remdin

committed to providing the highest quality
of care across all our services and have
comprehensive imprevement plans in place
to increase our quality ratings further.

Throughout the year our Executive-led
COVID-19 taskforce has monitered sites
on a daily basis and communicated to all
services regularly.

Over the year we strengthened our internal
Compliance and Regulation team, promaoting
Tom Burford to Group Executive Director

- Quality Improvement. We introduced the
Mind of My Own app across every children’s
service enabling us to capture and listen” to
the voice of the young people in our services
and respond to their individual needs. We
launched our Dyramic Line of Sight (DyLOS")
across our portfolio of services which provides
site-based KP| monitoring and added a new
Management Information Systerm across

our schools.



As we continue to live with the
effects of the global pandemic,
Carelech has demonstrated the
resoluteness of our purpose and
resilience in our business model.

1H0d3Y 21D31VHLS
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The wellbeing of our staff and those
we look after is our utmost priority.
The Board has continued the active
engagement with our workforce, using
virtual meetings where needed in line

with COVID-19 protocols.
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We continue to recognise our front-line
managers as the building blocks that make
up a great service, During the year, we

have doubled efforts to roll out the Group's
Management Development Programme,
which is scheduled by 2022 to have reachied
all frontline management colleagues.

Succession in operational (eadership

As CareTech continues ta evoive and grow,
ang to address operational leadership

——sugeession-Nasir-Quraishi-and-Jererny-Wiles—launched-our-CQVID-15-fund-last year-and

have been promoted to the positions of Group
Executive Directar — Adults Services and
Group Executive Director ~ Children's Services
respectively, replacing John lvers' role as Chief
Operating Officer. Bath Nasir and Jeremy have
many years.of experience in the sector and
prior to these appointments held key senior
management roles within Carelech.

John ivers will continue with the Groupina
newly created strategic role supporting the
Company's growih plans and working with
the Executive team.

Commitment to our people

The wellbeing of our staff 2nd those we
look after is our utmast pricrity. The Board
has continued the active engagement with
our workforce, using virtual meetings where
needed in line with COVID-19 protocols. We

continued to support staff, particularly those
that have had to self-isolate and/or who
faced hardship on accaunt of the panderic.

Cur Executive Committee also continued
ta engage extensively throughout the
yesr, hosting a number of events to better
understand how people were coping with
the working environment caused by the
pandemic, check in on their mental wellbeing
and explore what the business couls do
to better support colleagues. 1 orce again
congratulate our recruitment and learning
services teams who have recruited staff
and on boarded them exceptionally well
thisyear in circumstances that remain——
unusually challenging.

We initiated the inaugural Staff Consultative
Commitiee during this period with
representation from across the organisation
to focus on the staff voice and workfarce
matters. with this engagement shaping our
Peonple strategy.

Over 2,500 staff were recipients of a Thank
You', which is the formal recognition of our
Applause Programme that was launched in
Qctober 2020. This is the key driver to ensure

that recognition of our values and their irpact

on the ¢are and support given is emoedded
throughout the organisation.

To celebrate the diversity within the Group,
we launched our Equality, Diversity and
Inclusion strategy. with wark now underway
to enhance ocur practices and culture. We are
fully committed to fairness and inclusivity.

Hiring the right people, based on CareTech's
values, is central to achieving cur purpose.
It has been widely publicised that the social
care sector is facing challenges in respect of
staff recruitrment and cost inflation following
the pandemic easing and we have seen the

1¥0d3Y 31D31VULS

annuatised stalf retertion rate fall durnimg the
year from 75% to 71%. We are well placed to
navigate these sector-wide challenges and
continue to cansider innovative methods

of recruitment, investing in the careers of
our staff through best-in-class training and
develapment. Our unwavering focus remains
o be the employer of choice in our sector.

The Maticnal Mirimum and Living Wage
percentage increase in April 2022 isintine

with those we ohserved prior to the pandemic
arnd, as with prior years, we woudd expect
annual fee negotiations with Local Authorities
to cover the majority of additional operational
costs including increases to front-line staff pay.

As a learning organisation with a culiure of
‘open dialogue’ our most recent statf survey
received over 3,000 responses, demonstrating
positive engagement. Our focus for the
coming year is to roll out Group-wide plans
to improve staff experience and act upon the
feedback we received.

23



CareTech Holdings PLC / Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Group Chief Executive’s Statement and Performance Review continued

Growth in service developments include
home health and social care services,
physical healincare, and a special education
needs school development. Led by Shafgat
Maiik, CEO of AS Group, and supported by
CareTech’s corporate expertise, we are well
positioned to be the operator of choice for
our speciatisms and the first Company in the
region to deliver a whole person Care Pathway
of services for people with disabilities and
complex needs.

UK social care market

The demand for our services remains high,
with those we care for presenting needs
tending to be ever greater. Despite the
pandermnic we have continued to extend our
services thraugh the development of new
specialist residential homes and supported
living. Qur growth is focused on meeating
the demands of the market as well as
adding ‘spokes’ to ensure aptimal operating
efficiency of existing services. Within the

Hill House, an outstanding schoot within
our porifclio, is taking a whale school
approach to the 100 Voices pilot and
increasing participation and opportunities
for communication for all students. New
students are now having cemmunication
needs assessed on entry to the school, so
appropriate technology can be provided
to meet their needs. Similarly in the Adults
Divisicn cur Selwyn services are adopting
the technology at scale and along with the
technolegy from the Rix Centre, University

year-we-purchased-25-properties-which

will add capacity of 59. During the year, the
Children's division had 11 openings which
added capacity of 22 beds. We can expect to
at least achieve the same additional increased
capacity within the coming year.

“Nextsto printhe Tegion forBur growth s
Saudi Arabia. This is another market with
significant need far international expertise
for our specialisms, & transformationat
policy backdrop, and expected privatisation
in health and social care. We have invested
in a dedicated team led by Zafar Raja, CEQ
CareTech MENAP, to focus on Saudi Arabia.
We are confident this investment in an
in-country senior team will transtate intc
opportunities and service developments
during the caming year.

The market remains highly fragmented and
we are well positioned to pursue a strong
and active pipeline of organic and bolt-on
acquisitions in both Adults Services and
Children’s Services.

CareTech International

Qur Care Pathway, which encompasses
Children’s and Adults Services in the UK

‘and addresses the needs of individuals with™
complex needs, continues to receive attention
from Gulf markets of the Middle £ast, a region
with significant unmet reed and paucity of
operatar expertise.

Digital and innovation

Technology plays an incredibly important role
—in how we operate as a Group-supporting our
services and staff with solutions and enabling

great quality care for our service users. The
pandemic has accentuated the need for
innovative and scalable technology. and |
am delighted our highly talented technology
teams have risen to this challenge, procuring
best-in-class solutions and developing
in-house applications.

We are well positioned to capitalise on

these opportunities, having estahlished our
presence in the region two years agg with
our maiden investment in the AS Group. Cur
UAE investrent has weathered the pandemic
extrermnely well and continues to grow its
services. The business presently operates
mental health services in outpatient clinics and
inpatient hospital settings. and is developing a
localised versian of cur Care Pathway, taking
into account the nuances of the operating
envircnment in the UAE.

One example being the 100 Voices project.

a collaborative effort to bring care and
assistive technology together by blending
Srmartbox devices with ongaing education
and care support plans for 100 service users
across cur Children’s and Adults services. The
project is already demonstrating the impact
of augmentative and assistive technolagy in
opening a world of opportunity for people in
our care who previously were limited by their
communication impairments.

24

of East Londan, are trailblazing care and
technology coming together in new and
meaningful ways.

These pilot projects are potentially not only
transformative for Carefech, but alsc for the
wider social care sector that urgently needs
to adapt technology at scale to Improve
outcomes and efficiency. We recognise the
enormous digital innovation opportunity our
sector standing presents, and for this reason
are accelerating focus and investrent in this
area in coming years.

Summary and outlock

The global pandemic-centinues to test-the-
resilience of UK PLC and civil society across
the world. | am pleased to repart that our
strategy in the markets we serve has proven
to be durable and robust. In this 27th year

of aur corporate journey the Group has
demonstrated that commitment to purpose
is as relevant today as it was when we opened
our first small care home. | remain confident
about CareTech's outlook and prospects,

to reach more people with complex needs
at home and overseas, through a btend

of high-quality services and our extended
digital capability.
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Qur Market

— FIVE KEY TRENDS
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OUR MARKET

IS DRIVEN BY

#1

INCREASING DEMAND FOR SPECIALIST

ADULTS AND CHILDREN'S CARE

Adults Sei'yic_:gf

YOUNGER ADULTS IN
RESIDENTIAL CARE SETTINGS

03,000

YOUNGER ADULTS IN NON-RESIDENTIAL
CARE SETTINGS

297,000

PROPORTION OF UK POPULATION
WITH SPECIFIC MENTAL DISORDERS

1.5%

Data from Laing and Buisson Adult
Specialist Care 4th edition 2020 report

The Adults Services care market in which the
Group operates in the UK market is worth___._
an estimated £12.5 billion per annum and

estimated to be growing by 2-3% per annum.

The principal drivers of demand for adults
specialist care in the UK are:

- Improved life expectancy and ageing
of learning disabled population.

-» Increasing survival of children and young
people with complex needs into adulthood.

-> Inability of parents to provide informal care,

~» Increased medical interventions around
birth, increasing the number and proportion
of service users with lifelong severe learning
and/or physical disabilities.

- Moving up the acuity spectrum increases
fees but also creates areas of expertise
that athers find difficult to match.

There is commissioner preference for
supported living over residential care as this
is a lower cost to local authorities because
the housing element is paid from housing
benefit allowance.



Children’s Services

CHILDREN IN UK LOOKED AFTER
OUTSIDE FOSTER CARE

10,080

CHILDREN IN INDEPENDENT SECTOR
SPECIAL SCHOOCLS AND COLLEGES

21,817

PLACED IN FOSTER CARE IN ENGLAND

54,8/0

Data from Laing and Buisson Children’s Services
Market Report 5th edition 2020 repart

L¥0d43Y D1D31VHLS

In 2020, the total market for specialist

- - Chitdren’s Services was-warth-approximately—
£590br. The market is growling for the
foliowing reasons:

-> Long-term population growth and higher
prevalence of special educational needs
and 'high needs’ over time.

- High priority for the government is
adequate provision of mentat health
services and suppaort for vulnerable
children and young people.

~» Earlier diagnosis of complax needs.
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#2

FOR HEALTHCARE

MARKET FOR RESTDENTIAL LEARNING
DISABILITIES AND SUPPORTED LIVING
WORTH AN ANNUAL

5B —

ADULTS SPECIALIST CARE MARKET

£12.50n

MARKET GROWTH RATE

1.2%-2 6%pa

ESTABLISHED FUNDING MODEL

RESIDENTIAL CHILOREN'S
MARKET ACROSS UK WORTH

164

E1.15bn
£492m

Independent sector
Public sector

EDUCATION AND TRAINING IN
SPECIAL SCHOOLS AND COLLEGES

4}, DQor

£1.2bn Independent sector
£3.08m  Public sector

RESIDENTIAL MARKET GROWTH RATE

6 9% pa.

EDUCATION MARKET GROWTH RATE

6 5% pa.



FOSTER CARE MARKET ACROSS
ENGLAND WORTH

£,1725_Dn_

LHOdIY DIDILVHLS

£791m ndependent sector
£956m Public sector

MARKET GROWTH RATE

S /%pa

The UK has an established systern of public
and private providers of health and social care.
Although the available resources to purchase
sacial care remain largely static thereis a

- ~kncwrn increase in demandacross the whole—

spectrum, presenting purchasing bodies with
a conundrum and focuses money on the areas
of highest need such as comaplex chitdren,
very disabled or carnplex people with learning
difficulties and hospital discharge schemes.

The orincipa! driver for commissioners

in local authorities and the NHS is value.
This is interpreted by them as the optimum
balance between quality and price, but
has an underpinning criterion determined
by ‘outcomes’.

* [ata from Laing and Buisson Adult Specialist
Care 4th editiart 2020 report

** Data from Laing and Buissan Children's Services
Market Report 5th edition 2020 report
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Qur Market continued

ONE OF OUR DIFFERENTIATING FACTORS
IS THE CONCEPT OF THE CARE PATHWAY
TO RETLECT OUR OPTIMISM THAI USERS
OF OUR SERVICES CAN MAKE PROGRESS
WITH THEIR LIVES.

#3
FRAGMENTED MARKET
Of CARE PROVIDERS

TOP FOUR INDEPENDENT CHILDREN'S
SERVICES PROVIDERS HAVE

OF RESIDENTIAL MARKET SHARE

TEN LARGEST ADULTS SERVICE
PROVIDERS HAVE ONLY

1350

MARKET SHARE

Most providers of social care have
fewer than three services and this
huge, fragmented range of providers
represents the vast majority of the
market, However, the market has been
steadily cansolidating and a very small
number of large ‘corporate’ providers
have emerged. with CareTech being
one of the bigger players within the
nan-elderly care sector,

The Adults specialist care rmarket is
the mosttfragmented with the top four
largest providers having 7.5% market
share and the ten largest players onty
13.5% market share.

* Data from Laing and Buisson Adult Specialist Care 4th edition 2020 report
** Data from Laing and Buisson Childrens Services Market Report 5th edition 2020 report
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#4

STRINGENT
REGULATION OVER
QUALITY OF CARE

The markets that CareTech serves are
regulated by CQC and Ofsted in England,
and equivalent regulatory badies in

Tscotiand and Wales. These bodies contral
and administer the registration, inspection
and complaints’ procedures set out under
applicable laws and regulations. In order
to open a service, it needs to be registered
with the applicable regulator, and must
pass regular inspections to ensure it meets
the minimum standards and requirements
prescribed under laws and regulation.
Commissioners placing adults or children
into services expect high-quality provision.

A high level of regulation is required to assure
the quality and safety of services.



#5

ACCESS TO SKILLED CARE WORKERS

INDUSTRY AVERAGE RETENTION RATE

</O%

The social care sector has high levels of
turnover-and-vacancies.-Foliowing the
introguction of the national living wage on

1 Aprit 2016, care woerkers’ pay has increased
but staff turnover remains high given tough
working conditions. Care workers in the
sectar find working in the sector fulfilling,
but there is perception of low pay and lack
of training or promotional prospects.

What this means for CareTech

The market segments served by CareTech
are growing for both aduits and children
who present with high severity needs,
chalienging behaviours and who have
complex care requirements. Hence, budget
cuis have a very limited impact on the
Group. One of our differentiating factors is
the concept of the Care Pathway to reflact
our aptimism that users of our services

can make progress with their lives, Our
commitment to maximise independence is
great for the people in our care, rewarding
for our staff and strongly supporied by those
who commifssion and support cur services.

Our ‘outcome’ focused approach for Qur
service-users-has-a-wider impact on-society - -

including more individuals nelped into work,
fewer individuals returning ta care facilities,
a reduction in the propartion of the adutt
prisan population having been in care, and
children leaving care achieving educational
attainment levels.

CareTech is well positioned in the market.
We are aligned to local authorities’
purchasing principtes and we work closely
with commissioners to ensure that we
stay in tung with their approach to market
management. We work closely with our
regulators and commissioners across
England, Scotland and Wales,

CareTech ig a well-known care Group in
putlic ownership and offers high-quality
services with a strong ethical and values-
based approach. We have upper quartile
ratings for both CQC and Ofsted and
have ambitions to improve these.

Qur quality assurance is embedded within
the Group's operational-management—
structure — from the Home Manager,
Regional Manager and Operations Directer,
through to the Chief Operatignai Officer and
the Board. Tne Group uses Acoura and NYAS
as independent suppliers, to audit and repcrt
monthly Kealth and Safety matters as well as
2ll RIDDORS (‘Reporting of Injuries, Diseases
and Dangerous Qccurrences’).

We continue to strive to be the emnployer
of choice within the sector. We promote
our values and culture by helping our
employees and supporting them with
regular supervision, training and career
development programmes. To embed our
culture across the Group we reward our
people throughout the year culminating
in the Sixth Care Awards ceremony, These
initiatives promote staff continuity and tead
to impraved standards of care quality.

31
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Our Strategy and KPls

WE ARE FOCUSED ON BEING A LEADING
INTERNATIONAL, INTEGRATED PROVIDER
OF SPECIALIST SOCIAL CARE SERVICES
FOR CHILDREN AND ADULTS, DELIVERING
HIGH-QUALITY AND CARE EXCELLENCE.

We aim to distinguish ourselves from other providers WE HAVE DEFINED THREE PILLARS
by offering a bespecke range of oplions, which meet TO EXECUTING OUR STRATEGY

the needs of commissioners and offer service users a
Care Pathway of opportunities. The Group's focus is the
provision of high acuity specialist social care through
our four divisions — Adults Services, Children’s Services,

Foster Care and Digital Technology. . Bu|ld the lmdustry's
pest leadership
and workforce

e : s ———Hgve - the highest——
quality ratings

InNovate In
soclal care

- Find out more on pages 34 to 42
Underpinned

32



QUR VALUES DELIVERING

Positive Quality care for
people we support

Person-centred

R A better place to work
Friendly for our employees

Empowering

Returns for our

shareholders
innovative

by our commitment to Operating Responsibly

1H0d3Y D1D3LVYHLS

33



CareTech Molfings PLC / Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Strategy in Action

We drive a culture of
continuous learning
and development

to ensure that staff
have thie most
up-to-date best
practice knowledge,
competencies and
attitudes for the
services we provide.

34

BUILD THE
INDUSTRY'S BEST

LEADERSHIP AND
WORKFORCE

Objective

We employ over 11,000 qualified and skilled
front-line staff including care workers,

teachers and managers, They are supported

by a professional team of clinical and
therapeutic staff, back-cffice and support
services. The care, commitment, passion,
empathy and professionalism of ourstaffare___
critical to the success of our Group and the
care we provide,

CareTech looks to praomate attractive working
conditions and staff training. A large part

of our recruitment process is focused on
matching the needs of the Group's service
users and patients to the skills values and
behaviour of our staff, which necessitates a
person-centred appreach. We drive a culture
of continuous learning and development to
ensure that staff have the most up-to-date
best practice knowledge, competencies and
attitudes for the services we provide.

Progress this year
Informal engagement

CEQ lunches, prior to the COVID-19
restrictions, were held from time to time

with a number of employees. These were held
with a cross section of employees, (diverse by
gender, naticnality. functicn, profession and
level) from various regicns.

In 2021, we launched our ‘Thank You' scheme
across the Group as part of cur reward

and recognition strategy. The scheme has
achieved success in driving cultural change to
focus on recognising everyone’s contribution,
and more specifically on peer (o peer and
management recognition. The scheme allows
everyane the opportunity tc be recognised.
Since its launch in April we have issued

circa 2,500 Thank You cards for on the

spot recognition awards across the Group.
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Strategy in Action continued

BUILD THE INDUSTRY'S BEST

LEADERSHIP AND WORKFORCE CONTINUED

The Board considers the annual Employee
Engagement survey to be one of its principal
tools for measuring employee engagement.
motivatian, attachment and commitment to
CareTech. it provides insights into employee
views and although it has 8 moderate
response rate, the returns gre representative
of a diverse range of employees. in 2020

Employee engagement survey

Employee engagement levels are recagnised
as central'to-how we operate and are
regularly discussed and considered across all
levels of management. including quality of
leadership across CareTech employees, and
being informed on a broad range of subjects
including collaboration, working conditions.

roles end responsibilities, people development.

reputation, benefits and rewards, diversity
and inclusion, operational excellence and
responsible business.

The 2021 Employee Engagement Survey
was focused on seven key themes:

COVID-19 - It was important to understand
how supparted and informed the waorkforce
felt throughout the unprecedented situation.
Feedback on initiatives such as a staff financial
support fund and a new employee wellbeing
scherne was crucial to infcrming and adapting
the Company's continued response.
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-—across.the.Group. Ensuring our warkfarce-is

the response rate was low at 30%. however,
the average employee engagement score-
was maintained at 70 points out of 100. 60
being representative of 'engaged’, despite the
challenging year.

The Board also considers this engagement
to understand, for example, how CateTech is
using the survey outcomes in strengthening
Caompany culture and values.

We are currently awaiting the results of the
2021 Employee Engagement survey, and next
year we will focus on communicating these
results to staff, and selecting key priorities
from the themes to include in our people

Trust — A temperature check on the clarity
and transparency of communication

) o . : strategy for next year. .
informed, and we are giving therm information

on things that matter to them, Staff Consultative Committee

Chaired by an Executive Director, the Staff
Consultative Committee is made up of a
panel of 40 members af 3 cross section of
diverse employees. The employees represent
specific geographical regions across the
Group, and act as a conduit between the
staff and the Board on shared employment
and service issues that matter ta employees.
Meeting at {east three times a year, key issves
will be fed back to the Board regarding staff
welfare, employment matters and employee
engagement. The staff voice will be taken into
consideration when key decisions are made
that are likely to impact their interests.

Teamwork - Relationships and trust are
integral to an engaged workforce. We
needed to know how we really do.

Empowering — We needed tc know how
challenged and mativated our workforce feels.

Carparate pride - It's important to us for cur
workforce t¢ have a sense of self-esteem, and
feel part of cur wider Group.,

Career progression — We want o retain and
develop our workforce and understand the
reality of feelings around the opportunities
available.

Responsible business ~ We take this
seriously, and engage with our workforce
to support promotion of the CareTech
Foundation in the community, both within
and cutside of the Group.



Employee wellbeing

In 2021, we refreshed and re-launched an
invigorated programme to focus on physical
and emational wellbeing. The programme
delivers a holistic approach and provides

a range of tools and resources for cur
employees anc their families. We held financial
workshops to support with key life mitestones
such as buying a home, starting a family,
planning a career and retirement.

One of gur main slms was o remave the

STAFF RETENTION RATE

71

(2020: 75%)

Priorities for 2021/22

- Design and imptement the Employee
Service Centre, whase focus is on
staff experience of all HR transactionat
matiers, This will drive staff touch

Nicola Wassall joined CareTech as a support
worker in 2006 and had no prior knowledge
of the care sector. She has tisen through

the business to become a Locality Manager
and benefitted from Company training
schemes, namely Lead to Succeed and Well
Led, and completed Continying Professional
BDevelopmaert,

1HO0d3Y¥ JID31vdls

She says. “The Well Led course was probably
ohe of the ost effective trainings I've ever
done. | found it really valuable and it made

stigma around mental health, and we
engaged our employees with 2 range of
senior management webinars, drop-in
clirtics and externial referral services.

Employee exit feedhack

In 2021, we centralised and embedded a
simplified process 1o gather feedback from
employees leaving the Group. This channel

of communication allows exiting employees to
provide a candid summary of their employment
experience with the CareTech Group, and in
turn, affords us the opportunity for continuous
Groug and localised improvement.

CareTech Awards 7

In November 2021, we were able to host the
seventh CareTech Care Awards to celebrate
and thank our staff for their effort and
commitment,

Staff ownership

Ta further engage with employees across

the Group and share in its success, CareTech
provide all employees with an option to join
the Company Sharesave option scheme. This
is a tax-efficient, cash-saving scheme that lets
employees save towards buying shares in the
Company. At the end of the savings period,
individuals have the option to buy shares or
take out their savings in cash.

in addition, the Company cffer a broad

share incentive plan to incluede over 600
individuals from acrass the business including
home rmanagers, support staff and executive
management.

point experiences.

-> Develop our Equality, Diversity &
Inclusion {EDEI) programme to shape
our diversity and inclusion strategy
and embed this into working praclices
and culture,

> Conduct an internal audit of good
ED&I practice to establish cur baseline
and roadmap.

- Work with senjor leaders to drive a
coaching and mentoring programme
to suppori all leaders within the business,

- Run focus groups to establish the
reality of working far the Group, from a
minority perspéctive (Gender, Disabitity,
Ethnicity and LGBT).

- Embed the core Group values across
the whole organisation. and design
and develop the accompanying
behaviaural framewark.

= Commence work on building a role
defined career ladder to simplify
structured career planning.

- Continue to embed the Staff
Consultative Committee.

me reflect on how | did my job.

One of the reasons | was keen to do the
Management Developrment Programene is
because | know how it can inspire people
to do better and change the way they do
their job. The fact that it’s being rclled

out ta all staff members, not just staff in
our care settings, is very, very good and
reatly pragressive,

There are people from all different roles
and departrments withir the Company and
| have found that conversations with them
are extremely helpful. You hear different
viewpaoints. Sometimes you can getinto a

* box with your owrt views so tohearanaw — "

perspective is great”

"I want ach of my nine services to be at
Good or above and impaortantly, | want them
all to have happy and settled staff teams’”

The Welt Led course was probably one
of the maost effective trainings 've ever
done. | found it really valuable and it
made me reflect on how i did my job.
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Strategy in Action continued

HAVE THE HIGHEST
QUALITY RATINGS

Deliver high-guality
care, with reliakle
outcomes at a

fair price.

Objective

The drivers for social care are to deliver
high-quality care, with reliable outcames
at a fair price. We believe that the market
has recognised that CareTech offers the
best possible balance between guality
and value, and understands the need for
progressive thinking and innovation to
deliver ongoing resuits.

Qur Group brands are strong and our
extensive cammissioning relationships
across the UK are robust. This is reinforced
by our presence at major industry events
where we have been reliable spongors and
commentators. The most effective way that
we sustaln our raputation 1§ by delivering
whit we promise for the people we
suppart and by treating our stalf wel

38

Guality-is-net-simply-zempliance-with-th
requirements of regulation. Qur approach
is to embed qui throughout the Group's
operatians and employ well-quzlified and
« prafessionals who operate within our

© quality framework. Qur quality framework

and processes include, but are not limited to:

= Recruitment and retention of appropriate
staff alongside induction, training and
development programmaes.

Regular reporting from site managers
through to locality/regional managers,
operational directors and divisional senior
management as well as the Group's

mxm.u.c:<m.D__.mnS_ of Quality Improvement.

— ‘Dynamic Ling of Sight” monitering which
provides a site-based, up-to-date view

of perlormance across a range of key
performance indicators. This information
acts as an early warning system to help
pricritise support for services. Progress
against these KPls is monitored by

senior management to drive continuous
improvement.

Experienced internal Quality Improvement
and Compliance & Regulation teams who
cperate acress all iGns, reparting ta
senior management. The teams undertake
3 programme cf improvement projects, as
well as regular inspection and assessment
of facilities and services against internal

additionally carry oul thematic reviews.

- Monthly independent visiting to our
Children's residential portfclic, in line with
the regulations. providing reparts on the
quality of care, and recommendations on

Sateguarding Boards operating across our
portfclios to ensure we are operating in
line with nationally recognised standards.

A Care Quality and Governance
Committee, chaired by Non-Executive
Director Professor Moira Livingston, The
Committee has oversight of all issues and
reports relating to the wellbeing of people
in our care, ang commissions enquiries inta
matters of concern. [t alss strives to ersure
that CareTach operatas to the highest level
of prafessional care standards.

Carseful gralysis of reguiatory inspection
reparts from external regulators.

Board oversight through monthly reporting
of key performance indicators, quality and
compliance data.
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Progress this year

Strengthened our internal Compliance
and Regutation team.

Cansolidated our indepegdent_visming

programme under a single provider with
themed monthly visits.

Develaped and maintained a suite of
COVID-13 related policies to provide clear
guidance throughout the pandemic.
Introcduced the app Mind of My Own (Voice
of the Child) across every Children's setvice.
Trained staff across our Children’s specialist
mentat health services in our chosen
cutcome framework (CANS’} and began
the implementation.

Reviewed key policies as part of our
corparate policy review cycle.
Implementad our new safer recruitment
golicy.

Began integration of supervisian process
into our Myrus system.

Ensured quality framewark cperating across
our COC and Children's residential services.

]

Launched DyLOS (Dynamic Line of Sight’).
OCperational across 75% of our partfotio
with remaining sites going live before the
end of 2021.

-——-Refreshed-Quality Improvement Plans———- =

{GIP’) farmat being implemented across
all Children’s Services sites.

Launched independently chaired
Responsible Individual Forum, which met
three times in 2071, and Rl competency
frarrewark.

Implemented new MiS (Behaviour Watch)
across all CareTech schools, with phase 1
focusing upon incident management and
safequarding,

Implemented MiS (Charms) across our
Fostering business.

Developed CareTech KPI. which is ready
to roll out across our Adults portfolio.
Launched new clinical governance
commitiee.

Priorities far 2021/22

We nave established five quality and
comgliance themes to guide our priorities
over the coming year:

~ Review and re-set our quality strategy
and Group quality objectives.

— Implement a Group-wide Clinical
Governance Framewark.

— Review and develop our approach to
corporate risk and Board assurance.

—~ Became an open, just and learnirg
organisation.

—~ Improve our incident and safeguarding
management

A series of prajects will operate beneath each
of these five prigrities over the coming year,
with progress being maonitored by the Care
Governance Committee.

KPls

— CQC Good/Outstanding rating

- Ofsted ‘Good/Qutstanding rating

— Qccupancy levels
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Strategy in Action continued

DIGITAL ADOPTION
WITHIN SOCIAL

CARE

Collaborative effort
to bring care and
assistive technology
together.

CareTech embarked on a roadmap to develop
a sector first Digital Pathway of services for
people with disabilities and complex neads.
As a first project, and following Smartbox
joining the Group this year, our care teams
have been working with Smartbox on the 100
Voices pilot, a collaborative effort to bring care
and assistive technology tegether to benefit
100 people across our services. Nine months
into the pilot, the project team is already
seeing the impact for our service users who
are now being supported to communicate
using technology and access a world of
opportunity to engage more in society.

Collaboration between Smartbox

and Cambian schools sees students
succeeding with Augmentative and
Alternative communication {AAC’)
Assistive technalogy specialists from Smartbox
have been supparting Speech and Language
Therapist Kirsty at Hill House School to
implement AAC with a range of students,
many of which are participants in the 100
Voices project.
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.——obvious candidate for-AAC. However-much

Students have taken to the technology from
Smaribox so well that Hill House is taking

a whole school approach to AAC, which

will increase participation and opportunities
far cormmunication for all students. New
students are now having communication
needs assessed on entry to the schoot, so
approprizte technology can be provided to
meet their needs. Harry is a 16-year-old pupil
who has had the opportunity to use AAC

for the first time since recently joining the
school. Harry is autistic and can communicate

“Using Grid AAC software, Harry will be able
verbally so to many he may not seem an

to expand the topics he talks about beyond

of his communication is limited to answering
questions or talking about preferred topics,
such as trains and Thomas the Tank Engine.

ga to his device and express himself and his
emotions with new vocabulary, increasing

his spontaneous communication functions,”
says Kirsty Marsden, Highly Specialist Speech-

Smaribox's Grid software will enable Harry
Language Therapist.

to explore new language and talk about

a wider range of topics, using a mix of
symbolise¢ communication, prediction
features and a qwerty keyboard. These are just
some of the features of the comprehensive
cormmunication software package.

The support of symbotised text will help
Harry's understanding of tanguage and
enable him to start recognising more words.
This development in communication wili be
supported throughout the school, as he is
surrounded by students who also use
symbols to aid their communication.

his special éreas of interest. HeWill'be able to
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. connections and participate in care

Providing opportunities to build

services, through assistive technology

The Smartbox tearn has been working closely
with 13 service users at Selwyn Care as part
of the 100 Voices project. The site has been
supported by assistive technology specialists
and speech-language therapists from
Smartbox, with training and clinical support.
This has included goal setting to pravide

a personalised experience and help the
individuals experience success with their

new communication devices.

Throughout the 100 Voices project, staff have
been sharing their exciterment as they observe
sustained attention levels with the aduits

they are supporting as they interact with their
devices. This rainforcas how communicatian
is about so much more than speech. It's also
about building interactions and connection
between service users and those supporting
them, which happens as attention levels
increase and leads to the richer emotional
engagement that may not have been there
‘pre-device'.

As well as reports that the devices are making
communication easier, staff feel that they

“it's been exciting to be able to demonstrate
the key strategy of ‘'modelling’ vocabulary

are much maore aware of the service users’

wants and needs. They have also been sharing
peignant moments where individuals have
extended the content of what they would
usually say ang broadened who they would
say it to. enabling them to independently
order a drink in a café, for example.

Scott is an autistic resident at the Selwyn site,
who has typically communicated using sign
language. He is increasingly using Grid AAC

software 1o express himself and make choices.

When people do not understana what he is
trying to sign he can take his device and show
them what he means. enabling more people
to understand him. Staff have been shown
how to maodel language to Scott and support
him with how to navigate his device. This has
enabled him to explore new vocabulary and
show peaple the things he has seen that day.

when Using AAC and the power it has to
support communication and language
development in the adult. It also shines
through in the confidence of the staff around
the individual, Learning togethier makes this
new AAC journey so much more achievable!”
says Becky Martin, Speech-Language
Therapist and Clinical AAC Specialist

at Smartbox.

KPls

— Unit sales/growth

— Qutcomes framewoark - impraving the
lives of those we care for using digital
technology
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Strategy in Action continued

DIGITAL ADOPTION WITHIN SOCIAL CARE CONTINUED

Purple is changing the disability
conversation

Cwr flagship programme supporling
businesses o improve the disabled customer
experience, Purple Tuesday, had a social
reach of over 11 million and trended at

#4 worldwide on Twitter on our Naovember
celebratory day. Our ITV advert was seen by

over_1.5 million_people. Qver, 4.500_businesses_ This.complements.existing.contracts.in_both

took part making over 6,000 commitments
to imprave accessibility. From mental health
awareness training to improving accessibility
of websites, the movement for seeing rea)
change has traction. We are pleased the
impact has been across all sectors and

with organisations of all sizes.
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To suppart businesses, during FY21 we have
introduced Purple 365, a subscription service,
providing training and development through
maonthly webinars {available live and on
dernand) and supperted resources.

Purple has been successful in framework
contracts for Direct Payment services for
disabled people in Nottinghamshire and Luton.

Qver the next 12 months we are looking to
expand in all our service areas in the UK and
abroad. We are building a brand as the go-to
disability organisation for both disabled people
and organisations. Regular appearances in
both national broadcast and print media are
accelerating awareness and understanding
about what we do.

the sqcial care and health sectors. Throughout
the COVID pandemic we continued to provide
a full service and automated what we do to
increase both efficiency and quality to over

4 500 disabled people receiving care from
over 6,500 perscnal assistants.

Purpte has transformed the way we work with
a blend of digital services supported by direct
contact with staff experts in their field.

Priorities for 2021/22

= Expand in all our services in the UK
and abroad.

= Continue building a brand as the go-to
disability organisation for both disabled
people and organisations.

> Accelerate awareness and understanding
of Purple’s offering.



Our Key Performance indicators

KPIls HELP US TO MEASURE THE GROUP'S PERFORMANCE
AGAINST OUR STRATEGY AND OBJECTIVES

FINANCIAL

REVENUE

{2020 £430.0mi}

How this is calculated

Revenue measures how we have filleg our
capacity and the fees we have charged.
together with the impact of acquisitions.

Performance this year

Revenue has increased by 13.8% year on
year to £489.1m, due to the acquisiticn
of Smartbox in October 2020, the assets
transferred from The Huntercombe
Group and arganic growth achieved

in the core business.

UNDERLYING BAS!IC EPS

478/

(2020: 42.26p)

How this is calculated

Underlying basic earnings per share is

the profit after tax divided by the weighted
number of Ordinary Shares, which are
fully described in nates 11 and 12 to the
Financial Stalemaents.

Performance this year

The underlying basic earnings per share
has increased by 13.3% in the year.

UNDERLYING EBITDA

How this is calculated

Underlying EBITDA is operating profit
stated before Interest, Tax, Depreciation,
Amartisation, ExSOP share-based payments
charge and non-underlying items that

are described in note 6 to the Financial
Statements.

Performance this year

Underlying EBITDA has impraved by
E9.6m. a 10.5% year on year increase,
This reflects the acquisition of Smartbox,

assets trangferred from The Huntercombe .

Group, improvements to divisional margins
and organic growth achieved by the core
business.

OPERATING CASH CONVERSION

96.1%

(2020: 103.9%)

How this is calculated

Cash flow ﬁ'om operations before non-
underlying items and tax {and excluding
capex] divided by underlying EBITOA.
Performance this year

QOperating cash conversion was strong at

96.1% underiying EAITDA to cash conversion,

UNDERLYING PROFIT AFTER TAX
AND NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST

£53.0m

LYOd3IH 31DILVYLS

(2020 £46.4m)

How this is calculated

Underying profit after tax and non-
controlling interest is the Group's profit
after provision {or taxation excluding non-
underlying items such as amortisation of
intangible assets, which are fully described
in note & to the Financial Staterments.

Performance this year

The profit after tax is 14.3% more than
2020, representing an improved return
to sharehciders,

NET DEBY

£258. f

(2020° £268.9m)

How this is calculated

Net debt comprises cash and cash eguivalents

net of bank loans and borrowings and HP
teases previousty accounted far unger I1AS 17
excluding Project Teak sale and leaseback.
Net debt remains unchanged following the
adaoption of IFRS 16,

Performance this year

The Group continues te have a strong
financial position.
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Our Key Performance Indicators continued

QPERATIONAL
CAPACITY
ADULTS SERVICES CHILDREN'S SERVICES FOSTERING
2 104siaces 2 0000kces  875phces

f ’
(2020: 1,997 places) {2020 1,959 places) (2020: 1,028 places)
How_this_is_calculated Performance_this_year
The Group's capacity is the total number of places that the Group is Adults Services increased o 2,104 primarily due to the beds transferred
able to offer at that date. It is a total including residential care beds, from the Huntercombe Group which complement cur Specialist
independent supperted tiving accomrmaedatian, community support Services division and broaden our Care Pathway.

service users and children that foster carers can currently lack after. . . . o . E
. Y Childrery's Services capacity increased to 2,000 primarily due to a

nurmber of new developments opening. Fostering decreased to 875
due Lo a reduction in the nuinmber of foster parents and blucked beds.

MATURE ESTATE QCCUPANCY BLENDED OCCUPANCY

Q ]
89-,/0m7“ T T ——_—--"78 ’é_—““—
{2020: 83%) (2020: 80%)
How this is calculated How this is calculated
The Mature Estate Occupancy is the total number of Adult and Blended accupancy is the total number of Adults and Children’s
Children's Services users placed in services that were open Services users actually placed as a percentage of the Group's total
thraughout the year. capacity and so reflects facilities undergoing development and

3 reconfiguration.
Performance this year

The mature estate occupancy has remained broadly unchanged with Performance this year

the slight decrease due to the timing of the start of the educational The ratio has broadly remain unchanged and is also impacted by
year because a number of non-residential Camblan schools operate the timing of the start of the educational year because a number
on a 3B-week basis with the new education term commencing of non-residential Cambian schools operate an a 38-week basis
in October. with the new education term commencing in October.
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— Ofsted 8%

QUALITY

REGULATORY RATING (%) — FACILITIES
RATED ‘GOOD’ OR "OUTSTANDING"

cac 8O %

(2020: 91%)

EMPLOYEE RETENTION
ANNUALISED RETENTION RATE

/1%

(2020: 75%)

How this is calculated
The number of employees warking for the year to 30 September 2021

{2020: 82%)

How this is calculated

The markets that CareTech operates in are regulated by Ofsted and
the CQC and their equivalents in Scotiand and Wales, £ach facitity
is inspected and given a score. with a range of outcomes from
‘Qutstanding’, 'Good’, 'Requires Improvement’ to ‘Inadequate’

{or equivalent).

Performance this year

Whitst both CQC and Ofsted regulatory ratings compare favourably
to the industry average, we remain committed to providing

the highest quality of care across all our services and have
comprehensive_improvernent plans.in place.

A5 a peETCETitage of tHe Tiriderof eimigloyees at 1" Octoier 2020:
Performance this year

Maintaining high levels of staff retention underping our high-quality
service ratings. Whilst our retention rate compares favourably to the
industry average. as the effects of the pandemic have eased, there

has been a reduction in applicatikans and a higher rate of attrition
leading to recruitment chatienges.
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Engaging with our Stakeholders

46

We provide a Care Pathway to meet the
needs of the people in our care, and our
professional care and education teams
strive to make each day an extraordinary
day. Across the Group, we look after
close to 5,000 people.



WE CREATE

VALUE FOR OUR

We create value for cur stakeholders
OQur people
Our staff are the bedrock of the organisation
and deliver great quality care for the people
we support. We have 11,000 employees and
have delivered 240,000 e-learning courses.
over 45,000 face-to-face interventians,

-and 3,000 virtual classroomsessions " We— "
have supported just under 1,200 learners on
apprenticesr’"lip programmaes across the Group.

Cur commissioners

The value Carelech creates for our
cormmissioners ts reflected in service user
reviews and cotlectively at a service level
review. The sharing of regutatery reports and
those conducted by independent visitors allow
the quality assurance of our provision to be
shared. We have relationships with >300 local
authorities and care commissioning groups.

Our communities

Over 5,500 organisations participated
this year in Purpte Tuesday making aver
7,000 commitments to make changes in
practice from more accessible websites,
improved signage, tarmalised guiet hours
for pecple with learning disabilities, to
frontline staff learning hello, goodbye ang
other phrases in British Sign Language.

. With media opportunities giving 17.4 million

pecple across Britair access to the initiative
and top trending on Twitter worldwide, Purple
Tuesday has become the go-to brand for the
disabled customer experience.

The CargTech Foundation is the first corporate
foundation in the UK social care sector,
demonstrating-the-Group’s commitment to
wider society and ta our staff, and our desire
to play a strong leadership role within the
social care sector. The Faundation's mission

is to support and champion the social care
sector, care workers and those living in care.

Qur investors

Since IPO, Revenues, underlying EBITDA
and EPS have grown by a CAGR of 21%,
26%. and 17% respectively. CareTecn’s
market capitalisation has gone from £60m
at IPO through to ¢.E700m. CareTech has
a progressive dividend policy and paid out
12.75p for 2021

Engagement with our stakeholders

The six key stakeholders identified by the
Beard are at the heart of what we do. being:
people in our care; our customers; our
sharehotders; our Regulators; people; and our
suppliers. Itis of the highest importance to us
that we engage with all of our stakeholders

1HOdIY HOILVHLS

STAKEHOLDERS

meaningfully, to inform decision-making and
ensure we provide value in all areas of our
business. It is challenging to ensure atl of our
stakehalders have the same experience with
the Grougp, due to cur wide range of locations,
operations and roles; therefore, we promaote an
ongoing dialogue with all our stakeholders to
enable us to effectively act on feedback, and

we foster a culture of honesty and integrity.

Our approach to locking
after people in our care

wWe pelieve the wellbeing of thase entrusted
in gur care is our single most important
corporate responsibility.

We have continued to strive for long-lasting
improvernents in our services in a way that

is consistent with the interests and priorities

of our stakeholger community. As always,

the driving force underpinning the Group's
operations is the delivery of the highest quality
of care tQ those in our care.

As the Group grows, we strive to maintain

a culture that never forgets the impartant
relationship we have with the peaple

we support. We seek to nurture these
relationships and see them as partnerships of
mutual interest and respect, with our person-
centred approach ensuring people’s interests
are safeguarded and vulnerabilities minimised.
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Engaging with our Stakeholders continued

The further expansion of our Care Pathway
seeks to provide ‘whale of {ife’ of solutions

to the needs of the people we support,
maximising independence where possible by
encouraging education, promoting choice,
being proactive with family members,
providing training for employment where
feasible and nurturing personal ambition
where helpful. In the past year we have
celebrated the achievements of those we
support across the country, including holding
our annual Art competition and Blooming

provided by our Smartbox GRID technology,
to British Sign Language and Makaton

to ensure their voice is heard. We have
implemented Mind of My Own across all our
Children’s Services to enable us to capture and
‘listeny to the voice of the young people in our
services and respond to their individual needs.

We spend time 1o explain how each person’s
voice ¢an be heard, and what they should do
if they think that this is not happening. They
are reminded of this on an ongoing basis.

CASE STUDY

independence for Jake
as he embarks on a
career in horticulture

At 19, despite the many challenges of
autism, Jake has embarked on a career
in horticulture — a subject he loves. He
proved his ability to work independently

Marvellous gardening competitions.

We are determined to preserve the dignity
of those we care for and fully support
government initiatives to this end. We see
making each day an extraordinary day for
those in our care a vital ingredient to their,
and cur, success.

From the first time we meet each person
we start to gain an understanding of not
only their needs which are often complex
and chaltenging, but maost importantly to
understand their future aspirations sc that a
plan to suppert them in our care is individual
and as best informed as pcssible. Where
present, parents (carers/guardians), sociat
workers and other professionals play a key
role in supporting the development of their
individual care plan.

A person’s care plan is dynamic. informed
and updated by ‘their voice’ together with

the professionals supporting them in their
placement, alongside their social worker

{and other external professionals) as well as
advocacy services and independent reviewing
professionals who visit services regularly.

This rnulti-disciplinary approach ensures that
the care plan is as rich and well informed

as possible. Where communication is a
challenge for a person, the use of appropriate
communication techniques are important,
from computer assistive devices, such as those
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How we engaged during the year

— Each person was formally reviewed against
clear progress targets being set by the team
supporting the person.

- We utilised surveys, in the form of simple
questionnaires, to ensure that our pravision
was reeting the needs of those in our
care. As part of the regulatory inspection
process, inspectors met with the people
in our care and asked for their feedback,
which is included as a key part of the
inspection report.

— We supported visiting and contact with
parents appropnately and as agreed as

part of any care plan. Whilst during the

pandemic this was restricted, this has
now been fully restored.

Outcomes

= During the pandemic, there was need to
keep our sites COVID-19 secure and safety
- measures were put in place.

Our priorities in 2022 include continuing
to ensure that we work towards the
aspiration of each person by making every
day an extraordinary day and celebrating
their successes,

071 & Work placement at a facal community
garden where his diligent work earned

him an invitation to a permanent job. He
now works three days a week helping to
keep the community parks and gardens
maintained.

This transition from scheol to work was a
challenging ore for Jake; his autism means
that he finds any change to his routine very
hard 1o manage. When the opportunity

of the perfect work placement came up,
his team at school worked hard to provide
him with the support and competences he
needed to succeed — and to help him fulfil
his ambitions to work in a gardening and
landscaping role. - o
The team's support helped Jake to build his
confidence untit he felt fully settled in his
new environment. Warking independently
helpet him to learn new life skills as well
as practical skills. enabling him to develop
and grow. This carefully managed support
has allowed him to move on and be
independent in his new career.

“Jake is very ready tc leave the classroom
now and have that practical outdaor
experience which he loves. He likes the
one-on-one interaction with the park
ranger and they get on very well so | think
itis @ nerfect chaoice for his career path
and the best outcome for him. We are

so delighted to see him thrive in his
new-found independence.”

Sarah Chatterton. interirn Head
of Education, Brook View S5chool



Qur approach to engaging with
commissioners

The cammissioners in local authorities and
health bodies across England, Scotland and
Wales are key stakeholders for CareTech. The
people in our care are typically referred by a
social worker or case manager and acecess

to our services is purchased through the
authority’s respective commissioning tearns.
The funding af placements is not always met
by social care; nealth commissioners support

How we engaged during the year
— CarelTech’s services are presentona

muititude of purchasing frameworks
acrgss England, Scotland and Wales.

These procurement tools allow providers,
through a combination of quality and fees,
to became a recognised provider aligned
to their provision type. This provides a
purchasing mechanism to allow the Group
to access placement referrals for people
whaose needs could be met by our services.

Our approach to shareholder
engagement

The Board appreciates that effective
caommunication with the Group’'s shareholders
and the investrment community as a whole i%

a key objective. The views of both institutional
and private shareholders are important, and
these ¢an be varied and wide-ranging, as is
their interest in the Group's strategy, reputation
and performance.

The Group Executive.Chairman.has.overall

the paymient of any Healtfi component of —
acare package, Effective engagement and
carrmuriication with these stakeholders is

a priority for the Group.

All staff at CareTech interface in some

way either directly or indirectly with local
autharities and other commissioners. -
The Group's business development teams

have overall responsibility to ensure that
engagerment and communication are

effective, and, together with operational
colleagues, ensure that the Board is fully

aware of commissioning trends. Contact

with local autherities is at least daily across the
Group. This ranges from the daily partnership
working with social work tearns to ensure
that the needs of people in our care arg

being met. to farmal placement and business
reviews. These reviews involve our core staff,
senior operational colleagues and Directors, -
depending an the meetings requirements.

The demonstration of value for the services
that the Group provides is objective, and this is
demonstrated individually through placement
reviews and collectively at a service level
review. The sharing of regulatory reports and
those canducted by independertt visitars allow
the ongoing quality assurance of cur services
to be shared.

The Group's websites detall the specifics

of our setrvice offerings. This is under
constant review in an effort to maximise the
effectiveness of information made available
to all stakeholders.

The referral and placement of people takes
place daily acress the Group. This process
involves many pecple from commissioners
and Group staff, with a single focus on
understanding and being able to arliculate
haw the needs of a person can be met,

Operational colleagues have had regular
cantact with commissioners regarding each
placement. Alongside this, there are formal
reviews to understand the progress of each
person placed and determine any changes
to an ingividual's care plan.

With the chailenges of the pandemic. face-
to-face meetings were replaced with video
_calls with providers and commissioners
settling into ew and effective ways of
communicating.

Qutcomes

Business development teams have

had strategic discussions regarging the
sufficiency requirements of commissioners
and this feedhack atltowed the planning of
future services.

Senior operational staff. alongside the
business development teams. supported
‘whole’ Autharity Business Reviews that
allow detailed discussion on performance
to take place.

respansibility for ensuring this communication
is effectively conveyed and for making the
Board fully aware of key sharehclders' views,
comments and opiniors. Contact with
investors throughout the year is a priority and
the Board strives to look after their interests.
General presentations to major shareholders
following the publication of the Group's
annval and interim results are conducted by
the Group Executive Chairman and the Group
Chief Financial Officer as are reqular meetings
through the year with fund managers and
investment anatysts.

Rcbust year-on-year dividend growth is an
objective-and-all-shareholders are encouraged - —
to attend CareTech’s Annual General Meeting,
which all Board members attend, as this

provides an opportunity to address questions

to the Directars.

The Group’s annual and interim reports are
availabie to all sharenolders and all results,
Group announcements and related investor
information can he accessed via the corporate
website, www.caretech-uk.com. The website
is under constant review in an effort to
maximnise the effectiveness of information
made available to shareholders.

The Board embraces open dizglogue with
shareholders and waorks with its stockbrokers,
Nurnis and Panmure Gordon to ensure that
an appropriate level of communication

is facilitated through a series of investor
relations’ activities.
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Engaging with our Stakeholders continued

How we engaged during the year

- Group Executive Chairman and Group
Chief Financial Officer reparted back to
the Board after the irvesior roadshows.

- Regular. detailed feedback provided to the
Board by our stockbrokers, financial public
relations and investor relations advisers to
inform the Board about investor views.

- Regular meetings between the Group
Executive Chairman, Group Chief Financial
Officer and Group Chief Operating Officer

Qur approach to engaging
with our regulators

CareTech operates in a highty regulated
environment. The Groug invesis heavily

in its internal compliance capacity and has
established open. transparent, and positive
relations with care, health and education
regulators in the national and international
environments within which we operate.

Carelech sits within the CQC ‘Market
Qversight’ group and complies fully with

with institutional investors, sales teams and
industry/sector analysts.

- Released requiar updates on the operational
and financial performance of the Group
incorperating occupancy levels, quality
ratings, revenue, profitability by division, net
debt and appropriate commentary on key
business trends.

— The Group Executive Chairman engaged
with larger institutional shareholders
to discuss matters including the Board,
strategy, remuneration and corporate
governance.

- All communication from individual
sharehalders-reviewed by management
and provided with a response.,

— Ensured that all shareholders have
equal access to information by making
documents presented al investor meetings
available on the Group's corporate website:
www.caretech-uk.com.

— As pandemic mitigations have eased.
we have been able to accommeodate
shareholder visits to our services.

Qutcomes

- Increased focus on ESG matters and
our inaugural Purpose Report.

- Mare time zllocated 10 senior and
next-level operationat management.
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the financial, business and care regulatory
requirements that market cversight brings.

Regulatory requirements differ across both
the seciors that we cperate in, but aiso in

the devolved administrations of Scotland and
Wales. The Group’s internal compliance team
supports the business to understand and
interpret the external regulatory landscape
and ensure continued compliance with all
regulatory requirements. The ratings across
the Group continue to compare well with
other providers.

This year has seen the need to engage with
regulators in a very different way. COVID-15

"has impacted on the regulatory programmes

of all of the national regulatory bodies. The
first part of the Group’s operating year saw
the suspension of the vast majority of site
inspections and of the awarding of ratings.
The Group engaged with the amended
regulatory programmes and introduced
enhanced risk assessment processes and
reporting for all services to provide additicnal
compliance assurance to regulatars.

Alangside engagement with regulatars,
the Group further enhanced strategies
and policies for effective data protection
informatian governance, and in meeting
health and safety requirements.

How we engaged during the year

— National relationship meetings with Ofsted
and CQC.

- On-geing digtogue with relationship
managers through COVID-18.

— Introductory meetings for newly appointed
CareTech senior managers.

— Regular dialogue at regional and local level
on services’ quality and compliance.

- Participation in consultaticns and learning

events-with-all-regulatory-bodies:

- Woarking closely with the regulator and
NHSE/l on services transferred to our
Coveberry Group in particular with
the CQC to improve a service with an
inherited Inadequate rating and to address
failings in ancther service to ensure the
future operating model meets the Right
Support. Right Culture, Right Care national
requirements,

Outcames

— During & pericd where it was difficult to
undertake normal inspections, we worked
with the Regulators to facilitate focused
inspections and virtual visits-to.oursites.

QOur approach to supplier engagement

The Board is mindful of the importance of
ensuring that the Group is able to source a
bread range of high-quality products from a
base of well-respected supptiers and of being
a trusted partner for our suppliers. Sourcing
persconal protective equipment throughout
the pandemic has never been so important as
in 2020 as we have depended on it to ensure
that we have sufficient stocks and cther
suppliers for us to be able to deliver care in

a safe environment during the pandemic.



How we engaged during the year

- Supplier relationships are primarily
rmanaged by our property and
procurement team.

~ Payment practices are monitored
on a monthly basis.

— The Board reviewed and appraved the

Company's Modern Slavery Act Statement.

— Supptiers must demonstrate that they
operate in accordance with recognised
standards-that-upbhelg-hurnan-rights-and:
saifety and prohibit modern slavery.

Qutcomes

~ Liaison witn suppliers on an individual
basis to provide information on tha -
Group's ordering pattern.

- Due to the pandemic, reached beyond
the normal supply chain to saurce new
domestic and international suppliers.

How we look after our people

The CareTech Group recognises the
increasing impartance of engaging with its
workforce. Ernployee engagement is critical
in maintaining strong operational delivery, in

uncertain times of change. We therefore strive

to maintain and create further opportunities
to generate dialogue between management
and our employees — both directly and

through varying channels. The Board believes
effective engagement 10 be a key element of

its understanding of the Campany’s ability to
create value as it recognises that our peopte
are our greatest asset, Employee views can
help inform the Board on matters such as
operational effectiveness, Company culture,
key areas of development and risk, and
strategy development and delivery.

How we engaged during the year

- Management regularly engages with the
warkforce thraugh a range of formal and
informat means, including via wabcasts
and emails from the Group Chief Executive
Officer and other senior executives, team
meetings, and face-to-face gatherings
where safe to do so in line with COVID
restrictions.

— We gain feedback from caotieagues through
a full annual survey which is analysed by the

The CareTech Group
recognises the
iIncreasing importance
of engaging with its
workforce. Employee
engagement is critical

Board and Exacutive Committee with action
ptans put in place to respond 10 {indings.
QOutcomes

- Increased investment in welibeing support
for colleagues {see page 23).

— Ongoing work to create a culture of
recognition and praise.

- Inaugural Staff Consultative Committee.

inrmaintammg strong
operational delivery,
In uncertain times

of change.

140d3Y D1D3ILVHLS
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Statement by the Directors
in performance of their statutory duties in accordance with s172(1) Companies Act 2006

Throughout this Annual Report, we provide examples of how we:

take into account the likely consequences of iong-term decisions:

take intc account the interests of the Campany’s employees:

faster relationships with our suppliers, customers and others;

hzve a positive impact by the Company’s operations on the cammunity and environment;
attribute importance to behaving as & responsible business; and

act fairly between memnbers of the Company.

The Board of Directors of CareTech Holdings PLC consider, both individually and together, that they have acted in the way they consider.
in good faith, would be most likely to promote the success of the Company for the benefit of its members as a whaote (having regard to

e stakeholdersahid Triatters set oUtinTs172{1)a=fof the Act)inthe decisions takendaring the yeaF erided 30 Septernbier 20210

Reporting requirgment Explanation For more informatian
The likely consequences of All decisions are made with leng-term consequences in mind and aligned -» Our business modet page 08
any decision in the long term to our core purpose =
' We mairtain 8 conservative funding structure and s progressive dividend policy. => page 47
The interests of employees Qur annual employment survey was completed with positive feedback. -* page 36
Inzugural Staff Consultative Committee held ta ensure that the voices
of aur stalf are at the heart of our business.
The need to foster business The Board has identified the Group's key stakeholders to be people in our care, > pages 4710 51
relationships with supptiers, employees, commissioners, sharehotders, suppliers, regulators, lenders and
commissioners and others communities. Regular communication takes place to listen and encourage

participation from all our stakeholders.

The impact of aperations In 2021. we developed our new Responsible Business sirategy — CARE4,
on the community 2nd the and donated E1.2m to the CareTech Foundation to support the wider social
environment care sector,

=¥ Qur approach to responsible business page 54
-3 CareTech Foundation page 61

The desirability of maintaining We remain cormmitted to becoming the highest quality provider of care,
a reputation for high standards education and therapeutic suppart.

of business conduct

We believe good governance is vital, and having clear divisions of
responsibilities and roles.

= Qur approach to responsible business page 54

The need to act fairly hetween  The Board embraces open dialogue with all stakeholders and works with
members of the Group its brokers to ensure an appropriate leve! of communication is facilitated.

=> Our sharehoclder engagement page 81
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Employee engagement is critical
in maintaining strong operational
delivery, in uncertain times of change.
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Operating Responsibly

Carbon emissions

~ CareTech recognises that our global
operations have an ervironmental impact and
we are committed to monitoring and reducing
our emissions year-on-year, We are also
aware of our reporting obligaticns under The
Companies {Directors’ Report) and Limited
Liability Partnerships (Energy and Carbon
Report) Regulations 2018. As such, this year
we have centinued our energy and carbon
reporting to meet these new requirements
and increase the transparency with which

we commainicate about ourerviranmental —
impact to our stakeholders.

2021 performance

This year we Have calculated our
environmental impact across the required
scope 1, 2 and 3 (selected categories) emission
sources. Our emissions are presented on both
a location and market basis. On a location
basis our emissians are 12,971 tCO,e, which

is an average impact of 1.6 tCC.e per FTE and
an increase of 10% from 2020. Qur market
basis emissions are 10,265 tCO,e, which

is an increase of 10% from 2020. We have
calculated emission intensity metrics on a

per FTE basis, which we will monitor to track
performance in our subsequent environmental
disclosures.
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COMMITTED
TO ACTING

RESPONSIBLY

During 2021, we have worked towards
improving data quality {better data from mare
sites) that has resulted in'increases in reported
emissions as the stangard data under-
estimated the position. We do not believe
there is any materiat increase in real emissions
and are satisfied that 2021 data provides

3 robust baseline from which to calculate

our emissions reduction plan.

Energy and carbon action
In the period covered by the report the

- Company has undertaken-the following——-

emissions and energy reduction initiatives:

- We commissicned a project to update
our ERCs; providing us with @ benchmark
Energy Performance per property type and
understand where we can best focus our
energy reduction strategies.

- As the boilers in our services come to the

end of their lifespan, we replace thern with
newer more efficient condensing boilers.

Newly instailed or upgraded radiators are
fitted with a thermostatic valve and the
systems balanced.

We upgrade to LED lightings when
refurbishing services and when current
fitlifigs come to the end of their lifespan.
We have domestic kitchens in all cur
services and choose AA-rated energy
efficient ovens, fridges, freezers when
replacing or upgrading.

We replaced 60 of our fleet vehicles with
newer more fuel-efficient models and
started a programme of ardering electric
and hybrid vehicles, both these initiatives
will expand in the 2022 period.

CareTech recognises that our global
operations have an environmental impact
and we are committed to monitoring and
reducing our emissions year-on-year.



2021 results

The methodology used ta calculate the
GHG emissions is in accordance with the
requirements of the following standards:

-~ World-Resources [nstitate (WRIT-
Greenhause Gas [GHG'} Protocol
{revised version),

- Défra‘s Environmental Reporting Guidelines:
Including Streamlined Energy and Carbon
Reparting requirernents {(March 2019).

~ UK office emissions have been calculated
using the Defra 2020 and 2021 conversion
factor reposifory.

Foilowing an operatianal control approach
o defining our prganisational boundary,

our calculated GHG emissions from business
activities fall within the reporting period

of October 2020 to Septermner 2021 and
using reparting periad of Octaber 2013 to
September 2020 for cemparison.

1¥0d3d 21931vHis

Emissions and energy usage

Emissions tCOe

Emissions Source 2020 2021 Variance

Scope 1 Natural gas® 3179 - 4,779 S50%
e e - Other fuel types— — —:195— - — ~1,387 16%
Company and leased cars 3.914 3,433 -12%

Total Scopel 8.288 9,599 16%
Scope 2 Electricity 3.108 2,751 -11%
Tatal Scope 2 3.108 2,751 11%
Scope 3 Electricity transmission and distribution 267 243 ~9%
Employee cars™ 165 Ire 128%

Tolal Scope 3 433 621 43%
Total {Market-hased) 9.307 10,265 10%
Total {Location-based} 11,829 12,971 10%
Total Energy Usage (kWh)* 53,011,194 70,852,968 34%
Normaliser tC0 e per FTE 16 1.6 -%

Table 1 ~ Energy

] Natural gas During 2021, we have worked towards improving data quatity (better data from more sites) that
has resulted 1n ingreases in reported emissions as the standard data under-estimated the position, We do
not believe there is any material increase in real emissions and are satisfied that 2021 data provides a robust
tasetine from which ta calculate our emissions reduction plan.

fii} Other fuel types Improved data quality has provided greater accuracy with reference to use of other fuels
{e.g. heating oill data for which was unavailable previcusty.

{iilEmployee cars The reponed year-on-year increase is primarily due 1o greater data accuracy. Employee
milgage data is difficult to obtain and the estimation protocol means that emissions are more likely to be
over-estimated than under-estimated. During 2022, we will work t improve data aceuracy o intorm cur
decarbonisation plans and wili also launch a staff travel programme.

' Energy reporting includes xWh from scope 1, scope 2 and scope 3 employee cars ondy {as required by

the SECR regulation).
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Operating Responsibly continued

CASESTUDY

Reagan regains
his independence

"If | can walk again, | can do
everything else again!”

When Regan left hospital and moved inta
Clock Tower Mews in August 2016, he hadnt
walked since February of that year. By June

2020, with cur expert support, Regan had
started to stand and walk with staff holding
him gently and, by the end of the year, he
was walking unaided. By 2021, Regan was
happily and freely walking around his home
on his own.

“Regan is very independent now; if he
fancies a snack he will walk into the kitchen
and get one far himself. He's much more
able to make his own decisions, which

has been life changing far him. There are
particular toys and music he likes and if he
wants to watch TV he will just pick up the
remote cantrol to change the channel and
choose what he wants to waich. He has

not only gained independence in a physical
way but has also grown in confidence and is
trying new things. He never enjoyed drawing
but he is actually picking up a pencil and
drawing pictures now, S, it's not just his
walking; this has boosted his self-confidence
completely. Now his attitude is ‘If | can walk
again, | can do everything else again!”

Regan’s Support Worker, Helen
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OPERATING RESPONSIBLY

We are proud of the life-changing results that
we achieve for individuals in our care. Our
shared purpose to build independence for our
service users means that a focus on guality
care and good governance has always been
central to the way we operate.

We aim to ensure that our staff are provided
with opportunities to develop their skills
and-careers,-as-well-as-the.opportunity.

to participate in Company ownership.

The pandemic, and rising concerns about
climate change, resource scarcity and human
rights have made it clear to us that sustainably
- operating responsibly — is a business
imperative,

Building on our inherent culture of
responsibility, in 2021, we have made a
commitment to new strategies to address
urgent environmental issues, alongside
further enhancing our people policies that
are focused on equally important human
issues such as diversity, equity and inclusion.

‘Published alongsidethisyear's Annual Repaort

is our first Purpose Repart, which describes
this exciting new strategic approach and
how it is central to the way we do business.

CARE4 -
Responsible business at CareTech

CARE4 is our new Responsible Business
strategy. We have developed a framework
{see facing page!} that reflects the material
issues for our busingss and sets key
commitments to measure progress. It is
rocted in our corporate purpose: building
independence. to enable better futures.

We will continue to develop this approach

in 2022 as we seek to build our business on
truly sustainable foundations. To ensure that
this vital work maintains momentum, we have
appointed our first ever Sustainability Director
who will drive the agenda in parailel with our
business development agenda.

We will report our progress using an ESG
framework.alongside.our-own-Burpose.Report
that will focus on the considerable social
impact of our business — enabling more
independence on an gveryday basis.

Our strategy focuses on four key areas
- CARE4 Planet, CARE4 People, CARE4
Innovation, and CARE4 Communities,

Social impact

Our purpose is to enabte children, young
people and adults with complex needs to
make their own life choices, and to develop
configence and independence to live, learn,
thrive and engage. building a better future.
We describe this as providing Extraordinary
Days, Every-Bay—-

We will quantify, establish goals and report
on the social impact of delivering our core
purpose of building independence for
better futures.

Our commitment:

We will establish a robust set
of Social Impact Indicators and
reporting methodology so that
we can measure and report on
the social impact of delivering
our core purpose.



CARE4 CARE4
Planet People

We know that healthy lives go hand in hand Our business exists to facilitate better lives —

with a healthy planet. We are committed far the people in our care and the people who
to caring for the wellbeing of our planet worle for us, We aim ta be the sector’s best
to safeguard all our futures. workforce and so we offer market-leading

employment_ opportunities, creating.better

1HOd3H JIDILVHELS

futures for our employees.

Social Impact

The purpose of our business is to enable children, young people and adults
with complex needs to make their own life choices, and to develop confidence
. and independence ta live, learn, thrive and engage, building better futures.

We betieve that good business creates value Thriving communities are central to our success
for society as-well-as-forthose whom we care. - ——— -= - -and'we aim to be an-active-contributor in‘all the
Our innovative approaches will expand our locations in which we operate. We also support
business for a successful future, helping us the vital role of the wider social care sector

to enable independence for more people, through the CareéTech Foundation.

positively impacting more lives,

CARE4 CARE4
Innovation Community

Governance

Our beliefin creating value for all of our stakeholders drives
our commitment to good governance, transparency and
effective engagement with all involved in our business,
safeguarding its long-term sugcess,
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CARE4 People —
a better future for our people

Qur business exists to facilitate better lives
- lor the peaple in our care and the people
who work for us. We aim to be the sector’s
best workforce, offering market-leading
employment opportunities and creating
brighter futures for our emplayees.

Qur commitment:

Cur CareTech Management Dewvelopment
Pregramme embeds our values and
hehaviours into the leadership DNA across
the Group. We reinforce this through our
CareTech Senior Coaching and Mentoring
Programme 1o gnsure that our leadership
appraach is embedded in everything we go.

Training and development

All staff have access to a formal induction
process. This begins with mandatory
induction and statutory training during the

Wewill'beanemployerof
choice, investing in our people
and valuing their diversily.

we will ensure strong, fair and inclusive
tront-line leadership through our
CareTech Management Development
Programme. We will launch our new
Diversity Equity & Inclusion Strateqy,
driving fairness and equity across atl
that we do.

Progress ta date

} Rewarding our people
We recagnise the importance of fair terms
and conditions far our staff,

Leadership and management

Our CareTech Leadership and Management

Academy offers personal development for
front-line staff through to senior operational
leaders. The Academy provides a variety

of programmes to develop the leadership
knowledge, understanding. skilts and

competences of our leaders. focused around

achieving Good and Qutstanding ocutcomes
in 2 social care setting.

first six rhonths of their employment. Qur
e-appraisal system — Job Chat” — enables
staff to identify their career aspirations. We
also support individuals through a range of

persanal development oppartunities, including

apprenticeships.

Sharesave 5cheme
We believe that our staff should benefit from
the success and growth of the organisation.

We are now in our third cycle of our Sharesave

Scheme, which allows staff to save between
£5.00 and £500 per month for a period of
three years. At the end of the three-year

period, the scheme matures and staff are able
‘torredeem their investment-and hold or-sell

those shares as they choose.

Reward and recognition
CareTech taunched its Thank You initiative in
2021, This grives recognition of our staff on a

daily basis. making staff recognition a key part

of our DMA. We have distributed over 2,500
thank you cards to staff across the business,
accormpanied with reward vouchers.

CARE4 Innovation —
a better future for business

We believe that good business creates value
for society as well as for those we care for.
Our innovative approaches will help expand
our business and secure a successful future,
helping us to enable independence for mare
people and positively impact more [ives.

Our commitment.

We have estabtished ournew
CareTech Technology division
to spearhead our technology
and innovation agenda.

CareTech aims to become a digital leader
in the disability and specialist social care
sectors by developing an end-to-end
pathway of innovative services that blend
care and technology. Building on our
maiden investment in Smartbok, we will
accelerate the pace of cur investment
and development of innovative digital
solutions to reach more people around
the-werlg-who-can-benefit-from these
technologies. We will continue to
modernise our business approach across
all areas of the Group. embracing new
ways of providing high~quality care.

Progress to date

Augmentative and Alternative
Commurtication {AAC}

Smartbox will enable mare disabled
children and adults ta have a voice and live
maore independently. This exciting assistive
technology includes their flagship AAC
platform. This supports a wide range of

conditions and literacy levels with features for

symbol and text communication, accessible
apps. erwironment control, internet browsing
and much mare.
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Operating Responsibly continued

Qur recent acquisition of REHAVISTA GmBH
will provide unparalleled experiise in Germany,
estimated to be the second largest funded
AAC market olobally after the USA. With its
deep knowladge of assistive technology

and established routes to market, this
acquisition provides a significant opportunity
for Smartbox to expand the products and
servicas available in Germany, expanding on
the existing partnership between Smartoox
and REHAVISTA, and across Smartbox's global
customer base. which spans morg than

CARE4 Communities —
a better future for our communities

Thriving communities are central ta

our success and we aim to be an active
contributor in all the locations in which we
operate. We also support the vital role of
the wider social care sector through the
CareTech Foundation.

Our commitment:

Progress to date

CareTech Foundation

In the year to Septernber 2021, the Group
made charitable donations through the
Foundation of £1.2m (2020: £0.7m).

As the Foundation’s lmpact Report 2020
shows, it is delivering a powerful pasitive
difference to individuals’ lives, including:

- 359 young people now have emptoyability
skills and qualifications thanks to the

30 languages and 45 distributors.

Purple

Purple, is a thought leader at the forefront
of changing the disability canversation for
disabled people in businesses, communities
and government, The aim is to move the
caonversation from cne anchored in welfare
charity and vutnerability to one of value
contribution and cpportunity.

Purple supports over 4,500 disabled people
to live independently in the community using
a local authority direct payment (or personal
health budget from clinical commissioning

groups} which enables themn to_ manage their_

own care and employ carers of their cheice.
It also supports pecple intc employment
with a range of training programmes to
build confidence and skills.

Purple helps businesses improve accessibility
to enable greater independence for disahled
people. Our highly successful Purple Tuesday
event involved over 5,000 organisaticns
rmaking commitments to improve the
disabled customer experiente,
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We-will-domate-2-5%of
our pre-tax profits to the
CareTech Foundation.

In addition to the financial support,
we will increase the cpportunities for
staff to engage with and support the
Foundation’s work, including through
skills-based volunteering,

partners supported:

— 173 people naw employed in the health
and sacial care sector;

- 41,771 people in Pakistan now have access
to mentat health suppert; and

- providing the special hand cycle for a foster
child with cerebral palsy that enabled this
little girl to ride a bicycle for the first time.



Apprenticeships

in 2020/21 we suppaorted over B65 new
apprentices, with a total of 1,355 people
on gur apprenticeship scheme nationally.

The majority of our staff five locally, meaning
that we offer attractive emplaoyment
opportunities to the community.

Qur schoals and hames participate in
local events (eg fetes), using them to build
community relationshins and raise funds
for-speciatprojects:

Governance and transparency

CAREA4 is underpinned by our rigorous
commitrnent to governance ~ an essentjal
aspect of this innovative approach. Qur belief
in creating value for all of cur stakeholders
drives cur commitment to good governance.
transparency and effective engagement with
all involved in our business, safeguarding its
long-term success.

Our commitment:
We will create a Staff
- Consultative Committeeto———
ensure that the voices of
our staff are at the heart
of our business.

This will ensure that our people play an
irtegral role in defining the organisation’s
journey. The Committee will have Board
sponsorship and a direct reporting line
1o the Board.

During 2022, we will further develop the
ambition of CARES o help us to formalise and
implement the Respensible Business agenda
at CareTech, and to deliver on our ambition to
lead the sector in this critical work to enable a
better future for all.

THE CARETECH FOUNDATION

The CareTech Faundation was established in
2017 to charmpion and support the sacial care
sectot, care workers and those living in care

through our four grant streams. The CareTech

Charitable Foundation is an independent
grant-making corporate foundation registered
with the Charity Commission. funded and

founded by CareTech, the Foundation has an
ingependent Board of trustees responsible for

delivering its charitable objectives,

The CareTech Foundation delivers meaningful

impact to communities in the UK and

overseas. Its work focuses on the following
three key objectives:

= Physical and learning disabilities and mental
heaith. Supporting disabted people and
those with long-term health difficullies,
including those with mental health
conditions and complex physical and
learning disabilities.

~ Skills development for the care sector.
Skills development for those from deprived
and disadvantaged backgroundsfor

careers in the care sector.

— Supporting our communities. Supparting
the famity and friends of CareTech PLC
employees facing significant financial
challenges as well as issues facing
local communities.

I the year to September 2021, the Group
made charitable donations through the
Foundation of E1.2m (2020 £0.7m),

In its first three years, the CareTech
Foundation has already supported over
1,550,000 peaple as well as delivering a
social media campaign on mental health
reaching 16.8 million peaple in Pakistan.

140d3IY DIDILYHLS

Developed by independent impact
researchers, the Foundation's Impact Report
2020 snows that the Foundation is delivering
a-powerfutpositive-difference-to-individuals’
lives. Hey achievermnents include:

— 359 young people now have employability

skills and qualifications thanks to the
partners supported: -

73 people now emptoyed in the health
and social care seclor;

95941 people in Pakistan now have
access to mental health suppoert; and,

a special hand cycle provided for a foster
child who has cerebral palsy enabling this
little girl Yo ride 3 bicycle for the first time.

The CareTech Foundation
delivers meaningful impact
to communities in the UK
and overseas.
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Operating Responsibly continued

Partnership grants

The Foundation delivers its charitable
objectives through its Partnership Grant
scheme. It supports a number of significant
partnerships with credible high-quality
charities and social enterprises consistent
with its three hey objectives, To be
considered for the Foundation’s support,
any partnership must:

~ involve rmedium to long-term investments
in innovative and high-impact programmes

The numbter of Partnership Grants supported
by the Foundation up to the end of FY2020/21
has grown to 16, with the follawing new
partnerships added this year:

— Open University = Carers’ Scholarships
Fund. This exciting new programme,
designed by Open University, aims to offer
50 fuli-fee waiver scholarships to carers so
they will be able to study flexibly towards
a higher education qualification.

— The Prince’s Trust — Securing 10,000 jobs

that will deliver one ar more of the
Foundation's chjectives.

— Demonstrate and be contingent upon any
investment by the Foundation leveraging
additional investment.

- Enable the Foundation to provide wicler
in-kind support through the expertise
of the Group's staff, supply chain and
wider network.

for young people in health and sccial
care. Over the next tour years The Prince’s
Trust, together with the NHS and Health
Education England. will support 10,000
young people into careers within the NHS
and wider health and social care sector.

— Autistica — Sccial Care Action Fund.
The Social Care Action Fund supports a
wave of new research to help show what
high-quality social care looks like for
autistic adults and how it can be delivered
effectively in the reat world.

— OnSide Youth Zones - Bridging the Gap.
Bridging the Gap is a mental health project

that will help_filLa criticai gap in providing
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accessible, stigma-free, muiltidisciplinary
mental healthcare to young people aged
8 to 19, or up to 25 with additional needs,
who have {or are at risk of developing) low
level or emerging mental health issues,

— Carers Worldwide. Upscating and

expanding a successfully tested approach
to support 1,002 unpaid family carers of

peaple with disabilities in Savar, Bangladesh.

— Transform Saciety. The Foundaticn
commissionad Transform Society to
conduct a feasibility study to test the
viability of a "Teach First” and "Police Now'
style leadership ang talent management
programme for the social care sector,

T of overE555.000°

- Royal National Institute for Blind People.
The Foundation’s support will help to
establish the Vision Friends Network,
training 40 staff in CareTech PLC to detect
and support beneficiaries with sight-related
impairments. In addition, 110 staff will
be trained in detection and two
networking events wii! be hosted
through the programme.

During 2020/21, the Foundation has
supported Partnership Grants to a value

CASESTUDRY

Through CareTech Foundation's support,
DePaul"GK'sthental healthmand wellbeing
intensive workshops were delivered to
48 homeless young pecple in North
East England.

91% of participating young pecple, who
identified heailth and wellbeing as an area
for concern, experienced positive change
by the end of the prograrnme.



Community grants

The Foundation delivers a small grants
programme to support the communities,
tamilies and triends of Group staff facing
significant financial hardship or for issues
affecting local communities. These grants
are open to staff members of the Group
to support the positive contriputions they
make to their communities and thraugh
volunteering.

Demand far the Foundation'’s commurnity

CASE STUDY

grants increased steadily again this year.
During 2020/21, the Foundation has
supported 50 grants to 2 value of £74,584.

o Match funding

The Foundation provides match funding
to CareTech'’s staff individual fundraising
efforts for charitable causes in line with the

Foundaticn's Charitable Objects. During 2021,

the Foundatian supported 51 Match Fund
grants (o a total of £13,701.
Staff Hardship Fund

As part of its overali charitable donations,
the Company provides a limited donation to

———support the Foundation’s Staff Hardship-Fond—~

Demand was significantly higher this year
due to the impact of COVID-19 and the
trustees agreed o divert additional funds

to this grant stream. During the year, the
Foundation supported 87 grant applications
totalling £54,141,

The world-first ToddlerLab at Birkback
University's Centre for Brain and Cognitive
Development, supported by CareTech

Foundation. has now finished constructiaon,

enabling tesearchers to study taddlers

in natural environments. The CareTech
Foundation Home Lab will transform our
understanding of neurodevelopmental
conditions.

1HOdIY 3ID3LVULS

“Last year, we built an impact framework to help the
CareTech Foundation measure and report its impact.
This year, it is fantastic to be able to share the growth in
the reach of the Foundation, but more importantly the
difference that it has made through increased resilience
and sustained employment. it is rewarding to warl  with
the Foundation to understand how these insights
can help increase its social impact still further.”
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Qur Divisionat Performance

Adult Services

September 2021 September 2020

Revenue £169.7m E136.2m
Underlying EBITDA kefore unallocated costs E38.4m E357m
Underlying EBITDA margin 22.6% 26.2%
Capacity 2,104 1597

Our Adults Services operate across England
and Wales and we support 1,816 peopte in
our care.

Qur normal regulators’ inspection cycles
were paused during 2020 on accaunt of the
pandemic, but recommenced in early 2021,
We concluded the year with B6% of services
being rated as Cutstanding or Goed, which
was above the sector average.

Within the year we continued to invest in our
services and demonstrated tangible cutcomes
for the people in our care, with initiatives such
as Smartbox.

The service offering falls into two categories:

— Supporting adults with learning disabilities,
including autism, physicat disabilities
and or mental health illness, often with
a combination or multiple diagnoses.
Working in partnership with health and
social care professionals, we enable people
whc use our services to fulfil their goals by
either residing in our fully residential care
homes or a supported living service.

~ Providing care, treatment and support to
adults who require a significant portion

of their care — whether long cr short

term — within a hospital environment, Qur
‘pathway is to support our patients tomove
tc a supported community-based setting.

H The care we provide is person-centred,
We have JUSt un der and each person who uses cur services is
5 OO O Staﬁ: WhO supported to develop skills that enhance
’ 1]

their independence.

Contlnued tO Work The COVID-19 pandemic has been
th roug h incredib[y unprecedented and presented multiple

L ppe . challenges for the adults that we support,
d ifficult circumstances our staff, society and infrastructure as

. . whole. We have just under 5,000 staff, who
a nd pf0V|ded ﬁrSt— continued to work through incredibty difficutt

Cla 55 care tO eve ryone circumstances and provided first-class care

to everyone that we support. The new norm

that we support_ was quickly adopted and Extraordinary Days,
Every Day continued. Qur pecple rose ¢ the
challenge and, despite the hurdles of self-
isolation. PPE and travel restrictions, they went
above and beyond to continue to deliver care
and support to thase who needed it most.
Our gratitude to our staff far their contribution
and efforts is immense.
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Mental and learning.disability.health.and_.
social care continue to be an area of priority
far the government, hence there has not
been the funding squeeze experienced in
other areas. Further, the market continues
to grow, supporting more complex needs
far younger adults to live as independently
as possible. As such the neuro-rehabilitation
part of our business, which covers strokes
and brain injuries, has continuous ongoing
developments. We are alsg evaluating further
opportunities to expand our community-
based living ‘intensive’ support pregramme
to drive the personalisation agenda.

Adults Services has been robust and resilient
through-the-pandemic, Revenues increased
by 24.6% to E169.7m and underlying EBITCA
by 7.5% to £38.4m. Underlying EBITODA margin
has fallen during this year due to the lower
initiat rmargins at the recently acquired assets
transferred from The Huntercombe Group.

2022 priorities
-2 Quality

- Cutcomes rated framewaork (see Care
Quality & Governance Committee on
page 86)

-# Extend the use of Smartbox



Children’s Services

Scptermber 2021 Septernber 2620
Revenue £268.6m £252.9m
Underlying EBITDA befare unallocated costs E76.2m £69.6m
Underlying EBITDA margin % 28.4% 275%
Capacity 2,000 1959

Operating through eight individual brands, our
Childrer's Services include an extensive range
of services across England, Scotland and

Wales. These services meet the specific needs

Within the year, we have continued to invest
in our services and demaonstrated tangible
outcomes for the young peopte whom we
support through three key initiatives:

The demand for our services remains high,
with young people’s presenting needs tending
to be ever greater. Despite the pandemic

we have continued to extend our services
through the develapment of new specialist
residential homes and schools. Qur growth

is focused on meeting the demands of the
market {sclo and dua! homes te support the
mare complex children) as well as adding
‘spokes’ to ensure optimal operating efficiency
of existing services. We are pleased that this
growihis.across.all.ourspecialist_services.

“of childrén and young people with a variety of
complex needs. The range of services that we
provide suppeart the appropriate Care Pathway
planning of young people through their
childhood and as they transition t¢ adulthood.
Qur services fall into three cateqories for
young people whose primary needs can be
supported through: Specialist Residential Care
[children’s homes) and Specialist Education
(day and residential} Schools and Colleges.

The COVI(I-13 pandemic presented a significant
chalienge to our services. The rmajarity of our
young people could not simply ‘go or stay at
horrne’ and our staff continued to support our
services despite some of the most difficult
circumstances. Going atiove and beyond
became the norm, and the extraordinary
became the erdinary. We are grateful to all our
staff for their eftorts and to the difference they
made to the young people we support,

Qur normal regulators’ inspection cycles were
paused during the pandemic, however, these
recommenced in early 2021.

On 12 March 2021, the Competition Markets
Authority launched a market study into the
supply of children’s social care placements in
England, Scotland and Wales. In September
they confirmed the decision not to progress
to a market investigation. The government
also consulted within the year on the use of

wnregulated services to support young people.

We welcome and support the propesal for
greater regulation of such services.

1. We have implemented Mind of My Own
across all our Children's Services to enable
us to capture and listen' tq the voice of the
yaung peaple in our services and respond
to their individual needs.

rn

. We are piloting an outcomes rating scale

that we intend to adopt across our services.

This wilt enabte the progress of young
people to be quantified and demonstrated
to funders,

Through Smartbox and the 100 Vaices
project we have made significant progress
towards making two of our schools 100%
Smartbox enabled. These schools support

w

- - ~students with autismrand-other associated"

complex needs. These students have
significant comrnunication difficulties and
traditionally communication with these
students would be supported through
static symbols. With the whole school
adopting Smartbox these students are now
able to cornmunicate as they have naver
done before as all stalf [care, teaching,
therapy arnd ancillary? have a consistent
approach to communication. Smartbox
will become a care part of our standard
offer in these schools.

Within the year, we apened an additionat 11
homes, increasing our capacity by 22 beds
and deployed £4.4m capital. We can expect to
at least achleve the same additional increased
capacity within the coming year.

Qur staff underpin all that we achieve with

the young peopla whom we suppart. We are
pleased to have launched our Management
Development Programme Lo support the
continuad development of our staff, to provide
meaningful career progression and to grow
our own talent for the future. The attraction
and retention of staff remains a key focus.

2022 priorities

- Increase capacity through
developments focused on meeting
the demands of the market

- Extend the use of Smartbox to young
people across aill our services where
there is 3 need

- Outcomes-rated framework

65
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Qur Divisiona! Performance continued

CASE STUDY

independence for Kelly

as she moves into her

very own flat

When Kelly joined us, she was very high
risk to herself, with self-harm and extrermely

challenging behaviours a constant
problem. Her mental health issues had

meant she had been fiving in hospital for
eight months and was unable 1o manage
daily life by herself.

Kelly now tives in & Supported Living setting
with us {meaning she has her own private
space witn professional support on hand
as needed). This gives her much-needed
privacy. independence and security,

When Kelly first moved into her flat, she
was very nervous about using the oven
and microwave; with our suppart she
confidently uses her kitchen appliances
and cooks for herself independently. She is
free to spend time in communal areas with

others'when she wants to andcanreturn to -

her flat when she feels the need for privacy.

This specialist erwvironment enables ys

to provide Kelly with the professional
support she needs whilst encouraging

her to become independent. It has given
her a sense of belonging and boundaries;
she understands that support is available
at specific times and at other times she is
responsible for herself. She has learned to
recognise and build heatthy relationships,
a huge change from when she first arrived,

Having her own personal space has greatly
cortributed to Kelly's positive outcome;
she has inspired staff with her amazing
progress and becomes more and more
independent with every day.
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"7 ‘parent leavers and in sOME cases young

Foster Care

September 2021 Seplember 2020

Revenue E38.2m £40.9m
Uriderlying EBITDA before unallocated costs E7.7m EB.6m
Underlying EBITDA margin 20.2% 20.5%
Capacity B75 1.028

Foster care is undoubtedly the best care
solution for rmost lecked after’ children. Most
children thrive in foster care where they are

Looking forward, we are training our foster
carers with the skills required to manage
placements that are more complex. We have

supparted within an ordinary family home and  also linked Fostering Care Services with our

—with trained foster varers T CareTechprovides ™ Children’s Services

for both mainstream and specialist foster care
throgugh local agencies across the UK. We
offer a highly respected service for physically
and intellectually disabled children as well as

support for children with sensary impairments,
We provide foster care family assessments and
ongaing support ta children who remain with

their birth families and in their famity hoeme.

Revenue and underlying EBITDA for

Foster Care decreased to £38.4m and
E7.7m respectively. Capacity decreased by
153 places, as available capacity was not
always fully utilised due to a nurnber of solo
ptacements, COVID-19 restrictions. foster
people rermaining in placement
post-independence.

an effective Care Pathway.

2022 priorities

-2 Maintain presence in terms of
placements and fees in a highly
competitive market

Foster care is
undoubtedly the best
care solution for most
‘looked after’ children.
Most children thrive in
foster care where they
are supported within
an ordinary family
home and with
trained foster carers.




Digital Technology

September 2021
Revenue £12.9m
Undertying EBITDA before unailocated costs E£2.4m
Underiying EBITDA margin 18.8%

following the acquisition of a majority hotding
in Smartbox in October 2020 a new Digital
Technology division has been created.

Smartbox Assistive Technology is 2 leading

Smartbox has a robust roadmap of product
and service development, building on
insight from AAC users, their famifies and
professianals supporting them. Throughout
2021, Smartbox launched a number of

Cn 29 Novermnber 2021, we announced the
acquisition of REHAVISTA GmBH (REHAVISTA)
and its subsidiary LogBUK REMAVISTA is
Germany's largest provider of AAC products
and services. LogBUK is 3 subsidiary company
to REMAVISTA, providing independent speech
and language therapy to help AAC users
achieve the best outcomes through specialist
clinical support.

1¥QdIY 21931VHls

REHAVISTA's reach and expertise (s
unparalleled in Germany. estimated to be the

glebal-provides-of-Augmentative-and
Aliernative Communigcation (AAC) solutions,
which support disabled children and adults
to have a voice and greater independence.

Smarthox became part of the CareTech group
in October 2020. Over the past 12 months
the business has seen rapid growth, with
revenue of £12.9m and underlying EBITDA of
E2.4m. Waorking closely with the new Digital
Technology Division a five~-year strategy has
been developed, which includes investment
in new product development, building
Smartbox’s presence in the US and supparting
grawth of their global distribution hetwork

During their first year as part.of the. Group.
Smartbox has been working closely with
care and education services provided by
CareTech and Cambian. A pilot project titled
100 Voices is enabling the teams to support
58 children and 42 adults across their services
to receive the assistive technology and
specialist support needed tc communicate
and achieve independence. [t is also helping
the Group to better understand how we

can develop future products and services to
unlock better outcomes for users through
techmology and innovation.

pioneering praducts to help peapie
achieve more with their technclegy:

— Lumin-iis 2 new eye-gaze lechnology
that gnables people with a physical
dizability to operate a computer using
thetr eyes, built in collaboration with
Smart fye — a Swedish company that
creates products far NASA, BMW and
Thales. it offers incredibly responsive
perfarmance and is availatle exclusivety
for Smartbox customers with Grid Pad 12
and Grid Pad 15 communication aids.

— Grid Pad 10s is a dedicated. multi~access
device designed for people who wart a

-~portable and rugged-communication-aid—— -
Its high-quality engineering and unique set
of features provide a next-generation AAC
device designed with independence and
durability in mind.

~ Yoco Chat is a symbol vocabulary with
a low-cell count, designed for people of
any age who need larger cells. Message
pathways enable users to participate
mare, engage in conversations, he more
independert, and tatk about important
topics such as rmmental health and wellbeing.

second largest funded AAC market giobally
after the US. With its deep knowledge of
assistive technology and established routes to
market, this acquisition provides a significant
opportunity for Smartbox ta expand the
products and services available in Germany.,
expanding on the existing partnership
between Smartbox and REHAVISTA, and
across Smartbox's global customer base,
which spans more than 30 languages and
45 distributaors.

2022 priorities

- By maintaining-a-cellaborative approach -
to delivering on the Company’s purpose
of enabling peapie to live 2 mare
independent life, Smartbox is set to see
significant growth in 2022 and beyond
Key priorities are:

=3 Invest in Smartbox’s US operation and
support the rapidily increasing demand
across funded states

- Integrate REHAVISTA
< Research and Development

> Further investments across the
Digitai Care Pathway
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Principal Risks and our Strategic Response

Social care is a long-term contract with the
public sectar and is inherently free of risk so
long as quality is maintained, outcomes are
achieved and the price is right, However, social
care daes carry risks that witl always Le dt

the forefront of our minds. The most obviotrs
risk is that a tragedy will occur and that the
Group will be held to blame. We take that risk
very seriously. Our principal risk management
strategy is to ensure that our staff are recruited
well, are trained and supervised properly

and are subject o rigorous quality oversight

We maintain a Risk Register, which includes all
key risks and how these are mitigated through
guality of service and good communication
with service users and local authorities. The
Risk Register is reviewed monthly.

Emerging risks

The Board have considered long-term
trends in the social care sector that could
present both a risk and an opportunity for
CareTech. Any new emerging risks identified
by_the_£xecutive Committee_are_considered

In addition, we know from experience that
processes and documentation must be very
carefully observed and constantly reviewed
to ensure that it protects service users and
provides the Group with a defendable
pasition in the case of tragedy.

These matters, along with general
safeguarding are subject to tintense scrutiny
by our in-house compliance and quality
teams and Board-tevel oversight.

‘Managing and mitigating risk
All providers of heatth and social care are
conscicus of the need for management

in more detail and reported to the Board,
The collective area of ESG risk is considered
an emerging risk for the Group. Key topics
include the impacts of climate change,
environmental management and compliance
with retevant laws and regulations. Recent
years have seen growing pressure and
scrutiny across all businesses to behave in
an increasingly sustainable manner,and to
be more transparent in doing so. We are
working towards publishing our first Purpose
Report in early 2022 which will set out our
sustainability targets.

We tharoughly review our operations on a

vigilance and the requirement-to-have-a - - -- - - -regular Dasis and~in-conjunction-with the-- -

thorough commitmerit to delivering care
that is safe and of a high-quality. CareTech’s
approach to quality and safe service delivery
is characterised by a mixture of a dedicated
compliance team carrying out regular
inspection audits and a commitment to
building quality into everything we do.
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approach outlined above, the Directors believe
this achieves a robust assessment of principal
and emerging tisks.

Our principal risks

The market for the provision of social care
services continues ta be dynamic, presenting
botn rnisks and opportunities. The overall
number of pecple needing suppart will
increase, and a smaller proportion of them will
be placed into residential services. Thase who
do need a residential care solution will have
more complex needs and are likely to require
a wider range of services, including clinical
and therapeutic support. Qur operational
management-teams-are-already-focusing

on the delivery of high-quality care. As we
maove forward this will become increasingly
specialised with the benefit of professional,
qualified care co-ordinators who will prepare
and direct personalised care plans within

the services.

Most service users will be supported in their
own homes through domiciliary care or in
more farmal supported living arrangements.
This is a major growth area for care providers
and CareTech atready has a solid reputation
for its high-quality and flexible solutions. We
are buitding this to a higher level and refining
cur organisationat structure to build more
rapidly &I OUF sUCCesses o date.



1. RECRUITING AND RETAINING HIGH-QUALITY STAFF

Description

Movement vs pricr year

Mitigating Factors

The way in which care and support are provided and
the reliability of those front-line staff who provide it are
critical to our service offer. There is a shortage of social
care workers and clinicians.

/]

The Group seeks to attract and retain staff through:

-* Responding to staff turnaver, vacancy rates
and staff engagement surveys.

2 Maintaining competitive pay and benefits

- Paositive workplace and culture.

- Investment in our staff through training.

- Overseas recruitment to secure healthcare

1Y0d43¥ 21931vdls

WOrKers (Fam outSige the X0
-> Bank staff or agency workers.

2. SERVICE OFFER AND USER NEEDS

Description

Movement vs prior year

Mitigating Factors

We have {o provide a service offering which
maiches the needs of thase we care for and can be
communicated o commissioners. This is carefully
matched locatly for every service to reduce the risk
of service users moving to other service providers.

>

- Continuous engagement with commissioners
to understand demand and reviews of pricing
1o ensure we remain cormpetitive.

- The Group has a wide range of services and
offers a Care Pathway to those we care for.

=2 Continuous investment to maintain a high-guality
estate in order to provide excellent quality care.

3. COMPLIANCE & REGULATION

Description

Maverment vs prior year

Mitigating Factors

Legislation and regulation will change and become
more onerous, complex and demanding and is
therefore considered an area of potential risk for
the Groug and its operations.

>

- A dedicated compliance tearn that monitor regulatary
developments and advises the Group tharecn.

-3 Regular mandatory training for all staff across a range
of regulatary compliance areas e.g. data protection,
health and safety, and safeguarding.

- Compliance internal audit team carrying out site visits.
- External independent inspection of cur services (NYAS).
= CQC/Ofsted inspections.

Key: Movement in risk
A Increased risk
¢—> Constantrisk

N Reduced risk
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Principal Risks and our Strategic Response cortinued

4,SERVICE VALUE

Description Movement vs prior year  Mitigating Factors
The service offer has to be provided to meet the needs -» The Group engages frequently and proactively with
of the commissioners at a fair price and this is coming ; I our commissioners at a local level and strategically

under increased scrutiny as commissioners regularty at regional and national levels,
review value for money.

5. REPUTATION

Description Movement vs prior year  Mitigating Factors

The Group mUST figve a reputation for delivering services E ; =¥ Established Carg& Qudlity anhd Governance Committee
that offer good value and take account of all risks. Sacial to advise on our regulatory framewaork.

care is not 3 high-risk business proposition but there -» Reqular review of policies and procedures to monitor
are several unique factors that coutd cause difficulties. service delivery and ensure high-quality care is

We care a great deal about what we do and have delivered in line with best practice.

established a reputation for careful management of all - Well-established relationship with our Regulators.

those processes that could expose us o risk, A heaith
and safety breach would impact reputation, brand and
compromise the safety of those in our care. This could
impact on the demand for our business as well as incur
costs to rectify.

-» Financial PR agency appointed to respond swiftly
to any issues.

- Independent audit of Health and Safety as well
as RIDDORS (‘Reporting of Injurigs, Diseases and
Dangerous Occurrences Regulations’) so that all
incidents are recaorded and acted upon.

6. GROWTH FUNDING . .
Description Maovement vs prior year  Mitigating Factors

Funding has to be anticipated and put in place to -> The Group monitors and manages its liquidity and
support the growth ambitions of the Group. The Group N financial liabilities falting due and the cover against
ensures that all of its finance facilities are monitored and its term loan covenants and is actively focused on
reviewed regularly in particular during our budget setting cash management,

and forecasting processes. -» Reqular reporting of headroom and compliance

of covenants.

The level of debt ta fund cperations and ta support
-» Regular meetings and disclosure with bank

growth has to be carefully managed. Different forms
of leasing and debt are reviewed quarterly when all syndicate members.
covenants are also reviewed. <> The Group has access to an unutilised £E25m
revolving credit facility should its current cash
position deteriorate.
- The Group has a £930m property with the ability
to leverage in a short timescale, if required.
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7. CYBER AND DATA SECURITY
Description

Movement vs prior year

Mitigating Factors

Cyber and data security remain a key risk as technology
and third-party cloud-based services continue to be
subject to the threat of cyberattacks. A data breach or
attack resulting In operational disruption could reduce
the effectiveness of cur systems. This in turn could
result in loss of income, loss of financial, customer

or employee data, fines and/or reputational damage.

N

- CareTech have a specialist team and robust Information
Security Management in place with a wide range of
proactive and reactive security controls inciuding
up- to-date anti-virus software across the portfolio,
and netwark/system monitoring.

- Regular internal and external review of control
effectiveness.

- Elfective data protection teams to minimise data

1H0d3YH J1DILYHLS

TiSKs and ensure complance withl GOPR’

8. SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE CHANGE

... Description

Movement vs prior year

Mitigating Factors

The Group's continued success depends on the
environmental and sustainability of its aperatians,
Changes in regulations could increase the cost
of our operations.

/1

-> Sustainability Director appointed and increased focus
an ESG.

- ESG discussed as a standing agenda itern in Executive
Committee meetings and Beard.

=¥ Inauqural Purpose Report to be published setting out
the Group's commitments.

By order of the Board

Farouq Sheikh OBE
Group Executive Chairman
6 Decernber 2021

Key: Mavement in risk
A Increased risk
&> Constant risk

N Reduced risk
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Group Financial Review

Results

The Group delivered a strong set of results for
the financial year ended 30 September 2021

Following the acquisition of a majority holding
in Smartbox in October 2020 and given the
Group's ambitions to build its digital healthcare
capabilities, we created a new Digital
Technology division. Smartbox is a market-
leading creator of software and hardware

that helps disabled pecple without speech

to have a voice and live more independently.

Our APMs referred to in this report and in
the financial staterments as a whole inciude,
underlying EBITDA, non-underlying itemns.
underlying earnings and non-financial
rmeasures such as capacity, accupancy and
reguiator quality ratings. You can read more
about APMs on page 173.

Capacity and occupancy

Adults Services capacity increased to 2104
(2020: 1,957) with the increase primarily
due_to_seven_services_transferred.from

Highlights

= Revenue: F489.1m (increase of 13.8%).

= Underlying EBITDA: £100.5m
(increase of 10.5%).

- Underlying profit before tax: £68.3m

and statutory profit before tax: E66.2m.

-> Underlying basic EPS: 47.87p {increase
of 13.3%) and statutory basic EPS:
28.80p lincrease of 25.9%).

= Net debt: £258.7m,

b4 Strongap;erating cash canversion
of 96.1%.

- Net assets: £380.9m.
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Smartbox has successfully integrated into the
Group, with the launch of a new 100 Voices
initiative (see page 67) to ensure that Smartbox
technology reaches adults and children in
{CareTech care homes, specialist schools

and complex needs services,

On 30 November 2020, the Group completed
the transfer of seven services previously
operated by The Huntercambe Group which
broadens our adult specialist service pathway
by adding highly specialised facilities for the
treatment of adults with complex learning
disabilities, autism and mental health diagnoses.
The sites have been integrated into the Group.

‘Th& Group reports certain non-IFRS™

nerformance measures, known as Alternative
Performance Meastires (APMs). The Directors
believe that APMs provide useful supplemental
infarmatiaon for the readers of the Annual
Report and. when read in conjunction with the
IFRS financial information, assist in providing

a balanced view of the Group’s financial
perfarmance and financial position.

In assessing its perfarmance, the Group has
adopted a number of APMs as the Directors
are of the view that these will assist the readers
of the accounts when understanding our
performance relative to other companies

in our sector and in the wider economy.
These measures are also used by management
for planning and reporting purposes. They
may not be directly ccmbarabte with similarly
described measures used by other companies.

the Huntercombe Group. These services
complement our Adult Specialist Services
division ang broaden our Care Pathway in
offering specialised services to adults with
complex learning disabilities, autisrn and menital
health diagnoses. During the year, one of these
services was closed and will be repositioned
and reopened during the new financial year.

Children’s Services increased to 2,000 beds
(2020: 1,955), primarily due to 11 new sites
opening during the year. Fostering decreased
to 875 (2020: 1,028) due to a reduction in the
number of foster parents and blocked beds.

As at the balance sheet date, the Group
capacity remained broadly flat at 4,979
(2020: 4,984) with an increase in our
residential services offset by the decline
in the Fostering division.

At 30 September 2021, accupancy levels

in the mature estate were 80% (2020: 83%).
reflecting the timing of the start of the
educational year due to a number of the
Group's non-residential schools operating

on a 38-week basis with the new education
term commencing in October and beds
being blocked due to recruitment challenges.
Blended occupancy was 78% (2020: 80%).



Condensed Incomie Statement

The Adulls Services divisicn saw an increase
in capacity due to seven sites transferred from
The Huntercombe Group. Revenues and
underlying EBITDA increased by 24 6% ang
7.5% respectively. The division continues to
see high levels of occupancy at 91% across
the mature estate and 85% on a blended
basis which includes sites that are being
reconfigured and under developrment,

Chitdren’s Services saw an increase in
capacity. and revenues and underiying EBITDA

ifcreased by 6.2+ and 9.5% respectively.
During the year, 25 properties were purchased
and have either opened or will open during
the 2021/22 year. The divisian benrefitted from
11 new services opening adding & 22-hed

Foster Care’s revenue and underlying EBITDA
decreased by 6.7% and 9.9% respectively, due
to COVID-19 restrictions and a reduction in

The Digital Technolegy division ended

the period with revenues at £12.9m ang
undertying EBITDA of £2.4m, 2,558 devices
were sold during the year in 1B different
countriesTgsignificantrincrease to the

Group underlying EBITDA before unallocated
costs increased by 9.6% to £124.7m and
Group underlying EBITDA increased by 10.5%
to £100.5m. Underlying £BTDA margin
decreased to 20.5% reflecting the lower
initial margins at the recently acquired

2021 2020 %
£m £m change
Revenue 489.1 4300 13.8%
Gross profit 165.7 1479 120%
Administrative expenses excluding depreciation
and share-based payments’ charge {65.2) {57.0} 14.4%
Underlying EBITDA 100.5 90.9 10.5%
Undertying EBITDA margin 20.5% 21.1%
Cepreciation (19.5} {170) 147%
Share-based paymenty’ charge (0.5} (0.3 43.3%
Undertying operating profit 80.5 736 9.4%
Non-underlying items 1.0 {20.2} (95.1)%
Net financial expenses (13.3) {15.5) 15.0%
. Profit before tax €6.2 318 75.1%
Taxation (30.9) ud7 useS_ Capecity.
Profit for the year 353 271 337%
Nari-comtralling interest {3.9] 1.9} 76.9%
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Parent 3.9 251 27.0%  the number of foster parents.
Weighted average number basic shares {millions) 110.8 109.8
Underlying basic garnings per share 47.87p 42.26p 13.3%
Statutory basic earnings per share 28.80p 2248p 259%
Full-year dividend per share 14.1p 12.75p 10.6%
Revenue and underlying EBITDA {pre unallocated costs) previous year.
2021 2020
Underlying Underiying Underlying Underiying
Revenue EBITDA EBITDA Revenue EBITDA EBITDA
Em Em margin Em Em margin
Adults Services 16%.7 38.4 22.6% 136.2 357 26.2%
Children's Services 268.6 76.2 28.3% 252.9 696 275%
Foster Care 38.2 7.7 20.2% 409 8.6 20.9% N
— Huntercombe services.
Digital Technology 12.9 2.4 18.8% - -
Intercompany {0.2)
Total 489.1 124.7 25.5% 430.0 1138 26.5%
Group undertying revenue increased by 13.8% to £489.1m {2020: £430.0m).
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Group Financial Review continued

Operating profit and profit before tax

The Group presents operating profit and profit
befare tax as both underlying and statutory
results. Underlying operating profit increased
by 9.4% to EBU.5m.

The depreciation charge is E19,5m (2020
£17.0m} reflecting the investmeant in land
and buildings, motor vehicles and fixtures,
fittings and equipment and the share-based
payments charge of £473k (2020: £330k)
reflecting the issuance of shares under the

Underlying profit before tax increased by
14,6% to £68.3m (2020: £59.7m} and statutory
profit before tax increased by 75.1% to £66.2m
(2020: £37.8m).

Taxation

The effective underlying tax rate was 17.4%
{2020: 18.7%) and reflects management’s
expectations of future capital investment
through organic developmaents and
reconfigurations relative to available
capital allowances

As a result of the change, an exceptional
tax charge of £21.7m was recognised for
the year ended 30 September in relation
to the reassessment of deferred tax assets
and liabilities.

Earnings per share
The weighted average number of shares
i issue rose to 110.8m. Underlying basic
garnings per share increased by 13.3% to
47.87p from 42.26p in 2020 and statutory
basic earnings-pershare.increased by

ExSOP in November 2019.

Non-underying items include the write back
of a provision of £11.8m following the final
judgement by the Supreme Court that social
care staff are not entitled to the National
Minimum Wage for steep-in shifts, a £5.8m
gain on the bargain purchase of seven sites
transferred from The Huntercombe Group
given the transaction was structured with

no capital cutlay. offset by amortisation of
£10.3m, restructuring costs of £4.Bm relating
to the integration costs associated with
Cambian, Smartbox and assets transferred
from The Huntercombe Group, acquisition
costs.of E0.8m, 3 net £1,5m on COMID-19
related expenditure and a £1.2m donation
1o the CarelTech Charitable Foungation.

During the year. the Group has adopted
strict precautions in line with government
and public health guidelines for all our

sites which included enhanced levels of
cleaning, additional hygiene facilities and
social distancing. Adult social care providers
have been able to access funding from
local authorities to support the provision of
additional resources and associated costs
necessary 1o halt transmission of COVID-15.
Funding of £2.7rm was received for the year,
which almost covered the additional costs
associated with COVID-19 of £4.2m.

Underlying financial expenses decreased

ta £12.2m (2020: £13.9m} reflecting the
accelerated deleveraging and reducticn in
banking covenants. Non-underlying financial
expenses of £1.1m (2020: £1.6m) were
incurred relating to the non-cash moverment
in derivative financial instruments.
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On 24 May 202'1. legislation was substantively
enacted in the UK to ingrease the corporate
tax rate to 25% with effect from 1 Aprit 2023,

Cash flow and net debt

25.9% to 28.80p {2020: 22.88f).

The cash flow statement and movement in net debt for the year are summarised below:

2021 2020

Em £m

Underlying EBITDA 100.5 9048
Decreasel(increase) in working capital 3.9} 33
Cash inflows from gperating activities before non-underlying items 96.6 94,2
Prindpal payment of lease tiabilities (5.8} 16.7)
Tax paid T ‘ (6.0) (3.9
Interest paid {10.6) {10.7)
Dividends paid {17.3) 13.01
Capitat expenditure {31.5} (26.8]
Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets 13 1.5
Payments for business combinations (5.4} (2.0
Non-underlying cash flows (2.7} (5.9
Contingent consideration paid (1.5} 0.7
Shareholder loan 0.0 1.8}
New HP arrangements {2.5} 2.0
Proceeds from share issue 0.9 C.0
Maovement in net debt {10.5} (22.2)
Opening net debt 268.9 2911
Closing net dett 258.7 2689

The Group continues to have a strong fingncial position, with net debt at 30 September 2021
being E258.7m compared with £268.9m at 30 September 2020,

Strong aperating cash flow has been deployed to purchase 25 new properties. to acquire
Smartbox for £5.4m (net of cash acquired), payment of contingent consideration in relation
to the AS Group of E1.5m, integration and restructuring costs of E4.2m associated with the
acquisition of Smartbox, the restructuring of assets transferred from The Huntercombe Group

and integration costs associated with Cambian.



Capital expenditure was £31 5m which
includes £11.8m to purchase and develop new
sites, £16.Bm maintenance capex and software
development of £2.5m.

The Group dividend payments was £17.3m
{2020: £13.0rml and corporation tax payments
of £6.0m (2020: £3.9m] were paid during

the year,

Bank facilities
At 30 September 2021, the Group has bank

Carelech's three key covenant ratios are
leverage (ratio of net debt to covenant EBITDA
to be no more than 4.5), interest cover [ratio
of covenant EBITDA to net finance costs to

be ne less than 4x) and LTV (ratio of property
value to net debt to be no mare than 62.5%).
As at 30 September 2021, we were operating
comfortably within these ratios at 2.7x {2020
3.1x}, 9.5x (2020: 7.8x) and 42% (2020: 42%)
respectively.

Property valuation

borrowings of £322.4m, drawn under facilities
which mature in August 2023, During the
course of the year, the Group completed

the extension of the Term Loan A faciiity of
E161.2m which will now mature i August
2023. The margin af the facility and covenants
remain unchanged. reflecting the highty
cash-generative nature of the business and
deleveraging profile. In addition, bath the
Group’s [oan and interest rate swaps have
migrated o Compounded Daily SONIA as

the reference rate.

The Group has a significant property portfalio,
cansisting of 407 freehold and long (easehold
sites. The Company has undertaken a
scheduled property revaluation, which

Knight Frank has valued at £930rn, an increase
af 20% since its last valuation in September
2018 of E774m.

Longer-term Viability Statement

In accordance with the 2018 UK Carporate
Governance Code, the Directors assessed the
viability of the Group and have used a period
of three years for their assessment, A three-
year period is considered the appropriate
timeframe to assess the Group’s prospects as
it is consistent with strategic planning for the
Group, management incentive schemes and
medium-term financing consideratians.

The assessment conducted considered

the Group’s revenue, underlying EBITDA,
operating profit. cash flows. risks management
controls and ioan covenants over the three-
year pericd. The longer-terrn prospects of the
Group are driven by its strategy and business
model. as outlined an pages 08 to 11. These
metrics were subject to downside stress
testing over the assessment period, taking
account of the Group's current position,

the Group's experience of managing sdverse
conditions in the past and the impact of a
number of severe yet plausible scenarios
based on the principal risks set outin the
Strategic Report on pages 1 to 75. The
gownside scenarios include, but are not
lirnited to, a reguction in revenue, site ciosures,
and a cyberattack. This is done to identify risks
to liquidity and covenant compliance,

This review included the following key
assumptions:

- Modest revenue and margin growth
beyond 2022,
- No major changes in working capital.

future dividends in line with current policy.

— No change in cagital structure. The
assessment is based on the assumption

Dividends

Our policy has been to increase the total
dividend per year broadly in line with the

movement in underlying diluted earnings per
share. The final dividend will rise broadly in line

witht the increase in underlying earnings per
share and increase to 9.5p per share {2020

8.75p}, bringing the total dividend for the year

to 14.1p (2020 12.75p), a growth of 10.6%.

Dividend cover for 2021, based upon dituted

earnings per share before nan-underlying

T iemsTis 3 3% (2020733

(i

Christopher Dickinsen
Group Chief Financial Officer
6 December 2023

that the Group's term loars will he
refinanced in advance of their maturity
in August 2023. Following the recent
successful amendment to the Term Loan
A maturity, the Group is confident in
ongoing lender support, and also plans
ta refinance the facilities well in advance
of the August 2023 facility end dates.

— The gavernment will not change its
existing policy towards utilising private
provision of social care services to
supplement the locat auwtharities offering
{which we consider to be low likelihood).

Based on this consideration of pringipal risks
and the forecasting exercise completed, the
Board has a reasonable expectation that the
Group will be able to withstand the impact
of the specific scenarios considered over
the three-year period assessed.
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Corporate Governance Report

Introduction

This is our Corporate Governance Report, which sets out how the Board and its Committees
operate and how we are committed to maintaining the highest levet of corperate governance.
The Beard firmly believes that an effective corporate governance framewocrk is essential to
underpin the sucgess of the business, supporting management while ensuring an appropriate
level of challenge and exercising proper oversight while facilitating decision-making.

The Board is focused on taking steps to enhance standards of governance and disclosure
towards the levels required for Premium Listed companies, should the Board ultimately

decide tc take that step.

Farouq Sheikh OBE

The Board_remains_.committed_ to achieving_the highest standards of integrity. ethics

professionalism and business practice throughout Group operations. Therefore, the Group
has aligned its governance with best practice and is therefore adopting the provisions of the
UK Corporate Governance Code 2018 on a comply or explain basis. The Code and associated
guidance is available on the Financial Reporting Council website at www.frc.org.uk. We have
noted the Code provisions below where the Group does not comply with the Corporate

Governance Code in full.

1. Principles A-E: Board leadership and Company purpose

The Board has delivered sustainable and
retiable growth since its admission to

trading an AlM. CaréTech has aimed to be

2 defensible stock even in difficult times and
has adopted a progressive dividend policy.
The Group has also had direct involvement
in-a-variety of community-based-programmes
further improving our corporate and services
reputation and helping to foster strengthened
relationships with commissioners.

CareTech’s key strategic priorities include
building the industry’s best leadership and
workforce, a continual focus on improving
the quality and scope of our Care Pathway
and accelerating digital adoption in UK social
care. Achieving these strategic priorities

will increase our market share and deliver
sharehalder value. The Board ensures that the
Group is appropriately funded to deliver its
strategy. The Board appreciates that effective
communication and engagement with the
Group's shareholders and the investment
community as a whole is a key objective.
The views of both institutional and private
shareholders are important. The Group
Executive Chairman has overall responsibility
for ensuring this communication is effectively
conveyed, and for making the Beoard fully
aware of key shareholders’ views, comments
and apinions.
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Contact with investars throughout the year
is @ priority and the Board strives to look
after their interests, General presentations to
major shareholders following the publication
of the Group's annual and interirm results are
conducted by the Group Executive Chairman

- and the Group Chief-Financial-Cfficer, as are -

regular meetings through the year with fund
managers and investment analysts.

Effective cammunication with employees and
cammissioners is also vital to the achievement
of the Group's strategy. The Group has a
number of initiatives and policies to engage its
employess through training and development,
supervision, recognition of achievement
through staff awards, staff engagement
surveys, the Staff Consultative Cormmittee

and development of a cornmunication

plan. The Board believe that its workforce
policies, including its in-house training and
HR systems support the Group's focus on

the provision of quality services and allow

for sustainable growth. The Board believe

the effectiveness of its staff engagement
procedures is reflected in its staff turnover
levels, which are below the industry average
and in the Group's quality ratings, which are
above the industry average. The Board also
believe the Group's business developrnent
and marketing function have established

strong relationships with commissioners and
actively strives to maintain these relationships.
Being a socially respansible organisation with
a focus on ethical standards aligned with
commercial objectives remains a care airm.
The Board believes that behaving respansibly
and maximisingthe-benefits of-a-strong
relationship with its stakeholders is an integral
part of a continuing process of building
long-term value.

The Group's framewaork of controls includes
identification and management of any
conflicts of interests. The Board follows
specific procedures to identify potential
confiicts of interest, including these in relation
to significant shareholders, Firstly, only
independent Directors {i.e. those that have

no interest in the matter under consideration)
are able to take relevant decisions. Secondly.
in taking the decgision the Directors must act
in a way they consider, in good faith, will be
most likely to promote the Group's success.
In addition, Directors can impaose limits or
conditions when giving authorisation if they
think this is appropriate. It remains the Board's
intention to report annually an the Campany’s
procedures for ensuring that the Board's
power of authorisation in respect to conflicts
is operated eftectively and that procedures
have been followed.



BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS

THE BOARD

The Board facuses primarily upon
strategic and policy issues, and is
TESpONSIBIE fo7:

— Leadership of the Group,

- Implementing and morstoring
effective controls to assess and
mmanage risk.

— Supporting the Group Executive

Team to formulate and execute
thEGroup s strategy.

= Monitoring the performance

ol the Group.

- Setting the Group's values

and standards.

The Board delegates matters toits four principal cammittees.

CARE QUALITY AND
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

— Professor Moira Livingston {Chair}

- Karl Monaghan
= Jarnie Cumrming

Pramates 7 culture of high-quality
and the safe care of service users.
Respansible far manitoring specific
non-financial risks and their
associated processes, palicles

and controls.

]

NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE

- Karl Managhan {Chaisj
— Professor Maira Livingston _
= Jarnie Cumming

Respansible far ensuring cur Baard
and its Committees have the right
palance of skills. knowledge and
experience and ensuring adequate
successton plans are in place.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

- Karl Monaghan {Chairl
- Professor Moira Livingsion
- Jamie Cumming

Resgonsible far reviewing and
reporting ta the Board on the
Group's financial reporting.
maintaining an apprapriate
relationship with the Group's
auditor and moenitoring the
internat control systems.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

— Jamie Cumming (Chais}
— Protessor Moira Livingston

- Karl Monaghar

The role of the Remureration
Committee includes details

of Directors’ rermuneration,
sharenoldings and share options
scheme information, A key Group
strategy is to altract and retain
talented and committed staff at
evary level of the business and the
Remuneration Committee aims ta
foster remuneration philosophy.
policies and procedures to
achieve this,

STAFF CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEE

Curing the financial year. CareTech established a Staff Consultative Committee
for the purpases af workfarce engagement in accordance with the
recarmmendations of the 2018 UK Carporate Gavernance Code.

Tne aim of the Staff Consultative Committee is to monitor and facilitate
workiorce engagement within the Group in order to foster a meaningful
dialcgue between the Board angd its ermployees. and the awareness of
employee matters will aic the Board's decision-making process.

GRCOUP EXECUTIVE TEAM

The Board deiegates the execution of the strategy and the day-to-day
management of the Group to the Group Executive Team. which cperates
under the direction and autherity of the Group CEC. The team genarally

meet once a month.

JONVNUIAOD
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BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

farouq Sheikh OBE
Group Executive Chairman

Haroon $Sheikh
BSc Group Chief

Christopher Dickinson
Chief Financial Officer

Aged 63 Executive Officer Aged 43
Aged 65
APPOINTED Founder Founder January 2020
SHILLS AND Farouq has been a key architect in Haroon is amongst the mast experienced Prior to joining CareTech, Chris was a
EXPERIENCE CareTech's growth, having co-faunded CEOs in the health and social care Managing Director at Jefferies where he
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the Group and been Involved in the vision
and strategy from the autset in 1993.
With a background in law and a good
understanding of Ainance and commerce.
Faroug has been instrurnental in securing
debt and equity funding for the Group as
well as leading the management team in
winning a number of long-term contracts
fram local authorities and health
commissioners,

Farouq is a leading business entrepreneur,
phitanthropist. and investor, and.has
initiated and overseen the successful
equity investments and the subseguent
exits for 3i Group PLC (in 1996 and 2002)
and Barclays Private Equity (in 2002 and
2005). His intimate knowledge of the
social care sector and his commercial
and negotiating expertise has guided

the Group's growth.

Faroug was honoured with an OBE in
2020 for his services to social care, and
has been presented with a numioer of
Entrepreneur of the Year awards by
prestigicus arganisations including
Laing and Buisson. Coutts Bank and
Ernst & Young. He also presents widely
at heslthcare conterences, raising
awareness of the specialist social

care sector.

As Patron and Enterprise Fellow of the
Prince’s Trust and a member of the
Mosaic National Advisory Board, Faroug
supparts young peopte by passing on his
experience to inspire the next generation
of entrepreneurs. He is a Founder Trustee
of the CareTech Charitable Foundation
tormed in 2017

* sector and one of the UK’s leading

entreprengurs and philanthropists. Along
with his brother Faraug, he co-founded
CareTech. As Group CEO he actively leads
the day-to-day running of the Group
and its international expansion, and has
been instrumental in assembling a highly
talented leadership team. to suppaort

the continued growth of the business,
Haroon brings commercial acumen,
related industry experience and property
knowledge. He has a deep commitment

-and-passion-for-delivering high-guality

care and support to people with
complex needs.

Haroon is Patron and Enterprise Fellow of
the Prince’s Trust and is a member of the
WK Advisory Council of the British Asian
Trust under the patronage of HRH The
Prince of Wales.

In 2008, Haroon and Farouq were
winners of the highly valued Coutts
Family Business Prize and widely
applauded for the quality and social
Integrity of the business they created.

In 2008, they were both finalists in the
Ernst & Young Entrepreneur of the Year
Awards and in 2016 they received the
Qutstanding Contribution Award at

the Laing & Buisson Annual Healthcare
Awards. In 2019, Haroon and Faroug were
winners of the ‘Asian Business of the Year"

Haroon, 2 graduate of the U niversity

of Londaon, is a Founder Trustee of the
CareTech Charitable Foundation formed
in 2017, and is Chairman of the Trustees,
warking closely with the Foundation’s
CEO and independent Trustees.

acted for the Group on its acquisition of
Cambian. Prior to Jefferies. Chris spent
14 years at ).P. Morgan advising on rmany
significant MEsA transactions and debt
and equity raises. Chrig is a chartered
accountant, having been admitted as a
member of the ICAEW in 2004 and as

a Fellow in 2014, and has a degree in
Computer and Management Science
from the University of Warwick.



COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP KEY

Mike Adams OBE

Executive Director
Aged 50

June 2010

Mike has a significant track record in

the sodial care, health and disabitity ™

sectors. He is CEQO of Purple Zest
timited, a Group disatility business,

and an Executive Director of Carelech.

In previous rotes he was Director

of the National Disability Teamn,
responsible for policy and practice

for disalted students in higher
education: Direcwar of Operations for
the Disability Rights Commission for
two years; and Chief Executive Officer
of ecdp. an Essex-based user-led
disability organisation. Mike spent
nine manths as acting Chair of Flarge
acute hospital trust in Essex and has
previously chafred an expert pane!

on Access to Work, the Government’s
flagship disabilily employment
pragramme. Mike has been awarded
ant Honarary Doctor of Education

for disability leadership from Anglia
Ruskin University.

Mike was honoured with an OBE in
2012 for his services to disability and
became a Trustee of the CareTech
Charitable Foundation in 2017.

Jamie Cumming Karl Monaghan

Non-Executive Director Non-Executive Director

Aged 71 Aged 59

BAEE 1] ¢ ] < F50 e —
March 2013 October 2005

Jamie joined the Board as a Non-
Executive Directar in 2013. Following

a long career in corparate advisory
znd broking in the City. including
acting as Chief Executive Officer of
N+1Brewin LLP. and latterly as Senior
Adviser ta Cantor Fitzgerald Europe,
Jamie has significant experience in
working with small and mid-sized UK
companies. Jamie currently utilises his
commercial experience in supporting
growth companies in non-executive
rales, is an associate af Ruffena Capital
and has qualified as a fellow of the
Chartered InstitUte of Secutities &
Investment.

Alter graduating from University
College Dublin with a Bachelor of
Commerce degree, Karl trained as

a chartered accountant with KPMG

in Dublin. He has worked in the
corporate finance departments

at a number of merchant banks

and stockbrokers, latterly at Credit
Lyannais Securities for seven years
and Robert W. Baird for two years until
June 2002. Karl set up Ashling Capital
LLP in December 2002 to provide
consultancy services to quoted

and private companies, He sits an a
HUmber of AlMquoted and private
company boards.

[ Care Quality and Governance Committee Nominations Committee [ Audit Committee 8 Remuneration Committee

Praf, Moira Livingston
Non-Executive Director

Aged 59 o
< [Z)]0) 2
m
-
=
May 2019 >
=z
(2]
m

Maira has been involved in heaith

~ and social care for 35 years. Moira

spent many years warking initially
as a Doclor in the field of older-age
psychiatry and latterly as a senior
clinical leader and manager in the
NHS

Maira has held 3 number of Director-
level leadership roles in the healthcare
sector. Moira has led national
programmes for the Department of
Health and was & specialist adviser
with the CQC, Maira is also a Non-
Executive Director-at-Leeds Teaching
Haospitals NHS Trust, where she is

a member of the Audit committee
and chairs the Quatity Assurance
Committee.
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The Directors attended the following meetings in the year to 30 Septernber 2021:

the further development of processes and
procedures for identifying. analysing and
managing the significant risks faced by the
Groug. During the year the Board undertoak
an in-depth assessment of the emerging and

principal risks facing the Group and specifically

those that might threaten the delivery of

its strategic business madel. These risks

have been discussed in the Strategic Report

on page 68 to 71. Processes have been

implemented during the year under review

Care Quality

Remuneration and Governance

Board Audit Commitlee Commitiee Commillee

{10 meetings) {2 meetings} (6 meetings) {4 meetings)

Farouq Sheikn O8E 10 - - _
Haraon Sheixh 10 - - -
Christopher Dickinson 10 2 G* -
Karl Monaghan 10 2 6 4
Mike Adams OBE 10 - - -
Jamie Curmming 10 2 3] 4
Prof, Moira Livingston . 10 _ 2 6 o 4

_.and up tc the date of approval of this

* By invitalion

At every board meeting the Board covers an
AlM-continuing obligations questionnaire and
declaration of connected party transacticns.
This sets the tone for corporate behaviour
and helps makes governance meaningful

and focused on improving the business

and protecting shareholder value.

Matters reserved for the Board

The Board delegates certain of its

responsibitities to Board committees,
individual-Directors or Executive-management- -
where appropriate. However, there are certain
matters that are considered to be so important
to the long-term success of the Group that

they are reserved to the Board for specific
consideration and decision including:

Financial reporting and controls including
statutory matters such as the approval of
final and interim financia! statements and
dividend declarations.

Board membership and other senior,
key personnel, appointments,

Review of corporate governance
arrangemenits.

Group strategy matters including the
approval of annual budgets, acquisitions
and disposals,
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- Review of the prccesses for monitoring
and evaluating risk and the effectiveness
of the Group's system of internal contral

and operaticnal efficiency.

Review and supervision of treasury and
financial policies.

— Shareholder communications.

How do we manage our internal
controls and risks?

The Board is ultimately responsible for the,
Group's system of internal cantrals and

for reviewing its effectiveness. The role of
management is to implermert Board policies
on risk and control. The systermn of internal
controls is designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of fallure of the achievement
of business objectives. In pursuing these
objectives, internal controls can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement ar loss.

The recent challenging business climate has
resulted in a sustained focus on the approach
to risk. The Directors consider robust risk
management to be crucial to the Group's
success and give a high priority to ensuring
that adeguate systems are in place to evaluate
and limit risk exposure. They have overseen

Annuval Report and Financial Statements.
The processes and procedures are regularly
reviewed by the Board.

A process of control and hierarchical reporting
provides for a documented and auditable

trail of accountability. These procedures are
relevant across all Group operations and they
provide for successive assurances to be given
at increasingly higher levels of management
and, finally, to the Board.

How do we deal with conflicts of
interest?

Foliowing amendments to the Company's
Articles-of-Association-in 2008 to reflect
certain provisions of the Companies Act 2006
relating to canflicts of interest that came

into force on 1 October 2008, the Board will
follow a specific procedure when deciding
whether to authorise a conflict or potential
conflict of interest. Firstly, only independent
Directors {i.e, those that have no interest in
the matter under consideration) will be able to
take the relevant decision. Secandly, in taking
the decision the Directors must actin a way
they consider, in good faith, will be most likely
to promote the Group's success. In addition,
the Directors will be able to impose limits or
conditions when giving authorisation if they
think this is appropriate. It remains the Board's
intention ta report annually on the Group's
procedures for ensuring that the Board's
power of authorisation in respect of conflicts
Is operated effectively and that procedures
have been followed.



Shareholder engagement

Through presentations and regular meetings
between the Executive Directors, analysts

and institutional shareholders, including those
following the announcemenits of the Group's
annual and irterim results, the Board seeks ta
understand the objectives of our shareholders.

Copies of the Annual Report and Financial
Statements are issued to all sharehoiders

where requested and copies are available
on_the Group's website (www.caretech-uk

A full version of cur Anti-Stavery and
Trafficking Statement can be found on
our website.

Anti-bribery and corruption

The Group maintains a policy for anti-
bribery and corruption and has a zero
tolerance towards such activities, and requires
compliance with the laws of the UK, including
the Bribery Act 2010 in respect of Group
conduct both in the UK and overseas.

corm). The Group also uses its website to
provide information to shareholders and other
interested parties. The Caompany Secretary
deals with correspondence as and when it
arises throughaut the year.

Further detalls on the Group's engagement
with shareholders is contained in the 5172
statement on page 52.

Workforce policies and practices

Our reputation for acting responsibly plays
a critical role in the Group's success as a
business and aur ability to generate value
for shareholders, We maintain high ethical

conduct-that is reflected-in-poticies-that-are -~

embedded across the Group including the
Madern Slavery Act, and anti-bribery and
corruption policy.

Modern Slavery Act 2015

The Modern Slavery Act 2015 came into force
in October 2015 consolidating legislation
surrounding modern slavery and human
trafficking. We have a zero-tolerance approach
towards modern slavery or human trafficking
across ail areas of our business including in
our supply chain and are commitied to acting
ethicatly and with integrity throughout all of
our dealings.

We aim ta wark in partnerships with all of
our contractors. suppliers and other business
partners to ensure that they share and work
towards the same values we hold against
slavery and human trafficking.

Internally we cperale a sutte of policies that
are embedded into our culture and help
gaovern our activities. Examples of these
include:

- Code of Conduct Policy, which sets out
the behaviours we expect of our staff
when acting for the Group.

— Recruitment Policy, all of UK employees
are recruited after a rabust recruitment
process in line with UK employment iaws
and are required to undertake appropriate
Disclosure and Batring Service checks.

Whistleblawing Policy, we want staff

to feel confident and empowered to

raise anyissues-or-concerns-and-have

a whistleblowing policy in place. Qur
whistlebtowing palicy felptine is managed
by a third-party provider. enabling staff ta
raise concerns about issues of safety or
wrongdoeing. anonymously if necessary.
All such concerns received throligh

the helpline are sent to the Head of
Compliance for review, and to ensure that
they are appropriately investigated and
concluded. The Board is provided with
updates on material whistleblowing events
as they are reported from time to time

to the Executive Leadership Team.

We also continue to regularly moniter the
risks we face. All risks are reviewed by either
aur Audit Committee ar our Care Quality and
Governance Commiitiee.

General Data Protection Regulations
{'GDPR)

We take our responsibilities as a data
controlier/processor very seriously and are
committed to operating within the baundaries
of any necessary data security regulations

to include the Data Protection Act. We are
conversant with the requirements of both

the GOPR and the Data Protection Bill and

are constantly updating our Information

2}

Governance praclices. 2
N m

2. Principles: F~1: Division of 2
responsibilities z
Ultimate responsibility for the management a

of the Group rests with the Board of Directors.
Details of the Board are set out on pages 78
to 79,

The Boara focuses primarily upon strategic
and policy issues and is responsible for:
— Leadership of the Group.

-~ Implementing and monitoring effective
controls to assess and manage risk.

- Supporting the senior leadership team to

formulate_and execute the Group's strategy. .

— Manitaring the performance of the Group.
- Setting the Groups’ values and standards.

The Board consists of three independent
Non-Executive Directors ard faur Executive
Direciors. The Board does not currently
camply with provisian 2.11 of the UK
Corporate Governance Code and this

is under review.

Business review meetings are held monthly
with attendance of Executive Directors at
these meetings. These meetings provide the
Executive Directors with a comprehensive
understanding of the current performance

of. and the key issues affecting, the Group's
operaticns. The Board also visits sites and have
continued to do this virtually during COVID-19.
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Detailed briefing papers containing financial
and operational summaries and an agenda
are provided to the Directors in advance of
each Board, Committee or business review
meeting. The Nirectars are able to seek
further clarification and information on any
matter from any other Director, the Company
Secretary or any other employee of the Group
whenever necessary.

The Cempany Secretary is responsible for
advising and supporting the Group Executive

Farouq Sheikh OBE Is responsible for:

- The effective running of the Board.

- Prompting high standards of Corporate
Governance.

- Ensuring Board agendas take full account
of relevant issues and Board members’
concerns.

- Ensuring the Directors receive accurate ang
timely information.

Farouq Sheikh OBE is the co-founder of

Group Chief Financiat Officer

Christopher Dickinsan is accountable to the
Board for all financial matters and responsible
for:

— Preparation and integrity of financial
information.

- Operating effective systems of risk
management and control.

- Developing and imglementing the
financial strategy and policies.

Chiairitian-arid the Board ohcorporate
governance matters as well as assisting the
Group Executive Chairman in ensuring a
smooth flow of information to enable effective
decision-making. Alt Directors have access

to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary and, through him, have access to
independent professional advice in respect

of their duties, at the Group's expense. The
Company Secretary. supported by the Group
Company secretariat. acts as secretary to

the Board, the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee.

The Group provides its Directors and officers

with the benefit of appropriate insurance.

which is renewed annually.
The Directors’ biographies appear on pages 78

to 79 and detail their experience and suitability
for leading and managing the Group.

The roles and responsibilities of certain
members of the Board and Company
Secretary are explained and their respective
responsibilities summarised below,

Group Executive Chairman

As Group Executive Chairman. Faroug Sheikh
OBE leads the Board and is responsible for
its effective running.

Farouq Sheikh OBE leads the Company's
strategic development and takes a special
responsibility in respect of acquisitions and
irnvestor retations.

82

the Group and is integral to its success and
growth. Whilst, the Group Executive Chairman
is not independent and therefore currently
does not comply with provisicn 2.9, the Board
believe Farouq Sheikh, as co-founder, provides
etfective leadership in directing the Group and
facilitates a culture of openness ang debate.

Group Chief Executive Officer

Haroon Sheikh is the Group CEQ and
accountable to the Board for the day-to-day
running of the Group and management of
the strategic plan.

Haroon Sheikh is responsible for the following:

"~ "Executive leadérship of the Group's ™

pusiness on a day-to-day basis.

- Developing the overall commercial
objectives, and propesing and developing
the strategy in conjunction with the Board
as a whaole.

- Responsibility, together with the senior
management team, for the execution
of the strategy and implementaticn of
Board decisiaons.

— Recommendations on senior appointments
and development of the management
tearn.

— Ensuring that the affairs of the Group are
conducted with the highest standards of
integrity, probity and corporate governance.

Executive Director

Mike Adams OBE, Executive Director, is

a champicn of disability and the needs

of disabled people: adding to the Board

a wealth of knowledge around the sectar
with responsibility for policy and practice.

In addition, Mike is CEO of Purple Zest
Limited, a disabitity business wholly owned
by the Group, which supports both disabled
people and businesses.

Non-Executive Directors

Collectively. the Non-Executive Directors
bring a valuable range of expertise and
experience in assisting the Group to achieve _
its strategic aims and provide constructive
challenge and strategic guidance. In the
furtherance of their duties, all Directors are
able o take independent professional advice
at the expense of the Group and those
newly-appointed are made aware of their
responsibilities by the Company Secretary.
The Board approves the appointment and
rermaoval of the Company Secretary.

The Non-Executive Directors comprise Jamie
Cumming, Karl Monaghan and Professor
Moira Livingston and are considered to be
independent. Although Karl Monaghan has
served on the Board for more than nine
years, the Board are satisfied that there are

no matters which affects the independence
of his judgement and as such Karl continues
tc act independently.



The Non-Executive Directors are responsible
for:

Caonstructively challenging the Executive
Directors and supporting the Groug to
develop its strategy.

Satisfying themselves as to the integrity of
the financial information and that there are
effective systems of risk management and
financial control.

Chairing andfor serving on relevant
Cammittegs—

3. Principles: J-L: Composition,
succession and evaluation

Matters are delegated to Board Committees,
individual Directors or Executive management
where appropriate. To date. given the stage of
the Group's development, it has been felt the
functions of 3 Nominations Commitiee can
be adequately fulfiled by deliberation of the
full Board: this will nevertheless be kept under
review (non-compliant with 317 and 3.23
of the Corporate Governance Code 2018).

Senior Independent Non-Executive Director

Acting as a sounding board for the Group
Execuiive Chairman.

Availabte to shareholders if they have
concerns which ¢annot be resolved
through the Group Executive Chairman
or other executive management.

Acting as an intermediary for the Directors
where necessary.

Corporate governance framework and
terms of reference

The Board has an overarchirtg corporate

governance framewark o-ensure- continued -

alignment of the Board and Committee
members roles and division of responsibitities,
Each member of the Board is provided with a
copy of the Company's corporate governance
framewaork, which they review, discuss and
update reguiarly. Each of the Committees
have thair owr written terrms of reference.,
The Company Secretary supports the
Committees in updating these terms of
reference in order to comply with the

Code and other good corporate practice,

WHen the néed foF agditional NG -EXECat|
Directors are identified, the Board appoimts
advisers to nominate experienced relevant
and appropriste candidates. Currently Board
members meet the candidates and come to
a caollective view on appaintments.

Currently 3\l Directors are required to submit
themnselves for re~-election at least every
three years {non-cormpliant with 3.18 of the
Corporate Gaovernance Code 2018) and
new Directors are subject to election by
shareholders at the first opportunity
follewing their appointment.

Whilst the performance of each of the
Directors is kept-under review. na formal
evaluation is currenty condugled by the
Group. The Board does not believe the
requirement is commensurate with the size
and nature of the business but is aware that
this does not comply with the Cade provision

5.21~3.22 and will therefore keep under review.

CareTech is committed to develaping a
working environment and culture that
promotes fairness and inclusivity. We launche
our Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Programme
with wark now underway to embed this

into practices and culture. We initiated the

inaugural Staff Consultative Compmittee during

this period with representation from across
the grganisation to focus on the staff voice
and workforce matters with this engagement
shaping our People Strategy.

\Ts___stra tegy.toensure the Board.composition.and.

The Board maintains regular focus on
succession planning for both Board and
senior leadership roles. During the year,

the Board has considered the desired skilis,
persanal attributes and experience thal would
be of benefit to the Board in future Non-
Executive Directors. A number of members
of the Executive Commitiee have attended a
number of Board meetings at which they have
presented their respected strategies. We will
continue to review our suceession planning

that of the Group Executive team reflects and
aligris with the needs of the business.

4, Provisions M-0: Audit, risk and
internal control

The Board has established an Audit
Committee comprising Karl Monaghan
{Chairman), Professor Moira Livingston and
Jamie Cumming. The Group Chief Financial
Otficer and representatives of the external
auditor attend meetings by invitation as
required,

The Cornmittee meets at least twice aach
year and receives regorts from the Groug's
management and external auditor relating

to the annual and interim accounts and the
accounting and internal controt systems
throughout the Group. The Cammittee has
direct and unrestricted access (o the external
auditor and reviews all services being provided
by them to evaluate their independence and
objectivity, taking inta cansideration relevant
professional angd regulatory requirements in

d order to ensure that said independence and

objectivity are hot impaired by the provision
of permissible, non-audit services. The
Committee has carefully considered the ievel
ot non-audit services and has concluded that
this does not impact on the independence of
the auditors.

83

AOD

IDNYNHUT




CareTech Heldings PLC / Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Corporate Governance Report continued

The Board, as advised by the Audit Committee,
is ultimately respeonsible for the Group's risk
management policy and system of internal
controls and for reviewing its effectiveness.
The role of maneyement is 10 iImplement
Board policies on risk management and
control. The system of internal centrols is
designed 1o manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure of the achievement of business
objectives. In pursuing these objectives.
internal controls can only provide reasanable

and not an absolute assurance against material

The processes used by the Board to review the
effectiveness of the system of internal controls
include the following:

- Annudl budgets are prepared for each
operating business. Monthly management
reparting focuses on actual performance
against these budgets for each operating
business.

- Management reports and externai audit
reports on the systermn of internal contrals
and any material control weaknesses that

— Reports from management on significant
matters are reviewed and challenged, and
the impact on the financial statements
and the stalulory audit are considered.

In the year, going concern ang viability
statement, impairment of assets and
control assessment have been reviewed.

The Group continues to review its system of
internal controls to ensure compliarice with
best practice and Code guidance, whilst also
having regard to our size and the resources

misstaternent or loss.

The Directors consider robust risk
management to be crucial to the Group's
success and give a high priority to ensuring
that adequate systermns are in place to evaluate
and limit risk exposure. They have overseen
the further development of processes and
procedures for identifying, analysing and
managing the significant risks faced by the
Group. Risks facing the Group are described
on pages 68 to 71 in this report. These
processes have been implemented during
the year under review and Up to the date of

- approval of this Annual Report and Financial

Statements. The processes and_procedures—
are regularly reviewed by the Board and the
Audit Committee,

A process of control and hierarchical reporting
provides for a documented and auditable

trail of accountability. These pracedures are
relevant across all Group operations; they
provide for successive assurances to be given
at increasingly higher levels of management
and. finally, to'the Board.

The new General Data Protection Regulations
have changed how the Group manages,
protects and administers data. A team of
Senior Managers are responsible for how

data flows in and out, and where it is stored
throughout the Group.
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are identified.

— The whistleblowing helpline is managed
by a third-party provider, enabling staff to
raise cancerns they may have about issues
at safety or wrongdoing, anonyrmously
if necessary. All such concerns received
through the helpline are sent ta the Head
of Compliance for review, and ta ensure
that they are appropriately investigated
and concluded.

~ Discussions with management including
those on the actions taken on problem
areas identified by the Board members
or in the externat audnrt reporlts.

- ‘Policies and procedures-for such matters -
as delegation of authorities, capital
expenditure and treasury management
as well as regular updates.

— Review of the adequacy of the level
of experienced and professicnal staff
throughout the Group and the expertise
of individual staff members so that they
are capable of carrying out their individual
delegated responsibilities.

— Review of the external audit work plans.

- Audit Comrmittee receive the audit report
and discusses the impact in the meetings
of the Board.

— Audit Committee review APMs to ensure

it is easy for investars, analysts and other
stakeholders to understand our business.

understanding of our internal contrals for
the purposes of forming their audit opinion
as set out on pages 102 to 113. No significant
deficiencies in our internal controls were
reported by our external auditor in the course
of their external audit. The Committee,

taking into account the current nature of

the operations and the experience and skill
of the management team, believes that
management is able to discharge their duties
in the management of the Group without the
need for an internal Audit function. This matter
will continue to be actively reviewed by the
Committee.

The Group has in place a whistleblowing
policy which sets out the formal pracess by
which an employee of the Group may, in
confidence, raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting or other
matters. Any material whistleblowing matters
in relation to financial reporting are on the
Committee’s agenda, During the year, there
were no rajor incidents for cansideration.

available. The external auditor obtained an



5. Provisions P~R: Remuneration

The composition and role of the
Remuneration Committee is set out in the
Remuneration Report on pages 92 to 94.
Also detailed in that report are Directors’
remuneration, shareholdings and share
options s¢cheme information,

The composition and role of the
Remuneration Cammitiee includes detaiis
of Directors’ remuneration, shareholdings
and_shnare_opticns.scheme.information

The Graup therefore sets out to provide
cornpetitive remuneration to all its emnployees,
appropriate to the business environment in
the market in which it operates. To achieve
this, the remuneration package is based

upon the following princigles:

— Total rewards should be set i provide a fair
and attractive remurieration package.

- Appropriate elements af the remunergtion
package should be designed to reinforce
the link between performance and reward,

A key Group strategy is to attract and retain
talented and committed staff at every level
of the organisation and the Remuneration
Committee aims to foster remuneration
philasophy, policies and procedures to
achieve this.

The Group operates in a highly competitive
enviranment. For the Group to continue to
compete successfuily, it is essential that the
level of remuneration and benefits offerad
achieve the Objectives of attracting, retaining,
maotivating and rewarding the necessary high
calibre of individuals at all levels across the
Group. In Novernber 2020, AON MHewiltt were

commissioned to prepare-a-benchmarking - -—

report which has been used to provide

a useful analysis of the market for each
elerment of pay. The Group therefore sets
out to provide competitive remuneration to
all its employees, appropriate to the business
environment in the market in which it
operates. To achieve this, the remuneration

package is based upon the foltowing principles

- total rewards should be set to provide a
fair and attractive remuneration package —
appropriate elements of the remuneration
package should be desighed to reinforce
the link between performance and reward;
and Executive Directors’ incantives should
be aligned with the interests of sharehalders.
The rermuneration strategy is designed to be

in line with the Group’s fundamental values of

fairness, competitiveness and to suppert the

Group’s corporate strategy. A cohesive reward

structure consistently applied and with links
to corporate performance. is seen as critical
in ensuring attainment of the Group's
strategic goals,

. — Executive Directors’ incentives should be

aligned with the interests of sharenolders.

The Remuneration Committee’s principal
duties are to review the scale and structure
of the remuneration and service contracis {or
Executive Directors and Senior Management
and it also agministers the Company's share
option schemes, The Committee takes

into consideration ESG issues in relation

to corparate performance, when setting

the remuneration of Executive Directors

and takes steps to ensure that the incentive
structure for Senior Management does not
raise £SG risks by inadvertently motivating
irresponsible behaviour The rermuneration
far Non-Executive Directors is set by the

full Board on the recommandation of the
Executive Directors. In line with the UK
Corporate Governance Cade, rermuneration
for Non-Executive Directors does not include
share opticns ar other performance-reiated
etements.

Pensions for Executive Directors gre based
on their basic salary but pension contribution
rates are not aligned with those available to
the workforce.

By order of the Board

Farouq Sheikh OBE
Group Executive Chairman
6 December 2021
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Care Quality and Governance Committee

Delivering the highest standards of education,
support and care and striving to centinually
improve the outcomes for children, young
people and adults is the golden thread linking
the Board to our front-line services.

Ambition

Though COVID-19 has continued to impact
on all of our activities, we remain committed
to becoming the highest quality provider

of care, education and therapeutic support

Professor Moira Livingston
Chair of the Care Quality and
Governance Committee

"Quality is defined
by the level of
service we deliver
and the outcomes
we achieve for
chitdren, young
people and adults
and the Group
as a whole.”

a6

2nd line = Quality monitoring
and independent visiting

Qur guality improvernent team oversee

our policies and procedures, performance
KPls, our Dynamic Line of Sight {DyLOS),
improverment prograrmme. data analysis and
our independent visiting contract {delivered
through the NYAS. Further we operate a
programme of site visits by our Non-Executive
members of our Care Quality and Governance
Committee with the collective learning being

across the UK and internationally_We provide o q packto-aperationat-practice-

services to over ¢.5,000 adults and children
across over 550 locations. We wark with
the majority of cornmissioners in England,
Scotland and Wales, and have begun to
engage with international markets. We
employ approximately 11.000 people.

Gur mission is to provide every sarvice
user with Extraordinary Days, Every Day.

Quality framework

Cuality is assured through a ‘three-line
of defence’ framewaork.

1st line — Qur operational team

- -Each part-of-the-Group-has-a-clear operating

model. Qur Head of Children’s Services and
Head of Adult Services each line manages

a number of Managing Cirectors who each
hold accountability and responsibility for the
day-to-day performance of their portfolia of
services, fach Managing Director leads a team
of site managers, regional/locality managers
and operations directors. Qur approach is

to embed quality throughout the Group’s
operations and employ well-gualified and
skilled professionals who operate within a
quality framework.

3rd line — Compliance and regulation

Qur experienced internal compliance and
regulation team operates across all divisions,
reporting to our Group Executive Director

— Compliance. The tearn undertakes a
programme of regular service inspections and
thematic reviews, assessing against an internal
quality assurance framework.

These three lines of defence form our quality
framework which aims to ensure the Group
operates to the highest professional standards.

Strategic cversight of the quality of our
services s provided by_our independent Care
Quality and Governance Committee. The
Committee has oversight of all aspects of
care, safety and service-user wellbeing.

Regulatory data and performance

Whilst the majority of our Group's 550+
sarvices are located in England, we also have
a strong presence within Scotland and Wales,
As such we operate under a number of
different regulators.

We continue to work closely with our
regulators and commissioners across England,
Scotland and Wales. in addition ta localised
links with inspectors, we have held meetings
with senior leaders from our two main
regulators — CQC and Ofsted, to review the
performance of our portfolio. In addition,
during 202t we have shared and discussed
our approach to managing COVID-13.



Cur Adults Services and a small number of
our Children’s Services residential and college
portfolio are regulated by the CQC who
assess the services against approved essential
standards of quality and safety. The regulators
test and publicly record whether services are
compliant or nan-compliant against those
standards.

Adults Services in Wales are regulated under
different national legistation and are not
currently rated on any form of scale,

cQc

We have 162 CQC-registered services, of
which 159 have been graded. The statistics
below show that we continue to operate
above the national averages for the Adult
social care sector.

Qver the last four years we have consistently
operated above national average ratings for
the Adult care sector. Whilst the impact of
COVID-19 on our capacity to provide excellent
services, cannck be over-stated, we continue

During 2020/21 the Committee met four
tirmes to provide oversight and assurance on
the quality strategy, quality standards, safety
ang comptiance of the Group on behalf of
the Board. In addition 1o standard business, as
with previous years the Committee has invited
operational directors to attend and present
on topics ranging from restraint reduction
strategy, safequarding deep dive and clinical
governance strategy.

Throughout 2020/21 we continued 1o deliver

though all are compliant.

The Foster Care services in England are
regulated by Ofsted and 100% services are
rated Good.

In Wales, the services are regulated by the
Care lnspectorate Wales {CiW'} and are
not currently rated on any form of scale.

The Care Inspectorate of Scotland who
regulate both Adults and Children’s Services
have the majority of the Group's rated
residential services as Excellent or Very Good
for both the established services and the
acquired services in Scotland.

Reguladtars in England, STotland and Wilés
have worked to an amended regulatory
programme from October 2020 to April 2821,
There were few service inspections and a
focus on remote/desk top assessmernts for
mast Adults and Children's services.

From Aprit 2021, 2 more regular programme
of inspection was reinstated by CQC and
Ofsted but with a continued focus on services
that had not had external inspection during
tha previous year or services where there was
information (o indicate potential compliance
CONCErSs.

The CQC have introduced aspects of their
new three-year strategy that sees a more
flexible and agile approach to inspection
and regulation. This will potentially see
more frequent changes in service ratings

to out-perform the national average with
86% of services rated Good/Outstanding.

Ofsted

The majority of cur Children's Services are
regulated by Ofsted in England and these
services are rated as Qutstanding, Good,
Requires Improvement or Inadequate.

We have 232 Ofsted registered services.
Qur Group's blended position is 80% Good
ar Qutstanding in line with national averages.

Quality governance and strategy
The Care Quality and Governance Commitiee

.- —is chaired by Professor-Maoira Livingston and

has continued to meet through 2020/21.

The terms of reference and membership of
the Committee were reviewed in the summer
of 2021 to reflect changes at the Executive
team and to recognise in particular the quatity
thermne on Clinical Governance. Membership is
now Karl Monaghan and Jamie Cumming as
NEDs, and Amanda Sherlock. Group Executive
Drrector ~ Compliance.

The purpose of the Committee is to lead the
development of the Group's qualily stzategy
and be responsible for the strategic oversight
and assurance of care standards across the
Group. In particular, to hold the Executive

to account for the governance, risk and
assurance process in place to identify, mitigate
and manage nsk and ta maintain and improve
the quality and safety of Group services.

tpon our existing programme of gquality
improverment, Key achievernents, set out
by current workstreams are as follows:

Woaorkstream 1: Child, young person and
adult-centred outcomes -

— Trained staff and continued the
implementaticn of Mind of My Own [Voice
of the Chilg] acrass every Children’s service,

— Trained staff across our Children’s specialist
mental health services in our chosen
outcome framework [CANS'} and began
the implementation,

Workstrearn 2: Improving quality standards,
palicies-and-procedures--

— Implemented our corporate policy review
cycle and reviewed key policies.

— Commenced an audit of our existing
suite of policies with plans to identity kay
carporate policies that can operate acrass
the whole of CareTech.

- Developed and maintained a suite of
COVID-19 related policies to provide clear
guidance throughout the pandemic.
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Care Quality and Governance Committee continued

Workstream 3: Recruitment, retention and
development of skilled professionals

- Implemented cur new safer recruitment
policy.

- Supervision process being integrated
into ocur Myrus system.

Workstrearmn 4: Quality monitoring and
assurance

- Quality framework operating across our
CQC and Children’s residential services.

Workstream 7: Strong and robust site
ta Board governance

- New Clinical Governance Committee
launched.

QOur commitment to improving quality

Building ©n cur existing quality framewaork
programme, the three lines of gefernce
framework, and recognising the evolving
shape of our Group service portfolio, we have
established five key quality and compliance

Our existing seven quality improvement
workstreams will realign to these five pricrities
as we mave forward and we will report on
progress under these five headings going
forward.

We are committed to this journey of
impravement and our aspiration to become
the highest quality provider in our sector.

1 hutgh

— DylLOS operational across 75% of cur
portfolio with remaining sites going live
before the end of 2021.

Workstream 5: Embedding a culture of
continuous improvement

- Quality Improverment Plans {'QLP') format
refreshed and being implemented across
all Children's Services sites,

- Responsible Individual Forum has met three
times across 2021 independently chaired
with new Rl competency framework
launched.

- Safeguarding Boards opeérating across

residential.

- New PMO function launched in Quality
Improvernent team.

Workstream 6: Management Information
Systems {'MIS’) enabling data-informed
practice and decision-making

— New MIS {Behaviour Watch) implemented
across all CareTech schogls with phase 1
focusing upon incident management and
safequarding.

—~ MIS {Charms) implemented across our
Fostering business.

- CareTech KPI preparation completed with
launch expected before the end of 2021.
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“Edication, Fosteringand Children's =~~~

thernes to guide our priories.

1. Review and re-set of our quality strategy
and Group quality objectives

2. Implementation of a Group-wide Clinical
Governance Framework

3. Review and development of cur approach
to corporate risk and Board assurance

4, Becoming an apen, just and learning
crganisation

5. Improving our incident and safeguarding
management

The five themes” enable a clear {ine of sight

“for the Board and Executive to monitor key

quality projects and programmes that have
the maximum impact on delivering our quality
ambition.

The Group have invested further in both

its internal compliance resource but also
creating a new Executive rale to drive quality
improvement. Working with our operationat
teams, independent visitor programme for
Children's services and with regulators, we
have moved to an approach to quality that
goes ‘beyond ratings’ and puts perscnalisation
and outcomes for individuals at the heart of
cur approach,

Professor Maira Livingston
Nan-Executive Director
6 December 2021



Directors’ Report

The Directars present their Report and the
audited Group Financial Statements for the
year ended 30 Saptember 2021

Principal activities

The principal activity of the Group is the
provision of high-quality support and care for
individuais who often have complex needs,

Business review and future
developrments

~—————TFheresul{s-forthe-financiatyearended

30 september 2021 are set outin the
consolidated statement of comprehensive
incorme detailed on pages 115 to 116. Revenue
for the year amount to £489.1m, operating
profit for the year before non-underiying items
amounted to £80.5m and operating profit
after non-underlying itemns amounted

to £73.5m,

The information that fulfils the requirements
of the business review, in¢luding details of
the 2021 resuylts, key performance indicators,
principal risks and uncertainties and the
outlook for future years, is set out in the
Group Executive Chairman’s Statement
“Tlpages 147(6717), the Grolip CHIEFEXecutive’s
Statement and Performance Review (pages
20 to 25), the Strategic Report [pages 1 to 75}
and the Group Financial Review (pages 72

o 75) including Key Performance Indicators
{pages 43 to 45) and Principal Risks and our
Strategic Response (pages 68 to 71).

Key risks and uncertainties

There are 2 number of risks and ungertainties
which could impact on the Group's long-
term performance. These are set outin the
Strategic Report on pages 68 to 71

Empioyee engagement

Details in relation to ernployment policies,
employee involvement, development,
together with details of some of the human
resource improvement initiatives implemented
during the year and priorities for the year
2021/22 are shown in the Strategic Repart,

all of which are incorporated by reference
into this Directors’ Repaort.

Business relationships

[JETEIE Of tRe (Toups COMMIRSIORErs, semice  orectoryname -

users, regulatars and suppliers, and how

we engage with them are described in the
Strategic Report, all of which are incorporate
by reference into the Directors’ Report.

Environmentat

The Group is committed to developing 2
busiriess that is built on the foundations of
responsibility. In 2021, we developed our new
Responsibility Strategy — CARE4, which is set
out on page 10.

Details of the Group’s Greenhouse gas
emissions and the methodology used to

calculate such emissions are set oyt on

page 55 which is incorporated by reference
inte this Directors’ Report.

Dividends

Dividends of £14.4m nave been pald during
the year, The Directors propose a final
dividend of $.5p per share {2020 8.75p)
subject to the approval 2t the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting.

Share listing

The Grougp's Ordinary Shares are admitted to
and traded on AlM, a market operated by the
London Stock Exchange. Further information
regarding the Group's share capital, including

movements during the year, are set out in note

26 1o the financial statements.

Directors

The narmes of the current Directors together
with brief biographical details are shown on
pages 78 to 79,

In accordance with the Articles of Association,
Jamie Cumming retirgs by rotation and, being
eligible, will offer himself for ra-election.

The names of all Directars who held coffice
in the year are as follows.

-
Titfe:

Faroug Sheikh QBE Group Executive Chairman

Haroon Sheikh
Christopher Dickinson

Group Chief Executive Officer

Group Chief Financial Ofticer

Mike Adams QBE Executive Director

Karl Monaghan Non-Executive Director

Jamie Cumming Non-Executive Director

Protessor Maira

Livingston Non-Executive Director

The terms of the Directors’ service contracts
and detaills of the Directors’ interests in the
shares of the Group, tagether with details of
share options granted and any other awards
made to the Directors, are disclosed in the
Remuneration Repart.commencing on
page 92.

Directors’ insurance

The Company maintains apprapriate Directars’
and Gfticers’ liability insurance, as permitted
by the Companies Act 2006.
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Directors’ Report continued

Share capital
Substantial shareholdings

As at & December 2021, being the date of
the preliminary results annauncement. the
Group had been notified of, or was otherwise
aware of, the following substantial interests
of 3% or more in the Crdinary Share capital
of the Group. other than those in respect

of the Directors which are set out in the
Remuneraticn Report on page 99.

Employees

The Directors recagnise the benefits which
arise from keeping employees informed of the
Group's progress and plans and through their
participation in the Group's perfermance. The
Groug is therefore committed to providing its

employees with information on a reqular basis,

to consulting with them on a reguiar basis

50 that their views and/or concerns may be
taken into account in taking decisions which
may affect their interests, and to encouraging

Authority to allot shares

Pursuant to resolutions approved at the
Annual General Meeting on 9 March 2021
the Directors were granted authority to allot
shares with an aggregate nominal value of up
to the value of one third of the share capital
of the Group.

Resolutions for the renewal of the above

will be proposed at the farthcoming Annual
General Meeting and also a resciution to give
the Directars authority to allot eguity securities

Noof

Crdinary
Sharesof  Percentage
0.5p %
Liontrust Asset Mgmt 16,786,870 14.8
Lombard Odier Asset Mgt 13.031.755 11,5

Canaccord Genuity

Wealth Mgmt 11.500.268 10.2
Kempen Capital Mgmt 9.082.784 80
Mr Richard Griffiths 5.831.945 5.2

Capital structure

As at 30 September 2021, the Group had
113,327,459 issued Ordinary Shares of
0.05p each. The Company has, and as
at 30 September 2021, had. one class of

Ordinary Shares and each SR3FE carriés the ™

right to one vote at General Meetings of the
Group and to participate in any dividends
declared in accordance with the Articles

of Association. No person has any special
rights of control over the Group's share
capital.

Financial instruments

The Group is exposed to a combination

of price, credit, interest rate and cash flow
risks. The Group uses financial instruments
including cash, borrowings and interest rate
swaps, the main purpose of which are to
raise finance for the Group's activities and
1o manage interest rate risks. Discloswes in
respect of these instruments are set out in
note 29 to the financial statements,

50

their participation-in-sehernes-through-which
they will benefit from the Group’s progress
and profitability. The Group aims to foster a
working environment in which all employees
are treated with courtesy and respect and
seeks at all times to provide opportunities

to develop and reach their fuli potential.

The Group established Sharesave share aption
schemes for eligible empioyees in both 2016,
2017 and 2020, details of which can be found
in note 25 along with options remaining on
previous schemes. The Board feels that share
ownership among employees fosters team
spirit and motivation and will contribute to

the ultimate success of the Group.

It is the Group's policy to ensure that disabled
persons are treated fairly and consistently

in terms of recruitment, training, career
development and promatian and that their
employment opportunities should be based
on a realistic assessment of their aptitudes
and abilities. Wherever possibie, the Group
will continue the employment of persons who
become disabled during the course of their
ermployment through retraining, acquisition of
special aids and/or equipment or the provision
of suitable alternative employment.

for cash to the holders of Qrdinary Shares as
the Directors may determine on the register
on a fixed record daie in proportion {as nearly
as may be) to their respective shareholding

or in accordance with the rights attached
thereto. Further details of which. together with
explanations of the resolutions to be proposed
at the meeting, appear in the ‘Notice of AGM
and explanatory circular to shareholders’
which will be sent to shareholders in good
time prior to the meeting.

Post balance sheet events
On 19 November 2021, an interim dividend

On 29 November 2021, Smartbox Holdings
Ltd (‘'Smartbox) announced the acquisition
of REHAVISTA and its subsidiary company
LogBUK, REHAVISTA is Germany's largest
provider of augmentative and alternative
communication (AACT) products and
services. LogBUK is a subsidiary company to
REHAVISTA. providing independent speech
and language therapy to help AAC users
achieve the best outcomes through specialist
clinical support. Smartbox paid €10m in cash
on completion, funded by the Group's debt
facility and post cormpletion, CareTech will
own B3 of Smartbox with the remaining
minority awnership held by the Smartbox
management team,



Going concern

The Group's business activities together

with the factors likely to affect its future
development, performance and position are
set out in the Group Executive Chairman's
Statement, Group Chief Executive’s Statement
and Performance Review on pages 14 to 17
and pages 20 to 25 and Viability Statement on
page 75 The financial position of the Group,
its cash flows, liquidity position and borrowing
facilities are descriged in the Group Financiat

The Graup's underlying operating business
is cash generative, much of the business nas
3 long-term grofile with both debtor days
and creditor days comparatively low. As at
the balance sheet date, the Group had cash
balances of £65.6m.

The Directors have prepared a cash flow
forecast taking into account alt expecied cash
flows for 12 months from the date of signing
these financial statements. The Group has
run downside scenarics including, but not

Review onpages 74 to 757 Inaddition hote
29 to the financial statements includes the
Group’s objectives, policies and processes
for managing its capital. its financial risk
management objectives, detalls of its financial
instruments and hedging activities and its
exposures to credit risk, interest rate risk and
liquidity risk. As highlighted in that note, the
Group meets its day-to-day working capital
requirements through cash flow from profits
which together with existing bank facilities are
sufficient to fund present commitments. Term
facilites are utilised to fund capital expenditure
and short-term flexibility is achieved by the
utilisation of cash resources in respect of
-financialliabilities, which.are.shown.inthe _ _
table in note 29 and indicates their contractual
cash flow maturities.

The Group has banking facilities with a
censertium of eight banks (Barclays 8ank
plc, HSBC UK Bank ple, Santander UK plc,
AlB Group (UK) ple, Clydesdale Bank pic

and Credit Suisse AG, Lloyds Bank plc and
National Westminster Bank ple} for committed
financing by way of term loans. none of
which are repayable before August 2023. In
addition to the term ioans, a £25m revolving
credit facility is available to provide working
capital for the Group together with a day-~
to-day overdraft facility of E2m. There are 3
number of Banking Covenants which ratchet
depending an time and Group performance.
The Directors forecast that they are able

to meet all Banking Covenants, which are
reviewed regularly.

limited to, 3 reduction in revenue, site closures
anc a cyberattack. This is done to identify
risks to liquidity and covenant compliance.
After making due enquiries and applying the
downside sensttivities both individually and in
combination, the Directars have not identified
any material uncertainties to the Group and
the Parent Company’s ability to continue to
coperate over a pericd of at least 12 months
from the date of approval of the financial
statements. Therefore the Directors consider
it appropriate to adapt the going concern
hasis of accounting in preparing the financial
statements.

-Disclosure of.information to auditor .

The Directors who held office at the date of
approval of this Annual Report confirm that, so
far as they are each aware, there is no relevant
audit information of which the Company's
auditors are unaware: and each Director has
taken all the steps that he or she gught to have
taken as a Director to make himself or herself
aware of any relevant audit information and

o establish that the Company's auditors are
aware of that information.

Auditor

Grant Thornton UK LLP have expressed
their willingness to continue in office and,
in accordance with section 485 of the
Companies Act 20086, a resolution for their
reappointment will be proposed at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

By order of the Board

HE-

Farouq Sheikh OBE
Group Executive Chairman
& Decemnber 2021
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

STATEMENT FROM THE CHAIRMAN
OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Dear Shareholder,

On behalf of the Board. | arm pleased to
present the Directors’ Remuneration Report

for the year ended 30 September 2021 and the

implementation of our remuneraticn policy
far the year ended 30 September 2022. The
Group is listed on the Alternative Investment
Market.[AIM]).market of the.London.Stock

— Review workforce remuneration and related
policies and the alignment of incentives and
rewards with culture,

= Approve the design and determine targets
far Executive Directors’ and other senior
executives’ incentive arrangerments.

- Appoint remuneration consultants.

Jamie Cumming
Chairman of the

Remuneration Committee

Number of meetings
held during the year

6

Committee members
and meeting attendance

Jamie Cumming {Chair) (6/6)
Karl Mcnaghan (6/6}
Professor Moira Livingston (6/6)

g2

Exchange and the information pravided is
disclosed to futfil the requirements of AtM

Rule 18. This report is split into two main parts:

— this statement to shareholders which
includes a summary of our approach to

pay. our policy, remuneration outcomes for

the year just ended and hcw we intend to
operate remuneration arrangements for
the year ahead; and

— the Annual Report on remuneration which

provides more detail on the above, as well
as setting out other remuneration-related
disclosures.

-The Remuneration-Report-was resoundingly

approved by shareholders at the 2021 Annual
General Meeting with 97.6% vote 'For’ and

| would like to thank sharehelders for their
continued suppart.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currenily
comprises three Non-Executive Directors,
Jamie Cumming (Chair), Karl Monaghan
and Professor Moira Livingston. The
Committee met six times in 2021, and its
main responsibilities are set cut below.

Main Committee responsibilities

- Review the scale and structure of the
remuneration and service contracts
for Executive Directors.

~ Governing all share plans.

— Ensure that the incentive structure for
senicr managernent does not raise
ESG risks by inadvertently metivating
irresponsible behaviour.

The Committee members have no personal
financial interest, other than as shareholders,
in the matters to be decided and all are
considered to be indepandent Directors of
the Graup. They have no conflicts of interest
arising from cross-directorships or from being
involved in the day-to-day business of the
Graoup. They do not participate in any bonus.
share option or pension arrangements.

Business performance and
incentive outcomes for 2021

CareTech has 16 years on the public markets
and grown to over 550 services supporting
close to 5,000 service users. The business has

Care Pathway which was expanded during

the year with the acquisition of Smartbox and
the creation of a Digital Technology division.
Continuing to be innovative and develop a
range of Care Pathways will continue to help
many of the adults, young people and children
we support (o live more independently.

For the 2020/21 year, the Group's performance
has been strong and demonstrating
considerable resilience. Trading performance
was significantly ahead compared with the
same period last year. As with all businesses.
the Group was affected by the COVID-19
pandemic and the Executive Oirectors have
prioritised the safety and health of those we
care for and our employees. Through their
leadership and dedication of our staff, support
tearns and management, the Group has

‘continued to provide excellent quality care.



Annual bonus

The annual bonus scheme in which the
Executive Directors participate is based on

the achievement of pre-IFRS 16 adjusted
underlying EBITOA, pre-IFRS 16 EPS and
Quality performance. For 2020/24, the
maximum bonus for the Group Executive
Chairman and Group Chief Executive Officer
was 100.0% of salary. 66.6% for the Group
Chief Financial Officer ard 50% for the
Executive Director. In light of the perfarmance
of the " Groppinthe finanelal year asteflectead
in a significant increase in shareholder value,
88.8% of the maximum bonus entilement was
achieved by the Group Executive Chairman,
Group Chief Executive Officer and Group
Chief Financial Officer.

Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP")

In Decermber 2020, the Remuneration
Committee approved the implementation

of a new Long-Term incentive Plan. The LT1P
replaces the Group's existing executive share
option scheme and has been eslablished with
2 view 10 encourage long-term value creation
for the Group's sharenhclders and to align

the interests-of the Executive-Biregters-and - - —

senior leadership team with shareholders.
The Remuneration Commiittee believes that
the implementation of the LTIP will also assist
the Group in attracting and retaining high-
calibre individuals for the future.

Awards will normally vest on the third
anniversary of the date of grant, subject to

the satisfaction of any performance conditions
and the grantee's continued service. Upon
vesting, 50X af the Award shares are subject
to a holding period of four years from the

date of grant, with the remaining 50% of the
Award shares subject to a holding period of
five years fram the date of grart, ensuring
further alignment with shareholders. During
the holding pericd, restrictions will apply to
the sale or other disposal of the shares. Malus
and clawback provisions are also in place to
reguce or recover the awards in circumstances
such as any materiat misstatement of the
financial statements, or a serious breach

of the Company’s code of ethics.

Tre first LTIP award was granted to participants in December 2020. The [TIP awards were set
at 150% of salary for the Group Executive Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Group Chief
Financial Officer and 75% for the Executive Director and subject to EPS growth cver the
three- year performance pericd. Further details are set out later on in this report.

Remuneration decisions for 2022

Salaries

The following table sets out salaries for Executive Directors for the year ended 30 September
2021 and intended sataries effective for the year ending 30 September 2022.

Salary with Salary with

effect from effect from
Executive Directars 1 Cctober 2020 1 Qetober 2021
Group Executive Chalrman Farouq Sheikh QBE £400.000 £400,000 (+0%)
Group Chief Executive Cfficer Haroon Sheikh E£450.000 £450,000 (+0K]
Group Chiel Financial Officer Christopher Dickinson £300.000 £300.000 {+0%)
Executive Director Mike Adams OBE £125.000 E125,000 (+0%)

Benefits

There will be no changes to benefits pravided
to the Executive Directors.

Relocation allowance

In order 1o grow and devetop CareTech in

the Guif region, the Group Chief Exacutive
Officer has relocated on a temporary basis

to the United Arab Emirates. The Group__
Chief Execytive Officer has retained all of his
current responsibilities, with the international
development of the business representing an
expansion of his duties and responsibilities.

A relocation allowance of £12 000 per month
has been approved by the Remuneration
Committee to cover his move and included
visa and immigration support, flights, housing
and equcation fees.

Annual bonus

The maximum tonus opportunity remaing
at 100% of salary for the Group Executive
Chairman and Group Chief Executive
QOfficer. The maximum bonus Qppartunity
has increased to 100% for the Group Chief
Financial Officer and remains at 50% for the
Executive Director.

The measures and weightings have teen
reviewed and the FY22 bonus will use the
same mix of three measures as FY21, with a2
weighting of a third each on Underlying basic
EPS, Underlying basic EBITDA and Quality.

In fine with our approach far the FY21 bonus,
we will retraspectively set out the targets and
perfarmance achieved in next year's Annual
Report on Rermuneration.

LTIP

The maximum opportunity remains at 150%
of salary for the Group Executive Chairman,
Group Chief Executive Ofticer and Group
Chief Financial Officer and 75% for the
Executive Director. The measures have been
reviewed and we believe earnings remain
strongly aligned to our strategic prictities,
Further information is set out later or in

this report.
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Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

STATEMENT FROM THE CHAIRMAN
OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE conminuec

2018 UK Corporate Governance Code

Cur remuneration policy is designed to support an effective pay-for-performance culture which enables the Company to attract, retain

and motivate Executive Directors who have the necessary experience and expertise to execute our strategy and deliver value to shareholders.
The Company chooses to adopt best practice and the 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code on a comply or explain basis and below is an
explanation of how the Committee has addressed the principles prescribed in Provision 40.

Principle How the Committee has addressed the principle

Clarity and simplicity The Committee ensures that rermuneration arrangerments are transparent. comprising

2 simple incentive structure that is commaonplace in the market and best practice
remuneration provisions.

Risk The Committee promates long-term susiainable performance through sufficiently stretched
targets, whilst ensuring that the incentive struciure does not encourage Executive Directors
to take inappropriate risks.

Predictability The ‘iMustration of application of rermuneration policy’ chart on page 96 indicates the
potential values that may be earned through the remuneration arrangements.
Propartionatity The Committee believes how each elerment of remuneration links to the delivery of cur

strategy is set aut in this report.

Alignment to culture The Committee believes that the incentive arrangements are consistent with the Group’s
ualues:

Honesty and Transparency: The incentive arrangements are simple, transparent and in line
with market practice.

Respect and Responsibility: The Cornrnittee has recourse to recaver incentive payments
in certain circurnstances.

Creating Value: The incentives are aligned to shareholders for delivering exceptional
———— . PErQIMANge=— =~ x = mm—mm —— . ————

Conclusion

We remain fully committed to continuing an open and transparent disclosure of our remuneration policy, We believe that the policy operated
as intended in 2021 and we consider that the remuneration received by Executive Directors during the year was appropriate taking inta account
Group and personal perfarmance.

By order of the Board

el

Jamie Cumming
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
& Decernber 2021
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EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION AT A GLANCE

This table summarises the approach to remuneration arrangements for Executive Directors for FY21 and intended operation for FY22.

Element of remuneration  Year ended 30 Seplember 2021 Year ending 30 September 2022
Salary Exec Chair -~ £400.000 Group Exec Chair - £400,000 (+0%)
Group CEQ - £450,000 Group CEQ — €£450,000 (+0%)
Chief Financial Officer — £300,000 Chief Financial Officer ~ £300,000 (+0%)
Executive Director — £125.000 Executive Director - £125,000 {+0%)
Maximum discretionary  Group Exec Chair & Group CEQ - 100% of salary payable in cash Group Exec Chair & CEQ — 100% of salary payable in cash T
bonus.oppactinity. Groap Financiat Officer =66% of satary payableTimeasn————Groug Financial Officer="100% of salary pagable incash
Executive Director - 50% of salary payable in cash Executive Director — 50% of salary payable in cash
Bonus performance Three measures each with egual weighting:
measures ~ Underlying basic EPS, Underlying £BITDA; and quality of regulatory reports
[RyT3 Grants made in December 2020; — Grants expected’ R
- Group Exec Chair, Group CEQ. Group Chief Financia! Officer - - Group Exec Chair, Group CEQ, Group Chief Financial Officer —
150% of salary 150% of salary
— Executive Directar - 75% of salary - Executive Director - 75% of salary
LTIP performance Underlying Basic Earnings per share (100%)
measures
Pension 15% of salary pension contribution 15% of salary pension contribution
arrarngemerts

fwhich can be taken as 13% of satary cash allowance)

Directors’ service agreements
All Executive. Directors’ service-contracts-are subjectto a 6 or 12 manths-notice (period)-ofiermination-on-eitherside.

The Non-Executive Directars have each been appainted under contracts, which are subject to three months’ notice of termination
on either side,
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Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION AT A GLANCE conmmuep

Illustration of application of remuneration policy for 2021/22

The rermuneration package for the Executive Directors is designed to provide an appropriate balance between fixed and variable performance-
related components. The Committee is satisfied that the composition and structure of the remuneration package is appropriate, clearly supports
the Group's strategic ambitions and does not incentivise inappropriate risk takirng. This is reviewed on an annual basis.

The chart below sets Gut iliustrations of each Executive Director's remuneration package, should they achieve minimum, on-target or maximum
perfarmance. A fourth scenario, which assumes 50% share price growth over the LTIP vesting period. is also included. The chart is for illustrative
purposes only and actual cutcomes may differ from those shown. In accordance with disclosure regulations, share awards have been shown

at face value, with no dividend accrual or discount rate assumptions and share price growth modelled in the final scenarios cnly.

Group Executive Chairman — Farouq Sheikh OBE Group Chief Executive Officer — Harcon Sheikh
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For the purposes of the ahove analysis, the following methodology has been used:

Minimum perfarmance Fixed rermuneratian orily
On-target pertormance fixed remuneration

50% of maximum annual bonus is earned
50% of maximum LTIP vests

Maximum performance Fixed rermuneration
106% of maximum annual bonus is eanted
100% of maximum LTIP vests

Maxirmum performance As per the Maximum perfarmance illustration. but also assumes for the
+ 50% share price growth purposes of the LTIP that share price increases by 50% over the vesting period

Fixed remuneration cormprises base salary as at 1 October 2021, benefits received and pension opportunity.

ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATIONS -

Directors' remuneration {audited}

The table below reports 2 single figure of tota!l remuneration far each of the Directors for the financial year ended 30 September 2021 and their
comparative figures for the financia! year ended 30 September 2020.

Salary and fees Benelits Annual bonus. LTIP Pension Total
zg21 2020 20zt 2020 2021 2026 2021 2026 2021 2020 2021 2020
£Q0 2] EQ 1] £0 EQ £0 E0 £0 EQ EQ £0
Executive Directors
Farouqg Sheikh OBE 400 400 37 22 356 357 o o 52 44 B45 833
Haroon Sheikh 450 450 o7 S8 400 413 Q 0 59 50 1,116 - 971
Christopner Dickinson 300 198 26 10 178 91 Q 0 39 26 543 325
Mike Adams OBE 125 125 10 8 56 57 0 0 ° - 191 190
Non-Executive Directory
Kari Managhan 59 53 - - - - ~ - - - 59 53
Prafessor Moira Livingstan 51 45 - - - - - - - - 51 45
Jarnie Cumming 53 42 - - - - - - - - 51 42
Total 1,436 1,371 280 101 569 928 0 0 150 126 2,855 2.527

Notes (o the table;
- Christopher Dickinson was appainted Group Chief Financial Officer on 13 January 2020. Remuneration detadls for Christopher Dickinson represent only those amaunts

in relation to his services as a Director on the Board.
Benefits

Benefits include car allowance (or company vehicle), vehicle expenses, healthcare insurance and relocation assistance. Relocation assistance
with a value of £144 000 was provided to Haroon Sheikh in the year, to assist with his move 1 the Middle East, and included visa and
immigration support, fights, housing and education fees.

Pension arrangements
Executive Directors are otfered a contribution of 15% of salary into a pension plan.
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Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATIONS CONTINUED

Annual bonus

Annual bonus awars were made in respect of the year ended 30 September 2021. Christapher Dickinson and Mike Adams OBE were eligible
for a maximum bonus apportunity of 66.6% and 50% of salary respectively. Farouq Sheikh OBE and Haroon Sheikh were eligible for a maximum
bonus opportunity of 100% of salary. For the avoidance of doubt, Non-Executive Directors are not eligible to participate in any annual bonuses
or share-based incentives at CareTech.

The awards were structured by reference to performance against three performance measures and targets, alt equally weighted. If an individual
target is met, a third of the bonus award is payable. The following table sets cut performance measures, weightings, targets and outcomes in
respect of the bonus for the year ended 30 September 2021,

Performance measure Weighting Target Quicome

Group underlying EPS Qne third 50.2p (Pre {FRS 16} 50.4p (pre IFRS 16) resulting in one third payable
Group underlying EBITDA Onethird E93.2 {pre IFRS 16} £93.3m {Pre IFRS 16) resulting in one third payable
Quality One third See below 22.2% payable

Total B8_8% of the maximum banus opportunity available it payable

In March 2020, Regulatory inspections were suspended due to the pandemic and only resumed part way during the year. The Remuneration
Committee therefore measured the Quality performance hurdle based on three measures: vacant registered managers, Leadership and
Management during COVID-19 {infection prevention and control) and Regulatory compliance. The Remuneration Committee used its
discretion and determined that twe out of these three measures had been met.

Long-Term Incentive Plan {(LTIP?)

2020 LTIP

In December 2020, the Remuneration Committee made awards to the Executive Directors {and other senior management) under the LTIP.
AWards of 150% of salary were awarded 1o thé Group Executive Chairman, Group Chief Executive Officér and Grolip Chiéf Firancial Officer™
and 75% for the Executive Director and are subject to an EPS measured over a three-year period beginning at the date of the grant. 50% of the
award will be subject 16 a one-year holding period and 50% will be subject to a two-year holding pericd. The performance conditions are set
oul below:

Underlying Basic EPS final year target Vesting of element (% of maximum)

Less than 48.60p 0%

48.60p 20%

57.05p 100%

Between 50.71p and 57.05p Between 20% and 100% on a straignt-line basis

The awards to the Executive Directors were made on 20 December 2020 based on a share price of 487p:

Group Executive Chairman 123.203 shares
Graugp CEO - 138,604 shares
Group Chief Financial Officer 92,402 shares
Executive Director 19.251 shares

Malus and clawback provisions apply to the award for criteria such as any material misstatement of the financial statements, a serious breach
of the Company's code of ethics.

Details of share opt'ions made in previous years are set out in the share options section below.
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2021 LTIP

In line with the remuneration policy. the Group Executive Chairman, Group Chief Executive Officer and Group Chiet Financial Officer will be
granted awards of 150% of safary and the Executive Director will be granted an award of 75% of salary under the new Long-Term {ncentive Plan
in December 2021. The targets for the 2021 LTIP are disclosed below. The Caommittee considers the targets to be appropriately stretching taking
into account internal and external forecasts and market conditions.

Underlying Basic EPS final year target Vesting ¢f eiement 1% of maximum}

<55.05p i 0%

55.05p 20%

&64.62p 100%

Between 55.0%p and b4.62p Between 20% and 100% on a straight-iine basis

[Funderlying EPS at the end of the performance pericd is below 55.05p then no awards wil vest. Furthermore, the Committee has discretion
ta amend the vesting outcome where it considers that it is not a fair and accurate reflection of business performarice.

IINYNHIAOD

ExSOP and Sharesave options

On 29 March 2017, the Group's ExSOP was created, Feroug Sheikh OBE and Haroon Sheikh each own 320.000 Ordinary Shares {total 640,000
Ordinary Shares) of 0.5p respectively under the Group's Executive Shared Ownership Plan 2017 (see note 25] and 400,000 Ordinary Shares
{total 8G0,000 Ordinary Shares) of 0.5p respectively under the Group's Executive Shared Qwniership Plan 2018

On 15 September 2028, the Group granted options in aggregate over 480,678 Ordinary Shares pursuant to the CareTech Holdings plc Sharesave
Scherme 2020. This is a three-year contract with 2 start date of 1 November 2020. with options exercisable at a price of 355 pence per share
between 1 November 2023 and 30 April 2024, Within the options described above, there were 5,070 options each gramted to Farouq Sheikh QBE.
Raroon Sheikh and Christopher Bickinson under the Sharesave Scheme.

Christopher Dickinson has an interest in 155,250 Ordinary Shares in CareTech pursuant to the Executive Shared Qwnership Plan, details of
which were announced on 8 Novermber 2019,
None of the options above are subject to clawback arrangements

No other Director has any share options in the Group
Non-Executive Director Fees
The following sets out the current fee policy for Non-Executive Directors:

~ base fee of £52,500; and
~ additionas| fee of E7.500 for the role of Senior Independeant Director.

Directors' interests
The Directors who held office at the end of the financial year had the following interests in the Ordinary Share capital of the Company according
to the register of Directars’ interests:

30 September 2024 30 Septermber 2020
Number of Ordinary  Number of Ordinary

0.5pn Shares 0.5p Shares

Westrminster Holdings Limited™ 9,297.864 10047864  Notesto the table:
Caosaraf Pension Fund™® 230,000 230000 'V Westrmingter Holdings Limited 15 a company owned by a trust, the beneficiaries
Sheikn Holdings Group™ 2.642.145 > 579,145 of which inclyde Farouq Sheikh OBE and Haroon Sheikh.
f W OBRE - _ 12) Cosarat Pension Fund is a self-administered scheme established for the benefit
Haarrc::nssl’l::khOB - of Faraug Sheikn OBE and Haroon Sheikh.

(3} Grosvenor UK Limited is beneficially interested in these shares via a Contract for
Kar ‘Monagha'n 41,795 42.795 Ditference [CFD') which was effected at a price of 350p per share. Grasvenor
Jamie Curmming . 2.500 2,500 UK Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of Sheikh Holdings Group [nvestments
Mike Adams OBE 2145 2.145 Lirmited, whith is whally cwned by Haroon and Farouq Sheikh QBE and their
Chrristopher Dickinson — - immediate famify.
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ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATIONS CONTINUED

Additional disclosures relating to CEO pay

The tollowing section sets cut a numper of additional disclosures refating to CEO pay. typically provided by FTSE-listed companies in their
rermuneration reparts:

— Percentage change in CEQ remuneration,

- Historic CEQO pay.

Percentage change in the Board’s remuneration

The following_table.compares.the_percentage.change.inthe CEQ s salary. benetits.and annual bonus.tothe average percentage.changedn.salary,
benefits and bonus for all employees from the year ending 30 September 2020 to the year ending 30 September 2021.

Annual
Change in remunegration Salary fenefits Donus
Chief Executive Officer 0% 267% (£
Average pay of all employees 33% 1574 228%

Historic CEO pay
The following table sets out historic CEO pay over the past ten years. The single figure of total remuneration is provided. as well as the annual
beonus expressed as a percentage of the maximum for the year.

Annual

Single figure of total Bonus LTIP as

remuneration asa¥%of akot

Year ending 30 September Chief Executive E0OD0  maximum  maximum

2021 Haroon Sheikh 1,116 85% n/a
2020— “HargonSheikh ~—~ — T 9% "~ nia _— T

2019 Haroon Sheikh 520 100% nja

2018 Haroon Sheikh 794 62% n/a

2017 Haroon Sheikh 430 54% nia

2016 Haraon Sheikh 375 76% n/a

2015 Haroon Sheikh 304 96% n/a

2014 Haroon Sheikh 298 59% nia

2013 Harqon Sheikh 247 % n/a

2012 Haroon Sheikh 259 0% n/a

Notes to the table:
Singte figure of total remuneration is as disclosed in previous Annual Reports. being the total figure in the
relevant table plus any pension amounts disclosed in the same table.
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Statement of Director's Responsibilities

The Directors are responsible far preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance
with applicabte law and regulations.

Campany law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that
law the Directors have o prepare the financial statements in accordance with international accounting
standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 [1FRSs). Under company law
the Directors must not approve the financial statements untess they are satisfied that they give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs and prafit or loss of the Company and Group for that period. In preparing
these financial staternents. the Directors are required to;

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
- make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent:

— state whether applicable IFRSs have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the financial staternents. ’

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position
of the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies

Act 2006. They are also responsible for safequarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directars canfirm that:

- so far as each Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditer
is unaware; and 7

- the Directors have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as Directors in order to make
themselves aware of any relevant audit information angd to establish that the auditor Is aware of that
information.

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Repaert in accordance with applicable law and
regulations, Having taken advice from the Audit Committee, the Directors consider the Annual Report and
Financial Statements, taken as a whole is fair, balanced 2nd understandable and provides the information
necessary for shareholders to assess the Group's performance. business model and strategy.

The Directars are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corperate and financial information
included on the Company’s website_ Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legis!ation in other jurisdictions.

By order of the Board

ey

.Jamie Cumming
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
6 December 2021
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Independent Auditor’'s Report
to the members of CareTech Holdings PLC

Opinion

Our opinion on the financial statements is unmaodified

We have audited the financial statements of CareTech Holdings FLC ['the Parent Company’} and its subsidiaries {'the Groug'} for the year
ended 30 September 2021, which comprise the Consolidated Income Statement, the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income,
the Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity. the Consolidated Staterment of Cash Flows, the
Company Balance Sheet, the Company Statement of Changes in Equity and Notes to the Financial Statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Group financial statements
is applicabte law and international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. The financial
reporting framewaork that has been applied in the preparation of the Parent Company financial statements is applicable law and United
Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framewark’ applicable in the UK and

Republic of Irelgnd {United Kinggom Generally Accepted Accounting #ractice).

In aur opinion:

— the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the Parent Company’s affairs as at 30 September 2021
and of the Group’s profit for the year then ended;

— the Group financial staternents have been properly prepared in accardance with international accounting standards in canformity with
the requirernents of the Companies Act 2006;

— the Parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice; and

- the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit In accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK} (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under
thosestandards are further described in the ‘Auditor's responsibilities for the-auditof the-financial statements™section-of ourreport. We are
independent of the Group and the Parent Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
staternemts in the UK, inclugding the FRC's Ethical Standard as applied to listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinicn.
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Conclusians relating to gaing concern

We are responsible for conctuding ort the appropriateness of the Directors use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based an the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's and the
Parent Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention

in our report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the auditor's opinion. Qur
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our reporl. However, future events or conditions may cause the Grougp
or the Parert Company to cease to continue as a going concern,

Qur evatuation of the Directors’ assessment of the Group’s and the Parent Company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting included, but was not restricted to:

~ obtaining and reviewing management’s assessment of going concern and challenging the assumptions used in the cash flow forecasts.

which have Geen approved by the Baard,

~ obtaining management's base case scenario for the pericd to 31 December 2022, together with supporting evidence for all key trading,
working capital and cash flow assumptions;

— chatlenging the key assumptions in the forecasts and the scope of scenario planning undertaken. Assumigtions challenged include growth
rates in the underlying forecasts, operating cash conversation rate. progressive dividend policy. capital expenditure and the capital structure
of the Group;

- obtaining an understanding of the financing arrangements in place and management’s assessment of their adequacy and pians tc manage
these arrangements. Corroborating the arrangements by testing covenants compliance for these facilities;

- obtaining management's downside scenarics, which reflect management’s assessment of uncertainties. The assumptions regarding the
forecast period and reduced trading tevels were evaluated for plausibility; and

— reviewing the policies and disclosures in respect of going concern given in the financial statements for appropriateness.

In our evaluation of the Directors’ congclusions, we considered the inherent risks associated with the Group's and the parent company's
business model including etfects arising from macro-economic uncertainties such as Brexit and Covid-19, we assessed and challenged the
reasonableness-of estimates-made-by-the-Rirectors and the related diselosures and analysed how thase risks-might-affect-the Group's and the
Parent Company's financial resources or ability to continue operations over the going concern period.

Based on the work we have performed, we have notidentified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or
collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Groug's and the Parent Comparny’s ability to cantinue as a8 going concern for a period of at least
twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial staternents. we have concluded that the Directors’ use of the going congern basis ©f accounting in the preparation of
the financial statements is appropriate.

In relation to the Group’s reporting on how it has applied the UK Corporate Governance Code, we have nothing rmaterial to add or draw
attention to in relation to the Directors’ staterment in the financial statements about whether the Directors considered it appropriate to adopt
the going concern basis of accounting.

The responsibilities of the Directors with respect to going concern are described in the ‘Responsibilities of Directors for the financial statemenis’
section of this report.
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Independent Auditor's Report
to the members of CareTech Holdings PLC continued

Our approach to the audit

Owverview of gur audit approach

QOwverall materiglity:

Group: £2.7m, wlich represents 5% of the Group's normalised profit before tax, being profit before tax
after adjustment for specific non-routine items. at the planning stage of the audit,

Parent Company: £1.7m, which represents 2% of the Parent Cornpany's total assets, capped at its
component materiality,

Key audit matters were identified as:

- QOccurrence of revenue and existence of deferred incorne {same as prior year).

- Valuation of goodwill of tha Adult CGU (change in scope from the prior year: the prior year key audit
matter was the valuation of goodwill and customer relationships across ali the CGUs, whereas in the

TUfrent year, the significari{ fisk wWas in respect of the goodwill tar e Adit CGUonly) and

- Accuracy of acquisition accounting {change in scope from the prior year: the prior year key audit
matter also included an assessment of identification of control of the acquisitions, which was nat
determined to be a significant risk this year and therefore not part of the key audit matter).

Qur auditor's repart for the year ended 30 September 2020 included three key audit matters that have not
- been reported as key audit matters in our current year's report, tagether with two Key audit matters that
have changed in scope:

— Measurement of lease assets and liabilities was a key audit matter in the previous year due to the
transition to the new financial reporting standard IFRS 16 "Leases’

- Valuation of nan-current ‘sleep-in' provisions is nat a key audit matter this year as there has been
a judgement from the court which has settled the matter and therefore there is no uncerlainty;

- Gotng concern s not a key audit matter in the current year as the Group has not been adversely
affected by COVIO-19 and has strong cash flows;

- Valuation of goodwill and customer relatianships has changed in scope fram the prior year as only
valuation of the goodwill allocated to the Adult CGU is considered to be a significant risk this year,
as the headroom for the Adult CGL! was determined to be sensitive 1o changes in key assumptions;

. e -  —and -—.. U

- Assessment of identification of contral and accuracy of acquisition accounting is a change in
the scope af the ‘Accuracy of acquisition accounting’ key audit matter for the current year as the
assessment of identification of control is not caonsidered to be a significant risk this year as there
is no significant judgement around centrol of the businesses acquired.

- The Parent Company was identified as a significant component this year {‘Parent’) in line with
the prior year assessment. The subsidiaries of the Parent Company. CareTech Holdings PLC,
and Cambian Group Uimited. which were identified as separate significant components in the
previous year. have been aggregated into a single significant compaonent this year (‘CareTech’).
we performed full-scope audit procedures using component materiality on the financial
information of both of these components and all the entities included therein.

- By the Bridge Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries {'By the Bridge’) has been identified as a
significant component, simitar 10 tast year. THe Group engagement team performed specific
procedures on the financial information of By the Bridge using Group materiality to address
risks identified at the Group level.

- Smartbox Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries ('Smartbox’) were acquired in the current year.
Smartbox was identified as a significant component and the Group engagement team performed
specific procedures on its financial infarmation using Group materiality to address risks identified
at the Group level.

— AS |nvestment Holdings Limited and AS1 Investment Haldings Limited and their respective
subsidiaries in the United Arab Emirates (the 'AS Group' or "UAE'} has beer identified as &
significant component this year. The Group engagement tearm engaged component auditors
to perform specific procedures on the tinancial infarmation of UAE using Group materiality
to address risks identified at the Group level.

— Other non-significant components of the Group were subject to a combination of specified
audit procedures and analytical procedures using Group materiality.
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the financial staternents of the
current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material
misstaternent fwhether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters
included thase that had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy;

the allccation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the
engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our cpinion
thereon. and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters, Disclosures

Description

Inthe. graph below, we have presented_the key audit.matters, significant__
risks and other risks relevant ta the audit.

KAM

Audit response

Qur results
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CareTech Holdings PLC / Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Independent Auditor's Report

to the members of CareTech Holdings PLC continued

Key Audit Matier — Group

How our scape addressed the matter — Group

Occurrence of revenue and existence of deferred income

We identified occurrence of revenue and existence of deferred income
as ane of the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement
due to fraud.

Under ISA (UK) 240 'The Auditor’s Responsibilities Relating o Fraud in
an Audit of Financial Statements’. there is a rebuttable presumption that
there are risks of fraud in revenue recognition.

We have identified fraud risk relating to service users discharged for
Adult/Supported services and Children revenue streams for the current
year. We have identified the revenue associated with users who have
been discharged in the year as susceptible to fraud risk because this is

predominantly.a.manual process.whichrequires.adjustmenis.ta.revenue

billed, when notification of discharge of a service user is received.

We have focused the significant risk of accurrence in the Adult/
Supported services and Children revenue streams on revenue relating
to service users discharged in the year. Oue to the nature of the risk
identified, this also results in a significant risk in respect of the existence
of year-end deferred income balances:

Fostering revenues, additional labour recharge revenues and revenues
in the UAE are considered to have a significant risk of occurrence.

In responding to the key audit matter, we performed the following audit
procedures:

considering the Group's revenue recognitton accounting policies to check
these were in compliance with International Financial Reposting Standard
{'IFRS") 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers' and consistently
applied across the Graup;

perfarming walkthroughs to understand the key contrgls over rnaterial
revenue streams and identify changes, if any, from prior year,

evaluating and testing the design and aperating effectiveness of key
controls over the admission, discharges and fee movement during the
year for the material revenue streams;

streams in the significant components and on revenue in those smaller
camponents. where we did not place reliance upon the operating
effectiveness of controls:

agreeing a sarmple of revenue transactions o subsequent cash receipt and

evidence of right to revenue recagnition, ko ensure that the service has
been provided and accordingly the performance obligation is satisfied:

testing a sample of credit notes during the year and post year end
to ensure they are recorded in the appropriate petiod; and

testing the deferred income recognised at the end of the year and
agreeing to supporting evidence, on a sample basis,

Relevant disclosures in the Annual Report and Accounts 2021

— Financial staternents: Note 2(m). Revenue; and Note 4, Segrmental
Information.

Our results

Qur audit testing did not identify any rmaterial misstatements in relation
to the accurrence of revenue and existence of deferred income.

Valuation of goodwill of Adukt CGU

ertified valuation of goodwill of the Adult CGU as ane of the
ificark assessed risks of material misstatement due to error.

The Group has goodwill, allocated 1o the Adult CGU, with a carrying
value of £27.3m 12020: £27.9rm). which have arisen as a result of
acquisitions.

Under I1AS 36 'Impairment of Assets’, management is required to test
the goadwill annually for impairment. Given the current economic
climate, we believe impairment indicators also exist in relation to the
other intangible assets.

Significant judgements in the determinaticn of recoverable amount
of an asset/CGL) include the determination of the CGUJs, the forecast
growth rates and the applicable discount rates. 1AS 36 requires that
assets are not carried at mare than their recoverable amount.

In responding to the key audit matter. we performed the following audit
pracedures:

= evaluating the Group's accounting policy for consistency with JAS
36 and considering whether the accounting palicy has been appiied
accurately and consistently across the Group;

— testing the arithmetical accuracy and integrity of the models
and underlying data used by management in their impairment
assessment by checking the consistency of formutae used and
agreeing the underlying forecasts to approved budgets;

— challenging management's identification of CGUs within the
business for reasonableness;

— using our in-house valuation specialists as an auditor’s expert to
assess (in respect of value-in-use assessments} the reasonableness
of the discount rates and growth rates applied to cash flows:

—- challenging management’s madel in respect of unallocated costs
and unallocated capital expenditure;

— gensitivity analysis of key assumptions around working capital,
allocation of central costs, growth rates and discount rates; and

-~ challenging management’s assumptions cancerning lorecast cash
flows, based on histarical trends and any changes in customer
preferences and requlations.
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. TheGroupacquired conirolling interests in the Smarlbox and,

Key Audit Matter - Group

How our scope addressed the matter - Group

Relevant disclosures in the Annual Report and Accounts 2021

— Financial statements: Note 2(i), Impairment lexcluding deferred
tax assetsl Neta 15, Intangibles.

Qur results

Our audit testing did not identify any material misstatements in
relation to the valuation of goodwill af Adult CGU. The assessrent
of potential impairment is highly sensitive to reasonable changes in
the key assurnptions and inputs. We have satisfied ourselves that the
disclasures made are reasonable and consistent with the assessment
performed.

Accuracy of acquisition accounting

We identified accuracy of acquisition accounting as one of the most
significant assessed risks of material misstatement due to error.

Huntercombe businesses.

There is significant judgement exercised in acquisition accounting under

IFRS 3 'Business Combinations’, which presents a risk that a material
error cauld oocur in the accounting for this business combination, 33
well as judgements inherent in the fair value adjustments 1o recognise
intangibles and the resulting impact on the gopdwill ameount,

in respanding to the key audit matter, we perlarmed the fallowing
audit procedures:

- assessing whether the Group's accounting policy and disclosures
relating to acquisition accounting is in compliance with [FRS 3 and
cansistentiyapplied

- inspecting documentation including the grticles and memorandum
of association and share purchase agreements to check that the
Group controls the entities acquired and that the date of control was
accurately recorded and reflective of when such control was achieved:

— evaluating the calculations and management’s judgements ¢n the
fair value of assets and tiabilities acquired. including any identified
intangibles arising on the acquisitions, in line with IFRS 3

— engaging internal experts to assist with cur audit of significant inputs
to the fair valuation of assets identified 35 part of the acquisition;

- performing procedures over the source data used by the experts

in their vahuation to ensure the underlying forecasts and refated
assumptions were reasonable; and

SLNIWIALVLS TVIDNVNIL

- inspecting evidence to suppart the accuracy of the value of assets
and liabilities on acquisition date.

Relevant disclosures in the Annual Report and Accounts 2021

=—Ffinancial staternents: Note 2(rj 'and Note 57Business comtiinations.

Our results

Gur audit testing did not identify-any material misstatements frrrelation™~——
to the accounting for acquisitions.

We dig not identify any key audit matters relating to the audit of the financial staternents of the Parent Company.

Our application of materiality

We apply the concept of materiality both in planning and performing the audit, and in evaluating the effect of identified misstaterments
on the audit and of uncorrected misstaterments, if any. on the financial staterments and in forming the opinion in the auditor's report.

Materiality was determined as follows:

Materiality measure Group Parant Company
Materiality for financial statements We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that,
as a whole indiviguatly or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the economic

decisions of the users af these financial statements. We use materiality in determining the
nature, timing and extent of our audit wark.

Materiatity threshold £2.7m, which is S% of the Groug's narmalised E1.7m, which is 2% of the Parent Company's
profit befare tax. at the planning stage of the total assets, capped at its component
audit. Normalised profit before taxis after rnateriality, which is based on a percentage
adjusting profit before tax for spe<ific non- ot Graup materiality.

rautine items, including acquisition Costs.
integratian costs, redundancy and site
ciosure costs. and COVID-19 related costs.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
to the members of CareTech Holdings PLC continued

Materiality measure

Group

Parent Company

Significant judgements made by auditor
in determining materiality

In determining materiality, we made the
following significant judgements:

- Normalised profit before tax is considered
the most appropriate benchmark for the
Group because in our view, it 1s most
reflective of the performance of the
business.

Materiality for the current year is higher than
the level that we determined for the year
ended 30 September 2020 to reflect the
increase in the Group's normalised profit
before tax this year.

In determining materiality, we made the
following significant judgements:

- Total assets is considered the most
appropriate benchmark for the Parent
Company because the Parent Company’s
principal activity is that of a holding
company that does not trade.

Materiality far the current year is higher than
the level that we determined for the year
ended 30 September 2020 1o reflect the
increase in the Parent Cormpany's total assets
and the capping, noted above, at a higher

percentagé of Group matenality, WhicH was
also nigher this year.

Performance materiality used to drive the
extent of our testing

We set performance materiality at an amount less than rmateriality for the financial statements as
a whote to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected
and undetected misstatements exceeds materiality for the financial statements as a whole.

Perfarmance materiatity threshold -

£1.9m, which is 70% of financial statement
materiality.

E1.2m, which is 70% of financiat staterment
materiality.

Significant juggements made by auditor in
determining performance materiality

In determining performance materiality, we
made the faliowing significant judgements:

- The number and magnitude of
unadjusted musstatements made to the
Group’s financia!l statements in prior
years. and

- The nature and impac! of significant
control deficiencies identified in
prior years.

In determining performance materiality, we
made the followlng significant judgements’

- The number and magnitude of
unadjusted misstatements made to the
Parent Company's financial staterments
in priar years; and

- The nature and impact of significant
contro! deficiencies identified in prior
years.

We determine specific materiality for one or more particular classes of transactions, account

Specific materiality

“balances or disclosures for which misstatements of lesser amounts than materiality for the
financial statements as a whole could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions af users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

We determined a lower level of specific materiality tor the following areas:

Specific materiality
~ Directors’ remuneration; ang

- related-party transactions.

We determine a threshold for reporting unadjusted differences to the Audit Committee,

Communication of misstatements to the
Audit Committes

£86,200 and misstatements below that
threshold that. in our view. warrant reporting
on qualitative grounds.

£135,700 and misstaternents below that
threshold that. in our view, warrant reporting
an qualitative grounds.

Threshold far communication
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The graph bolow ilustrates how performance materiality interacts with our overal! materiality and the tolerance for potential uncorrected
misstaternents.

Overall materiality — Group Overall materiality — Parent Company
PiM £2.9m (70%4) PM £1.2em {70%]
TFPUM £0.8m (30%] TFPUM £0.5m (30%)
Normalised profit before tax ~ £54.2m Total assets - £579.7m
FSM — £2.7m (5%) FSM* ~ £1.7m [2%)

FSM: Financial statements materiality *Parent Company financial statement materiality was capped at its component materiality), PM: Performance materiality,
TFPUM: Tolerance for patential uncorrected rmisstatements.

An overview of the scape of our audit

Wae performed a risk-based audit that requires an understanding of the Group's and the Parent Company's business, its environment and risk
prafile and in particular matters related to:

Uriderstaritding the Grouf, its comporicnts, ard their envirgaments, including Group-wide controls
— The engagement team cbtained an understanding of the Group and its environment, including Group-wide contrals, and assessed the risks
of material misstatement at the Group level;

- Evatuating the design and implementation of controls aver the financial reporting systems identified as part of aur ritk gssessment. With
respect to payroll and operating expenses. we evaluated the design of controls and their implementation in addition to performing substantive
procedures. With respect to revenue recognition we evaluated the design and implementation of controls and tested their operating
effectiveness in addition to performing substantive procedures; and

- Inspecting the processes management follow to prepare and report results. Management prepare and report on the results on a Group basis
rather than on a company basis. The subsidiaries in the Group are all contralted by the Parent Campany. The Parent Company provides a
guarantee for all of the subsidiaries’ liabilities, apart fram those stated in note 30 of the financial statements.

Identifying significant components and type of work performed on the identified components

Evaluation by the Group audit team of identified components to assess the significance of that component and to detgrmine the planned
audit response based on @ measure of materiality, considering the relative size of each component as a percentage of total Group assets,
liabilities, revenue and earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation {'EBITDA). If any of these benchmarks were individually
more than 15% of the Group total, then that component was classified as ‘individually financially significant o the Group’ and an audit of the
financial information of the tomponent using component materiality {full-scope audit) was performed:

— Those components where the benchmark threshold was below 15% of the Group total but was considered to contain Group significant risks
were classified as significant components on which specific procedures to address Group risks were performed using Group materiality;
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Independent Auditor's Report
tc the members of Carelech Holdings PLC continued

An overview of the scope of oaur audit continued

{dentifying significant components and type of work performed on the identified components continued

— The Parent and CareTech components were each categorised as significant compaonents for which we performed full scope audit procedures
using component materiality an all entities included in the respective components;

- By the Bridge, UAE (or the 'AS Group’) and Smartbox components were each classified as significant components because they are likely to
contain Group significant risks. For UAE, we engaged component auditors to perform specific procedures on the financial information of
those entities, addressing the risks identified at the Group level using Group materiality. The Group engagement team performed specific
pracedures an the financial information for the By the Bridge and Smartbox components to address risks identified at the Group level using
Group materiality; and

— For other smaller non-significant components. we performed a combination of specified audit procedures and amalytical procedures using
Group-materiality:

Performance of cur audit

- The audit was conducted partly remotely due to COVID-19 restrictions and social distancing requirements and partly at the Group’s head
office. The work performed was supparted through the use of software collaboration platforms for the secure and timely delivery of
requested audit evidence. The audit team held weekly pre-scheduled conference calls throughout the audit fieldwork and visited the
head office frequently once restrictions were lifted in August 2021,

No.of * caverage % coverage
Audit approach components Total assets Revenue % coverage PBT
Fuli-scope audit 2 [0 45 82
Specific-scope audit 3 - 11 15
Specified audit procedures 1 - 1 3
Analytical procedures 1 - - -
Total 7 90 87 100

T Communications with component auditors N

- Communications with the UAE component auditor included sending our component auditor instructions to them detailing the areas required
to be covered and the procedures ta be performed;

~ As UAE was a significant component, we identified that specific procedures would be performed on significant balances and transactions.
Accordingly, we identified such balances and specified the nature, timing and extent of procedures which are required to be performed on
tne identified areas. The wark to be performed included obtaining an understanding of the design of controls and the processes followed
and then identifying iterns for testing; and

— As 2 result of COVID-13, we were unable to undertake our component auditor fieldwork visits, therefore, we increased the frequency of our
communications with the UAE component auditor to monitor progress. The audit team held periodic pre-scheduled video conference calls
throughout the audit fieldwork to monitor progress and we also used video conferencing tools and audit software platform to review the
component auditor documentation.

Changes in approach from previous period

- The acquisition of controlling interests in Smartbox and Kuntercombe during the year caused a change in scope of the audit. We assessed the
accounting treatment for the acquisition and certain assets acquired as part of the acquisition as significant risks of missiatement. Smartbox
and Huntercombe were collectively identified as significant components as they are likely to contain Group significant risks. Therefore, they
were subject to specified procedures to address specific risks using Group materiality; and

- The CareTech and Cambian components were individually identified as significant components in the previous year, However, in the current
year. the Group engagement team has identified these as a singie aggregated component to better reflect the business operations and the
way they are managed and cantroiled;
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Other information

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report and
Accounts, other than the financia! staternents and our auditor's report thereon. Our opinicr: on the financial statements does not cover the other
infarrmation and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form aof assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or ctherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If we ident/fy such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether
there is a material misstaternent in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the wark we have
performed, we conclude that there is @ material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regarg.

Qur opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 is unmodified

{n our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

— the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report far the financial year for which the financial staternents are prepared
is cansistent with the financial staterments; and : T T

~ the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have been preparad in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matter on which we are required to report under the Companies Act 2006

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Parent Co'mpany and its environment pbtained in the course of the audit,
we have not identified material misstaternents in the Strategic Repart or the Directors’ Report.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We hawve nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Cornpanies Act 2006 requires us to report 1o you if,
in our gpinicn: -

- adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us; or

— the Parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
— certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
— we have not received ali the information and explanations we require far our audit,

- Carporate Governance Report
We have reviewed the Directors' statement in relation to going concern, longer-tarm viagility and that part of the Carporate Governance Report
relating to the Group's voluntary compliance with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code.

Based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we have conciuded that each of the following elements of the Corporate Governance
Repart is materially consistent with the financial statements and our knowledge obtained during the audit.

— the Directors statement with regards to the appropriaieness of adopting the going concerm hasis of accounting and any material uncertainties
identified set out on page 115;

— the Directors’ explahation as to their assessment of the Group's grospects. the period this assessrment covers and why the period is
apprapriate set out on page 119;

— the Directors’ statement on whether they have a reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to continue in operation and meet its
Liabilities set out on page 119:
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to the members of CareTech Haldings PLC continued

Corporate Governance Report continued
— the Directors’ statement on fair, balanced and understandable set out on page 101;
- the Board's confirmation that it has carried out a robust assessment of the emerging and principal risks set out on page 89,

— the section of the Annual Report that describes the review of the effectiveness of risk management and interal control systems set out
on page 83; and
- the section describing the work of the Audit Cormmittee set out on page 77.

Responsibilities of Directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
staternents and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary

to-enable-the-preparation-of-fimancial-statements-that-are-free-fram-material-misstatement-whether-due-to-fraud-ar-error

ln preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Parent Company's ability to continue as a
gaing concern, disclosing. as applicabte, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors
either intend to liquidate the Groun or the Parent Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement.
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion, Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but

is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with [SAs (UK) wilt always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or errar and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our respansibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council's website at:
www.frc.org uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor's report.

Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud )
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regutations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilities,
outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there
is an unavoidable risk that material misstatements in the financial statements may not be detected. even though the audit is properly planned
and performed in accordance with 1SAs (UK.

The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities. including fraud, is detailed below:

— We enguired of management, the finance team and the Board of Directors about the Group's and the Parent Company's policies and
procedures relating to the identification, evaluation and compliance with laws and regulations and the detection and response to the risks
of fraud and the establishment of internal controls to mitigate risks related to fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations;

- We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the Group and the Parent Company. We
determined that the most significant laws and regulations are those related to financial reporting and taxation, being international accounting
standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 (for "the Group’). Financial Reporting Standard 101 'Reduced
Disclosure Framework’ {for the Parent Company), the Companies Act 2006, the Listing Rules, the UK Cerporate Governance Code and
the application of local sales and use taxes and overseas permanent establishments;

- We enquired of management and the Board of Directors whether they were aware of any instances of non-complianice with laws and
requlations and whether they had any knowledge of actual. suspected or alleged fraud;

- We assessed the susceptibility of the Group's and the Parent Company's financial statements to material misstaterment, including how
fraud might occur ang the risk of management override of controls. Audit procedures performed by the engagement team included:
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- Enquiring of management, the finance team and the Board of Directors about the risks of fraud at the Group and the Parent Company
and the cantrals implemented ta address thase risks. Assessing the design and implementation of controls relevant to the audit that

management has in place to prevert and detect fraud, including updating our understanding of the internat controls over journal entries,

including those related to the posting of entries used to record non-recurring, unusual transactions or other non-routine adjustments:

— Making specific inguiries of each member af the finance team to ascertain whether they had been subject to undue pressure or had
been asked to make any unusual postings or modifications to reports used in financial reporting;

— ldentifying and testing journal entries, with selection based on risk profiling:

— Running specific keyword searches lincluding to related parties and of those previously connected to related entities) over the journai entry
population to identify descriptions that could indicate fraugulent activity or management override of contrals. Ih addition, journal entries
by user were evaluated to identify types of entries posted that were not in line with expectations of their role. Unusual entries noted from

these searches were agreed ta supporting documentation to verify the validity of the posting;

— Planning specific pracedures responding to the risk of fraudulent recognition of revenue as detailed within the Key Audit Matters section,

above;
— Assessing the disclosures within the Annual Repart, including principal and emerging risks; and
- Challenging assumpticns and judgements made by management in its significant accounting estimates.

— In assessing the potential risks of material misstatement, we obtained an understanding of the Groun’s and the Parent Company’s operatlons

including the nature of income sources and of their objectives and strategies in order Yo understand the classes of transactions, account
balances, expected financial statement disclosures and business risks that may result in risks of material misstatement:

~ These audit procedures were designed to provide reasonabile assurance that the financisl statements were free from fraud or error. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatament due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting ore resulting from errar and detecting irregularities

that resutt trom fraud is inherently more difficult than detecting those that result from error, as fravd may invelve coftusion, deliberate
concealment, forgery or intentional misrepresentations. Also, the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from
events and transactions reflected in the financial staterments, the less likely we would become aware of it

— The engagement partner's assessment of the appropriateness of the collective competence and capabilities of the engagement team
included consideration-of-the-engagement team’s understanding-of, and practical experience with-audit-engagernents of a similar nature
and complexity. through appropriate training and participation; and

t

- Requesting component auditors to identity any instances of non~compliance with applicable laws and regulations which could give rise to 3
rmaterial misstatement. Communications with the component auditor included specific procedures to be performed to address the fraud risk

in revenue recagnition and management override of controls around journal testing, including the procedures detailed abave.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Company's members, as a body. in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Qur audit

work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's members those matters we are required to state 1o thern in an auditor's
report and far ng other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
Company and the Company's members as a body. for our audit work, for this recort, or for the cpinions we have formed.

6‘“’““ Thamton uic e

Rebecca Eagle

Senior Statutory Auditor

for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP
Statutory Auditor. Chartered Accountants
London

6 December 2021
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Consolidated Income Statement
for the year ended 30 September 2021

201 2020
Nan- Non-
Undertying underlying Total Underlying underlying Total
Note E0OD EDDOD £00Q EOQ0 £000 F00O
Revenue 4 4891189 - 489119 429,966 - 425,966
Cost of sates {323,410) - (323,410) {282.029 - {282,029}
Grois profit 165,709 - 165,709 147537 - 147937
Other income 6 - 2,692 2,692 - 2,550 2,550
Adminisirative expenses [85.216) (3,681) (98,897) (74.356) (22.769) (97.125)
Operating profit 80,593 {989) 79,504 73.581 {20.219) 52.362
EBITDA 100,485 2,692 103,177 90,932 2,550 93,482
Depreciation 13,14 [19,519) - [19,519] (17.021) - {17.021)
Armortisation of intangible assets 6.15 - 10,273  (10,273) - 10.186) (10,186)
Acquisition expenses 6 - (759) {759) - {545) {545)
Other non-underlying items 6 - {5,964) (5,964] - (4.497) {4.457)
Sleep-in pravision 6 - 11,777 11,777 - - -
Gain on bargain purchase [ - 5,758 5758 - - -
CQVID-19 costs [ - (4,220) 4,220} - 3.422) (3,422)
Share-based payments charge (473} - (473) 3301 {4.119) {4.449)
Operating prafit 80,493 {989) 79,504 73,581 {20,219 53,362
Finance expenses 6.9 {12,158) {1,112) (13,27Q) {13.528) (1,611) (15.539)
Profit before tax 68,335 {2,101) 66,234 59.653 (21,830} 37,823
Taxation o T T 1D (11,889)  (18.017)  (30,906) (11325 553 U7
Prafit for the year 56,446 {21,118) 35,328 48,328 [21.277) 27.051
Non-cortrolling interest {3,420) - {3,420 {1,933) - 1.933)
Profit for the year attrbutahble to
equity sharchalders of the Parent 53,026 (21,118) 31,908 46,395 (21,277) 25118
Earrings per share
Basic 11,12 28.80p 24.88p
Diluted 11,12 27.48p 22.03p
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

far the year ended 30 September 2021

2021 2020
Mon- Nan-
Underlying underlying Tolal Underying  uhderlying Total
Note £000 EQOD EQGO E£000 E0DO E000
Profit for the year 56.446 {21,118) 35,328 4B.328 (21.277) 27.051
Item that may be subsequently reclassified to the
income statement; )
Exchange movements on overseas nel assets 14249) - {424) 53 - 53
Items that will not be reclassified to income statement:
Exchange movernents on ovErseas nel assets of
norr-cantrolling interests {320] - t3ze} 45 — 45
Other comprehensive income far the year (734} - (744} 98 - a8
Total comprehensive income for the year .—.9%,702 {21.118) 34,584 48.426 (21277 27149
Non-controlling interest {3.100) - {3,100) 1.978) - (1.978)
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Parent 52,602 {21.118) 31,484 45,448 {21.277) 25171
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CareTech Hotdings PLC / Annwal Repart and Accounts 2021

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
as at 30 September 2021

2021 2020
Note £000 £000
Non-current assets
Property. plant and equipment 13 619,482 604.096
Right-of-use assets 14 123,211 87790
Intangible asyets 15 47,032 83,084
Goodwill 15 86,866 84,604
916,611 859.574
Current assets
inventories 16 3,468 1937
Trade and other receivables 17 71,606 51,055
Cash and cash eguivatents 18 65,560 54,273
140,634 107265
Total assets 1,057,245 966,839
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 21 70,011 55.017
Lease liabilities 14 5,500 6.208
Cantingert tonsideration payable 5 3,615 1.569
Deferred income 19 36,132 30.309
Carporation tax 17,753 14.757
133,012 107,860
Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 20 319,654 318.955
Lease liabilities 14 118,781 82.480
Deferred tax liabilities 22 93,927 69.844
Provisions 23 5,540 21,286
‘Dervative financial instruments T ) T 24 T 5414 ° T 2188
543,318 494,763
Totat liabilities 676,328 602.623
Netasscls 380,917 364 216
Equity
Share capitat 26 566 565
Share premium 27 133,551 133,079
Shares heid by Executive Shared Qwnership Plan 27 (12,837 {L3.308)
Mearger reserye 27 125,842 125.842
Foreign currency transtation reserve 27 371) 53
Retained earhings 27 121,619 107120
Total equity attributable to equity sharcholders of the Parent 368,370 353,354
Non-cantrolling interest 27 12,547 10,862
Total equity 380,917 364.216

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 6 December 2021 and were

signed on its behalf by: ..
y (fUe—
Farouq Shejkh OBE Christopher Dickinson

Group Executive Chairman Group Chief Financial Officer
Company number; 04457287
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

as at 30 September 2021
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Shares held
by Executive Fareign Total
Shared qurrency  atuibutable Non-
Share Share  Ownership Retained Merger  transaton (oawnersof  controling
capital premivm Plan earnings reserue reserve the Parent intetest Total equity
£000 E0QD £0900 £000 EQ0Q £QOC £000 ECQD EOQ0
At 1 Qctober 2019 545 121.304 (3.537) 90.55% 125,536 - 334,407 957 335.364
Profit for the year - - - 25118 - - 25118 1933 27051
{ther comprehensive incame - - - - ~ 53 53 45 S8
Total comprehensive incame - - - 25.118 ~ 53 25171 1978 27.149
lssue ol grdinary-shares-net e
of transaction casts i8 10.043 (9.927} - - - 62 - 64
Redemption of share options - - 229 - - - 229 - 229
Acquisition 2 1.732 - - 306 - 2.040 7.927 9967
Equity-settled share-based
paymernts’ charge - - - 4 449 - - 4449 - 4,449 -
Dividends - - - {13,008) - — {13.006) - (£5.006]
Transactions with owners
recorded direCtly in equity 20 11775 19,768) 16,561 306 53 18947 9,505 28,852
At 30 September 2020 565 133,079 (13.305) 107,120 125,882 53 353,354 10,862 364,216
Profit for the year - - - 31,908 - - 31308 3420 35328
Cther comprehensive income - - - - - (424) (424) (320 (744)
Total campreherisive income - - - 31,908 - {424 31,484 3100 34,584
_ Issue of ardinary shares - - JE—

net of transaction costs 1 472 ~ - - - 473 ~ 473
Redemption of share options - - 468 - - - 468 ~ 468
Acguisitions {Nate 5a) - - - - - - - 1450 1.450
Equity-setiled share-based
payments’ charge - - - 1,373 - - 1373 -~ 1373
Dividends - - - 14.431) - — (14.431) (2,865 (17.298)
Recognition of habilities with
non-cantraliing interest (Note 24j - - - (4,351) - - (4,351} - {4.351]
Transactians with awners
recorded directly in equity 1 472 468 14,499 - {424 15,016 1,685 16.701
A% 30 September 2021 566 133,551 (12,837} 121,619 125,842 (371) 368,370 12,547 380,917



CareTech Heldings PLC { Annual Repart and Accounts 2021

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 September 2021

2021 2620
Note £000 £QC0
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax 66,234 37823
Adjustments for:
Financial expenses 9 13,270 15,539
Depreciaticn 13.14 19,519 17.021
Amartisation of intangible assets 15 10,273 10,186
Sleep-in provision 6 {11,777) -
Gain on bargain purchase 6 {5,758} -
Share-bzsed payments’ charge 8.25 1,373 4,449
OtReT on-cashyiterns 6 587 =
Operating cash flows before movement in working capital 93,721 85,018
Increase in inventory {651) (48}
{Increasel/decrease in trade and other receivables {15,553 5.565
Increasefldecreasa) in trade and other payables 12,715 2.227)
Cash inflows from operating jctivities 89.832 88,310
Tax paid (6,038) {3.899)
Net cash from cperating activities 83,794 84 411
Cash flows from investing actjvities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1,299 1.536
Business combinations net of Cash acquired 5 (5,447 {2,000
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 13 (28,993) (23,842}
Acquisition of software 15 (2,938) (2.840)
__Payment of contingent_copsideration_ _ _ . . . 1,503). . _ _ ___{739)
Net cash used in investing activities (37,582} {27.88%5)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares net af transaction costs 26 941 254
Proceeds from shareholder toars 5 - 1,808
Interest paid (10,599} {10,737
Cash cutflow arising from nan-underiying finance expenses {1,756) {1,053)
Loan arrangement fees (438) -
Principal payment of lease liabilities {5,777} 18.797)
Dividends paid to non-contralling interest {2,865} -
Dividends paid 28 (14,431} (13,606)
Net cash used in from financihg activities (34,925) (31.491)
Net increase in cash and cash equivatents 11,287 25,035
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 Qctober 15 54,273 29.238
Cash and cash equivalents at 30 Septemb 18 65,560 54,273
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Background and basis of preparation

CareTech Holdings PLC (the ‘Group’ or ‘Company’] is a company registered and domiciled in £ngland and Wales. The consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 30 September 2071 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries ftogether referred to as the
‘Group’}. The consolidated financial statements are presented in pounds sterling, which is the Company’s functional currency, rounded to the
nearest thousand. The Parent Company financial statements on pages 165 to 172 present information about the Company as a separate entity
and not ahout its Group. .

The censclidated financial statements were approved for release by the Board of Directors on & December 2021.

Going concern

The Group's business activities together with the factors likely to affect its future devalopment, performance and position are set out in the
Group Executive Chaloman's Statement_and_Group Chiet Executive’s Statement.and Performance Review on.pages 14 to 17 and.pages_ 20 to.

25. The financial position of the Group. its cash flows, liquidity pasition and borrowing facilities are described in the Group Financial Review on
pages 72 to 75. The Directors have assessed the viabllity of the Group in the Langer-term Viabllity Statement set out on page 75. In agdition,
ncte 29 to the financial statements includes the Group's objectives, policies and processes for rmanaging its capital. its financial risk managerment
objectives, details of its financial instruments and hedging activities and its exposures to credit risk, interast rate risk ang liquidity risk. As
highlighted in that note, the Group meets its day-to-day working capita! requirements through cash flow from profits which together with
existing bank facilities are sufficient to fund present commitments. Term facitities are wlilised to fund capitat expenditure and short-term
flexibility is achieved by the utilisation of cash resaurces in respect of financial liabilities, which are shown in the teble in note 29 and indicatas
their contractual cash flow maturities.

The Group is financed by bank 1oan facilities that mature in August 2023. The Directors have considered the Group's forecasts and projections,
and the risks assaciated with their delivery, and are satisfied that the Group will be able to operate within the covenants imposed by bank loan
facilities for at least 12 manths from the date of approval of the consclidated financial informaticn. In relation to available cash resources, the
Directors have had regard to both cash at bank and a £25m caommitted undrawn revolving credit facility.

The Directors nave prepared a cash flow forecast taking intG account !l expected cash flows for 12 months from the date of signing these
__.__financial statements. After making due enquiries. the Directors have a regsonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to

continue on operational existence for the foreseeable future,

Accordingly, the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for the Graup and Parent Company in preparing the
consclidated financial statements.

2. Accounting policies

{3) Applicable accounting standards

The Group financial statements have been prepared and approved by the Directors in accordance with international accounting standards
in confarmity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been apphied consistently to all periads presented in these Group
financial staterments.
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CareTech Koldings PLC / Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Notes to the Financial Statements
continued

2. Accounting policies continued
New and amended standards and interpretations effective in the year

issued IFRS not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of these financial slaternenls, cerlain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have
been published by the |IASB but are not yet effective and these have not been applied early by the Group, Managerment anticipates that the
following proncuncements relevant to the Group's operaticn will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policies for the first period beginning
after the effective date of the prencuncement, ence adopted by the EU:

Title Subject Effective date per standard
Amendment to IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ COVID-19 - Related Rent CQOVID-19 - Related Rent Concessions 1 April 2021 per IASB
Concessions beyond 30 June 2021

T T T A e RSt IFRS 9T IAS 39, IFRS 7 IFRS A 8rd IFAS 16 “literdst Rate Beneriniark Reform — Priase 2 1January 2021 per |ASB
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023 per |ASB
Amendments to IFRS 10 and I1AS 28 (Sept 2014) Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Pastponed

Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The Directors expect that the adoption of the standards listed above will not have a material impact on the financial information of the Group
in future reporting pericds.

{b) Measurement convention

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except that derivative financial instruments are stated at their fair value and
contingent consideration is stated at fair value through profit or loss.

{c) Basis of consolidation

The Group financial statements consolidate thase of the Parent Company and all of its subsidiaries as of 30 September 2021. All subsidiaries
have a reporting date of 30 September, except for AS Investment Holdings Ltd. ASL Investment Holdings Ltd. AS2 Investments Heldings Ltd. and

their respective operating_eniities in the United Arab Emirates (UAE) (the ‘AS Group'). which has a year end of 31 December as this their statutory

reporting date. All transacticns and batances between Group companies are eliminated on consolidation, including unrealised gains and losses
on transactions between Group companies. Where unrealised losses on intra-group asset sales are reversed on consolidation, the underlying
asset is 2lso tested for impairment from a Group perspective. Amounts reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted
where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group. Subsidiaries are only consclidated where contral
exists. Control is determined to exist when the Group has power over the investee, exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involverment
with the investee and the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns.

{d) Property, plant and equipment
Property. plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost
of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use and
capitalised borrowing costs. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that
equipment.

The cost of replacing an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future
econamic benefits embodied within the component will flow to the Group, and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced component is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, ptant and equipment are recognised in the profit or
loss as incurred.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have ditferent useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of property.
plant and equipment and depreciated separately.
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2. Accounting policies continued
Depreciation is ¢harged to the consolidated income staternent aver the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and

equipment. Land is not depreciated. The Directors reassess the residual value estimates. particularly in respect of properties. on an annual basis.

The estimated vsefil lives are as follows:

- freehold buildings 2% straight-line to residual value;
- long leasehold praperty over the life of the lease;

— short leasehold property over the life of the lease;

— fixtures, fittings and equipment 15% straight-line; and

- motor vehicles 25% reducing balance.

(e} Intangible assets and goodwill

All business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method as described in note 2{rl. Goodwill represents the excess of
the fair value of the consideration over the fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries.

Identifiable intangibles are those which can be sold separately or which arise from legal rights regardless of whether those rights are separable.

Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairmertt lasses. Goodwill is sllocated to cash-generating units and is not amortised but
is tested annually for impairment.

Negative goodwill (bargain purchase credit} arising on an acquisition is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement,
Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at cost less accumulialed amortisation and impairment losses.
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Included within software are development costs in relation to software which are capitalised when the related projects meet the recognition
criteria of an internally generated intangible asset, the key criteria being as follows:

-—— -———{a) - technical feasibility-of completing-the intangible-asset-sa-that-it will-be available far use or-sale;

(b) it can be demonsirated that the asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

{c) adequate technical, financial and other resources are available to complete the development;
{d) the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset can be reliably measured; and

(el management has the ability and intention to use or seli the asset.

These projects are designed to enhance the existing software within the Group. Salaries associated with development time and directly
attributable overheads are capitalised within intangible assets.

Developmemn costs recognised as assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their expacted useful life. Development expenditure is only

amortised over the period the Group is expected ta benefit and is subject to annual impairment testing.

The estimated useful life and amaortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate

being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Amaortisation is charged to the consolidated income staternent on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets unless

such lives are indefinite. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

— customner relationships 1-20 years; and
— software and licences ) 5 years.

121

SLNIWILYLS TIVIONYNIA



CareTech Holdings PLC / Annual Repart and Accounts 2021

Notes to the Financial Statements
continued

2. Accounting policies continued

{f) Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is based on & first-in first-out cost basis.
lg) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with maturities of three months or less from inception.

{b] Financial instruments

Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becemes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

Except-for-these-trade-receivables-that-do-net-contain-a-significant-financing-component-and-are-measured-at-the-transaction-price-in
accordance with IFRS 15, all financiat assets are initially rmeasured at fair value adjusted for transaction costs (where applicable). Financial liabilities
are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs unless the Group designated a financial liability at fair
value through profit or loss. Subsequent measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities are described below.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, ar when the financial asset and
all substantial risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.
Classificaticn and subsequent measurement of financial assets

For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified into the following categories wpon initial recogniticn:

— Financia! assets at amortised cost.

~ Financial assets/liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss { FVTPL).

FVTPL assets in this categary are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised in profit or toss. The fair values of financial assets in this
category are determined by reference to active market transactions or using a valuation technique where no active market exists.

-Allincome and expenses Telating to financial-assets that arerecaghisedinthe corsolidated incomestatethient are presented within finance costs
or finance income, excent for impairment of trade receivables which is presented within other administrative expenses.
Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets are measured at amartised cost if the assets meet the following conditions {and are not designated as FVTPL):

— they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual cash flows; and

= the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to ¢ash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Discounting is omitted where the effect
of discounting is immaterial. The Group's cash and cash equivalents, trade and most other receivables fall into this category of financial
instruments.
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CareTeeh Holdings PLC / Annual Repart and Accounts 2021

Notes to the Financial Statements
continued

2. Accounting policies continued
Trade receivables and contract assets continued

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of 48 months and before 30 September 2020 and 30
Septemnber 2021 respectively as well as the correspondingly historical credit losses during that period. The historical rates are adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking macroeconoemic factors affecting the customer’s ability to settle the amount outstanding. Expected credit losses
are calculated in accordance with the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, using a provision matrix applying lifetime historical credit loss
experience to the trade receivables. The expected credit loss rate varies depending on whether, and the extent to which, settlement of the trade
receivables is overdue and it is also adjusted as appropriate to reflect current economic conditions and estimates of future conditions. For the
purpose of determining credit loss rates, customers are classitied into groupings that have similar loss patterns. The key driver of the loss rate is
the type of customer. The vast majarity of the Group’s customers are state-owned entities such as local authorities. As such, credit loss is not
expected to increase significantly since initial recognition.

Calculation of recoverable amount

(i} Impairment {exctuding deferred tax assets)

The carrying amounts of the Group's assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.

If any such indication exists, the asset's recoverable amount is estimated.

For goodwill and assets that have an indefinite useful life, the recoverable amount is estimated at each balance sheet date. For goodwill and
assets which are not amortised or depreciated, the recoverable amount is estimated at each balance sheet date.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any gocdwill allocated to
cash-generating units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit on a pro rata basis. A cash-generating unit is the
smaltest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups

of assets.

The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their fair vatue less costs to sell and value in use, In assessing value in use, the estimated

future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discaunt rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is
determinad far the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. This includes right-of-use assets, which cannot be operated independently.

Reversals of impairment
An impairment loss is reversed if the subsequent increase in recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised.

Any impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

In respect of other assets. an impairment loss is reversed when there is an indication that the impairment loss may no longer exist or there has
been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amaunt. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined. net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment
loss had been recognised.
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2. Accounting policies continued
{j) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrawings are recognised initially at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are slated at amortised cost with any difference between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value being recognised in the consctidated income statement over the period of the borrowings on an effective interest basis.

Borrowings are classified as current Yiabilities unless the Group has an uncenditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months
after the reporting date.

Interest on qualifying assets is capitatised in accordance with |AS 23 borrowing costs. Refer to note 9.

(k) Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans

Obligations far contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised a5 an expense in the conscolidated income statement
as incurred.

Short-term benefits--. -

Shart-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided. A provision
is recognised for the amount expected ta be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Share-based payment transactions

The grant date fair value of options granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense, with a correspanding increase in equity, over

the pericd in which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the options. The fair value of the options granted is measured using an

option vaivation model (Black-Scholes valuation model), taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.

The amount recognised on exercise as an expense is adjusted to take into account an estimate of the number of shares that are expected to vest
——— . —as-Well as to reflect-the-actual number-of-share options-that-vest-except-where forfeiture is due-only-te-share-prices-not achieving the-threshold

for vesting. Options lapsed are expunged from the relevant scheme.

Employee Benefit Trust
The assets and liabilities of the Employee Benetit Trust (EBT') have been included in the consolidated financial statements. Any assets held by the

EBT cease to be recognised on the consolidated balance sheet when the assets vest unconditionally in identified beneficianes.

The costs of purchasing own shares held by the EBT are shown as a deduction against equity. The broceeds from the sale of own shares held
increased equity. Neither the purchase nor sale of own shares leads to a gain or lkoss being recognised in the consolidated income statement.

{l) Provisions

A provision. other than provisions for deferred taxation. is recognised in the balance sheet where a reliable estimate can be made when the
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the abligation. If the etfect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected, risk adjusted, and future cash
flows at a pre-tax risk-free rate.

125

SINIWILYIS WIDKYNIS




CareTech Holdings PLC / Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Notes to the Financial Statements
continued

2. Accounting policies continued
{m) Revenue

IFRS 15 provides a single. principles-based approach to the recognition of revenue from all contracts with customers. It focuses on the
identification of performance obligations in a contract aind requires reveniue Lo be recognised either at a pointin time or over time, when
lor as) the Group satisfies performance obligations by transferring the proamised goods or services to its customers.

Revenue arises mainly from the provision of care and educational services to vulnerable adults and children. fostering and the sale of hardware
and software.

income which has been invoiced but irrecoverable is treated as a bad debt expense. Revenue invoiced in advance is Included in deferred revenue
until the service is provided. Revenue is recognised net of VAT and credit notes.

Careservices
Revenue from the sale of care services provided to vulnerable aduits and children is recognised as the services are provided. Care services
are consumed as soon as they are provided and performance obligaticns are satisfied when services are rendered to the client. There are no
significant financing components and invoice payment terms are typically 30 days.

Our contracts provide that the Group is entitled to consideration based on the amount of care services delivered {for example number of days’
worth of care delivered in the period) and an agreed rate. On this basis, the Group have applied the practical expedient set out in fFRS 15 para
121. There are no significant judgements used in the recognition of revenue,

Revenue in respect af the provision of care services is measured as the fair value of fee income received or receivable in respect of the services
provided and is recognised in respect of the care that has been provided in the relevant period. Any additicnal services provided by the Group
are recognised as the services are provided.

Educational services
Revenue in respect of educational services is recognised when the young person is in schoal, over the academic year. as this is when the service
user is receiving the educational services.

Consideration is determined by the contractually agreed amount for each placement with payment for each term typically received in advance.

Fostering services

For Foster Care, the Group is aciing as a principal as contracts are between the Group and local suthorities and separately between the Group
and foster carers with a number of performance conditions attached to each.

Foster Care revenue is recagnised on the basis of the daily placements made with a full day’s revenue recognised for every night a placement
is with a foster carer at an agreed rate.

Hardware and software

Revenue from the sale of hardware and software far 2 fixed fee is recognised when ar as the Group transfers control of the assets to the
customer. Inveices for goods or services transferred are due upon receipt by the custamer, payment terms are typically 30 days. Control
transfers at the point in time the customer takes undisputed delivery of the goods.

The Group provides a one- or two-year manufacturer’s warranty {extended by aur suppliers) on hardware products. Communication devices
manufactured by Smartbox are sold with a Smart Care extended warranty. Under the terms of the warranty customers can return the product
for repair or replacement if it fails to perform in accordance with published specifications, These warranties are accounted for under (AS 37,

The Group sells monthly software subscriptions and perpetual licences. For stand-alone sales of software that are neither customised by the
Group nor subject to significant integration services, control transfers at the point in time the customer takes undisputed delivery of the goods.
For sales of software that are neither customised by the Group nor subject to significant integration services, the licence period commences
upon delivery.
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2. Accounting policies continued
Contract assets and liabilitiesfaccrued and deferred income

The Group recagnises contract liabilities for consideration raceived in respect of unsatisfied perfarmance obligations and reports these amounts
as deferred income in the balance sheet (see note 15). An example of this is where the Group will invoice in advance for education services.
This is held in deferred income untit the service has been provided.

Similarly the Group recognises a contract asset when a contract has been agreed with a customer and a service user has been admitted to our
tacilities but no sales inveice has been issued. This is disclosed as accrued income.

The Group will estimate the accrued income using the agreed contractual rate and the number of days where the service user was recelving
care from the Group.

——(c)-Expenses - - e - : e

Revenue disaggregation

The majority of the Group's customers are state-owned entities such as local autharities. The Group's operations are substantially withirt the

UK. As such the Group has determined that because its revenue is earned in one geographical location to one specific type of customer, it is
appropriate to report the revenue recognised from contracts with customers in the same operating segments as are used for segmental analysis
{see note 4). .- —_ .

{n) Non-underlying items

The Group has applied an income statement format which seeks to hightight significant items within Group results for the year. Such items may
include significant restructuring and oneraus lease provisions, fair value movements in contingent consideration, profit or loss on disposal or
termination of operations, litigation costs and settlement of share-based payments, profit or loss on disposal of investments and impairment

of assets. The Group exercises judgemnent in assessing the particular items which, by virtue of their scale and nature should be disclosed in the
income staterent and related notes as non-underlying items. The Group believes that such a presentation is useful for the users of the financial
staterments in helping to pravide a balanced view of, and relevant information on. the Group’s financial performance. Details are included in
note 6,

SINIWILIVLS IVIINVYNIY

Financing costs

Financing costs. comprising interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts, finance charges on finance leases, the unwinding of the discount on
provisions and the costs incurred in connection with the arrangement of borrowings are recognised In the consolidated income statement using
the effective interest method.

Interest payable is recognised in the consolidated income staternent as it accrues, using the effective interest method. Financing costs that are
directly attributable to the acguisition or construction of a qualifying asset are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset.

Financing costs also include losses arising on the change in fair valug of derivatives that are recognised in the consclidated income statement.
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2. Accounting policies continued
[p) Leased assets
The Group as a lessee

For any nows contracts entered inlu on or after 1 Octaber 2U1Y. the Group considers whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A lease is
defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract. that conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for
consideration’, To apply this definition the Group assesses whether the contract meets three key evaluations which are:

- Contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly specified by being identified at the time
the asset is made available to the Group.

— Group has the right to obtain substaritially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified asset throughout the period of use,
considering.its_rights within_the defined_scope.of_the_contract

- Group has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period of use. The Group assesses whether it has the right to direct
‘how and for what purpose’ the asset is used throughout the period of use.

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the balance sheet. The right-of-use asset Is
measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of
any costs to dismantle and remaove the asset at the end of the lease, and any lease payments made in advance of the lease commencement date
{net of any incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the end of the
useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The Group also assesses the right-of-use asset for impairment when such
indicators exist.

At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease lizbility at the present value of the tease payments unpaid at that date, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is readily available or the Group's incremental borrowing rate.

""" Téase payments included in the measurement of the ease Uability aré made Up of fixed payments {including in subsfance fixed). vartable ’
payments based on an index or rate, amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee and payments arising from options
reasonably certain to be exercised.

Subseguent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for payments made and increased for interest. It is re-measured to reflect any
reassessment or modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed payments.

When the lease liability is re-measured, the corresponding adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the right-of-use
asset is already reduced to zero.

The Group has elecied to account for shart-term leases and leases of low-vatue assets using the practical expedients. Instead of recognising a
right-of-use asset and lease liability, the payments in relation to these are recognised as an expense in profit or loss an a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

On the statement of financial position, right-of-use assets and lease liabilities have been disclosed separately.
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2. Accounting policies continued
{g) Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated income statement except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised direcily in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity. Current tax is the expected tax payable on
the taxable income for the year, using tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the batance sheet date, and any adjustment to
tax payable in respect of previous years. ’

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and
the armounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are not provided for: the initial recognition of goodwill: the initial
recagnitian of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit other than in a business combination, and differences relating
to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future.

) lghe a;quired net Ldentifiableﬁassetrs.

The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlerment of the carrying amount of assets and
liabilities. using tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable grofits will be available against which the asset can be utilised. The carrying amounts of deferred
tax assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date.

{r} Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method in accounting for business combinations. The consfderation transferred by the Group to obtain
control of a subsidiary is calculated as the sum af the acquisition-date fair values of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and the equity interests
issued by the Group. which includes the fair value of any asset or liability arising from a contingent consideration arrangement. The calculation
of contingent consideration is based on the provisions included in the sale and purchase agreement of each acquisition and is updated if
circumstances change. Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred. Assets acquired and liabilities assumed are measured at their acquisition-
date fair values. The Group recognises non-controliing interests in an acquired entity either at fair value or at the non-contralling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net identifiable assets. This decision is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. For the non-
controlling interests in the AS Group and Smartbox, the Group elected to recognise the non-controlling interests at its proportionate share of

{s) Government grants

Government grants are recognised only when there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with any conditions attached to the
grant and the grant will be received. The grants are recognised a5 income over the period necessary to match therm with the related costs, for
which they are intended to compensate, an a systematic basis. A grant receivable as compensation for costs already incurred or for immediate
financial support, with no futyre related costs, is recognised as income in the period in which it is receivable.

3. Accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in confarmity with IFRS reguires management to make judgements, estmates and assumptions which
affect the application of accounting policies and the reperted amounts of assets, iabilities. income and expenses. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, the Directors have made the following estimates and judgemernits which have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial staterments:

Estimates

£stimales and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an cngoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the pericd in
which the estimates are revised and in any future perods affected.

129

SLNIWILVLS T¥IINVYNIA



CareTech Haldings PLC / Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Notes to the Financial Statements
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3. Accounting estimates and judgements continued
Goodwill

The Group annually tests whether there is any impairment in goodwill. in accordance with the accounting policy outlined in note 2{e).
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires comparison of the value in use for the relevant CGUs to the net assets attributable to these
CGUs. The value-in-use calculation is based on an estimate of future cash flows expected to arise from the CGUs and these are discounted to
net present value using an appropriate discount rate. In calculating value in use. management judgement is reguired in forecasting cash flows
of cash-generating units, in determining terrminal growth values and in calculating an appropriate discount rate. The goodwill impairment test
is sensitive to these estimates. The Group has performed sensitivity analysis over the value-in-use catculation with respect to the key estimates.
The discount rates applied in these calculations are disclosed in note 15.

Judgements

Capitalised development costs

Capitalisation of development costs within software and licences requires the Directors to make judgements in allocating staff time appropriately
to relevant projects and in assessing the technical feasibility and economic potential of thase projects as well as forecasts for the useful
economic life of each asset have been used. The useful economic life of development costs is determined to be five years,

CareTech Charitable Foundation

Judgement is required in determining whether the Group has contra! of the CareTech Charitable Foundation (the ‘Foundation’). In assessing
contra!, the Group has assessed whether it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involverment in the Foundation. Consideration
has been given te the fact the Group cannot directly appoint or remove a Trustee but can remove a member and veto the appointment of a new
member. The membership of the charitable campany is restricted to the independent Trusteas and relevant activities of the charity governed

by the Board of Trustees. Given the majority of the Trustees are Group employees, an assessment has been made as to whether the Group
employees are able to exercise control and therefare generate variable returns.

The Foundation's Trustees owe very strict legal duties under the Charity Commission 1o act as fiduciaries and each Trustee must act independent
of its own interest of indeed anyone else’s save for those of the charity. Based on these legal duties, the Directors have used their judgement that

~—-a Foundation Trusteecoold not act on behalf of a third-party-if-acting In"compliance with theirduties-and-how the law permits and therefore'the

Groeup does nat control the Foundation.

Fair value adjustments in business combinatians

Judgernent is required in determining the fair value adjustments as part of business combinations as detailed in note 5. For the fair value of
intangible assets a third-party specialist has been engaged.

4. Segmental information

IFRS 8 requires operating segments to be determined based on the Group's internal reporting to the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM’).
The CODM has been determined to be the Group Chief Executive Officer as he is primarily responsible for the allocation of resources to
segments and the assessment of the performance of each of the segments,

The CODM uses underlying EBITDA as reviewed at monthly Executive Committee meetings as the key measure of the segrnents’ results as
it reflects the segments’ underlying trading performance for the period under evaluation. Underlying EBITDA is a consistent measure within
the Group.

Inter-segment turnover between the operating segments is not material.
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4, Segmental information continued

The Group’s reporting segments have been determined hased on the services that are summarised as foltows:

— Adults Services - the provision of care and residential services for adults with learning disabitities, individuals recovering*from mental health
disorders. adults with autistic spectrum disorder, those with one or more physical impairment and adults with acquired brain injury,

- Children’s Services — the provision of assessment, residential care and education tor yaung people with challenging behaviours, and thase
with behavioural and emotianal disorders.

— Foster Care — the provision of foster care for both mainstream and specialist foster care in small supportive groups acress England and Wales
for children with disahilities.

- Digital Technology - the provision of diagnostic assistiva technology to enhance communication and the independence of disabled users.

Tre-Grouphas aggregatedits Middie Eastoperating segmentinmthe-Adults Services and Children's Services reporting segmentsin“accordance

with IFRS B. The economic indicators assessed are the nature of the services provided, the nature of the production processes, the clase

simitarity of the class of customers, the distribution methods of the services, and the government regulatory environments in which both the
segments operate within.

The rasults as at the balance sheet date report segmental information on the Graug's four reparting segmernts., é
The segmental results for the current financial year ending 30 September 2021 and prior year ending 30 September 2020 and the reconciliation f,
of the segment measures to the respective statutery items included in the consolidated financial information are as follows: E
Yeatended Year ended E
30 Septembper 30 September =
2022 202¢ ;
Total Tatal ™
£a00 £000 z
Adults Services l-ﬂ'
Client capacity 2,104 1997
Revenue £00Q 169.664 136,219
Underlying EBITDA before unaliocated costs £00U i - 38,360 35676
Children's Services
Client capacity 2,000 1,959
Revenue E000 ) 268,559 252863
Underiying EBITDA before unatlocated costs £300 746,165 69,561
Foster Care
Client capacity 875 {028
Revenue £000 348,160 40,984
Underlying EBITDA pefore unatlocated costs £000 1758 8563
Digital Technology - -
Revenue 12,932 -
Underlying EBITDA before unaliocated costs 2.427 -
Total
Client capacity 4,97% 4,584
Revenue £000 T aBa.315 429,966
Underlying EBITCA before unatiocated costs £000 124,670 113,800
Total Group revenue
Segmental revenye 489,315 428.968
Less: intercompany sales and othier revenue (196} -
Group reveaue 489,118 429.966
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4, Segmental information continued
Reconcilistion of EBITDA tc profit after tax:

Year ended Year ended

30 September 30 Septamber

2021 2020

Tatal Total

. £000 E000

Underlying EBITDA before unallocated costs 124,670 113,800
Unailocated corporate cverheads (24,185} (22,868}
Underlying EBITDA 100,485 90,932
Depreciation: {19,519) {17.021)
Share-based.payments_charge {475%). (330}
Non-underlying iterns {Note 6) . {989) (20,219}
Operaling profit 79,504 53.362
Finance expenses (13,270) {15,539}
Profit before tax 66,234 37823
Taxation ST {30.906) (10,772)
Non-contrelling interest (3.420] {1,933}
Profit after tax 31,908 25.118

Operations of the Group are primarily carried out in the UK. the Company's country of domicite. The AS Group. registered in the {({UAE') has
generated revenue in the UAE of £25.1m (2020: £15.5m). On 5 October 2020 the Group acquired a majority shareholding in Smartbox Assistive
Technology Limited and associated subsidiaries. Revenue by Smartbox has been generated in Europe of £4.5m. North and Central America of
£2.1m, Australasia of £0.6rm, and Middle East and Africa of E0.7m. All other revenues arise within the UK.

No asset and liability information is presented above as this informatian is not aliocated to operating segments in the regular reporiing to the
Group's CODM and are not measures used by the CQODM to assess performance and to make resource allocation decisions.

5. Business combinations
[a} Acquisition of Smarthox

On the 5 October 2020, the Group acquired a majority holding in Srmartbox Assistive Technology Limited and associated subsidiaries, and
Sensory Software International Limited {Collectively ‘Smarthox’) a creator of augmentative and alternative communicatiors (AAC’) solutions
(‘the Investment’).

To facilitate the acquisition, the Group has established a new subsidiary, Smartbox Holdings Ltd, which is 70% owned by the Group, with the
remaining minority ownership held by the Smartbox management tearn. Smartbox Holdings Ltd acquired 100% of Smartbox.

The Group will pay up to £12.0m comprising of an aggregate initial purchase price of £9.1m. funded through cash and loan note from the Group
and cash from the minority holders of Smartbox Holdings Limited, Earn-outs of up to £3.6m payable over a two-year period from completion
based upon the gross profit of Smartbox for the full year ended 30 Septernber 2021, The Group expects this amount to be paid over a two-year
period from the date of completion and has valued the contingent consideration at the fair value on acquisition date. The expected range of the
amount payable is between £0 to £3.6m. The Group's contribution will be funded from existing cash resources.

Smattbox is a market-leading creator of software and hardware that helps disabled people without speech to have a voice and live more
independently. It makes communication as quick, simple and effective as possible tor those service users for whom speech difficulties can be:
a challenge. Its solutions include communication aids, eavironmental control devices, computer control technology and interactive learning.

Smartbox, headquartered in Malvern, UK with offices in 8ristol and Pennsylvania US, was acquired by Tobii AB in 2018. Following a full inquiry
from the UK Competition and Markets Authority, Tobii was required to seil Smartbox on competition grounds, providing the Group an
opportunity to secure a majority equity stake in the innovative tech firm,
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5. Business combinations continued
The acquisition table is as follows:

Fair value
Book values adjustments Tota!
EDDOs £000s £000s
ntangibile assets - 5,217 5,217
Property plant & equipment. 248 - 249
Right-of-use asset L1111 - 1111
Trade and other receivables 1126 - 1126
“Inventory 878 - 878
Cash o 2162 = 2163
Carpotation tax 43 - 43
Deferred tax {15} {391} {1,005}
Trade and other payables (110) - (110}
Lease liability (1.111) - {1111 -
Net assets on i 4,334 - 4,226 8,560 z
Consideration paid 12,028 g
Goodwill 3,468 >
-
v
Consideration paid was: EQDD g
Cash 9.060 ;
Cuntingent consigeration 2958 z
Total consideration 12.028 a
Reconciliation to the cash flow statement EOGO
Cash paid - 9.060 o
Cash contribulion by existing owners. 1,450
Cash acquired 12.163)
5,447

Payments for business combination net of cash acquired

Costs relating to this acquisition are expersed in the Income Statement in accordance with IFRS3 and are identified in note 6,

non-underlying iterms.

Judgement is required in determining the fair value adjustments as part of business combinations and for the fair value of intangible assets
a third-party specialist has been engaged. Intangible assets of E5.2m were recognised on acquisition related to digital technology,
£3.4m, custorner relationships, £0.9m and trade name, £0.9m. A respective deferred tax liability of £1m was raised,

Goodwill is attributable 1o the future economic benefits arising from assets which are not capable of being individually identified and separately
recognised, these include value of the assembled workforce within the business acquired. Other intangible assets acquired comprise technology.

customer relationships and the Smartbox trade name.

Goodwill arises as a result of the surplus of consideration over the fair value of the separately identifiable assets acquired.

Smartbox contributed revenue of £12.9m and £4.8m to the Group's profit after tax for the year between the date of acquisition and the balance
sheet date. Had the acquisition of Smartbox been completed on the first day of the financial year there would have been no material change to

the Group revenues and profit after tax for the year.
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5. Business combinations continued
{b) Acquisition of The Huntercombe Group’

On 30 November 2020, the Group completed the transfer of seven services previously operated by The Huntercombe Group. These services
are highly specialised facilities for the trcatment and care of adults wilth complex learning disabrlities, autism and mentat health diagnoses.
They consist of three hospitals, two care homes with nursing. @ number of single accommodation units with residentiat care registration and
the support of people in their own tenancies in a step-down facility. The capacity of the services today is 142 beds. The transfer was structured
with no capital outlay and is expected to be immediately earnings accretive.

The acquisition table with the fair value of assets and liabilities is as follows:

Fair value
£000s
Intangible assets 6,566
Property plant & equipment ’ 440
Right-of-use asset 30,828
Deferred tax (1.248)
Lease liabitity - - {29,853) -
Ditapidation provision . 1975)
Net assets on acquisition 5,758
Consideration paid -
Gain on bargain purchase 15,758)

The Huntercombe Group contributed revenue of £20.8m and £0.7m to the Group's profit after tax for the year between the date of acquisition
and the balance sheet date. The Huntercombe Group revenues far the year would have been higher by £4.4m and Group profit after tax would
have been higher by £0.3m for the current year ended.

Judgement is required in determining the fair value adjustments as part of business combinations and for the fair value of intangible assets
arthird-party specialist-hasbeen-engaged. An intangible-asset-of-£6.6m was recognised on acquisition-as-a-result of acquired customer

relationships and a respective deferred tax liability of £1.3rm was raised. A right-of-use asset was recognised for its long-term leases and

a corresponding lease liability and dilapidation provision. The fair value of owned property was £0.4m.

The previous operstor was going through difficulties and wanted to dispose the lease liabilities associated with these properties, Accordingly,
CareTech was able to obtain ownership of the existing teases and operations with no capital outlay which resulted in a bargain purchase.

(c) Acquisition after the balance sheet date
Non-adjusting subsequent event

Acquisition of REHAVISTA GMBH (‘REHAVISTA)

On 29 November 2021, (‘Smartbox’) announced the acquisition of REHAVISTA and its subsidiary company Log8UK. REHAVISTA is Germany's
largest provider of {AAC’] products and services. LogBUK is a subsidiary company to REHAVISTA, providing independent speech and language
therapy to help AAC users achieve the best autcomes through specialist clinicat support. Smartbox paid €10m in cash on completion, funded by
the Group's debt facility and past completion, CareTech witl awn 83% of Smartbex with the remaining minority ownership held by the Smartbox
management team.

Given the proximity of the annauncement to the completion date of the transaction it is not possible ta give a preliminary acquisition table at
this time.
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6. Non-underlying items

Non-underlying items are those items of financial performance which, in the opinion of the Directors, should be disclosed separately in order

to improve the reader’s understanding of the trading performance of the Group. Non-underlying items comprise the following:

2021 2020

Note E000 £000
COVID-19 income 0] (2,692) 12.550)
Amortisation of intangible assets {id 10,273 10,186
COVID-19 expenses (i 4,220 3.422
Acquisition expenses {iiiy 759 545
Sleep-in provision {iv) (117271 -
Gain-on-bargain-purchases ) {5:758)
Share-based payments' charge {vi} - 4,119
Integration and restructuring costs {vii) 4,761 3,769
Charitable donations lviii} 1,203 728
Other non-underlying expenses 5,964 4,497 g
Total non-underlying expenses included in operating profit 989 20,219 E
Finance expenses ‘2.;
Fair value movernents relating to derivative financial instruments (i) (1.341) 557 .E
Charges relating to derivative financial instrumerts {ix) 1,195 591 “
Put-option interest {x] 310 - E.I
Interest on contingent consideration {x) 582 - ;
Leasas imputed interest 466 463 ;
Total non-underlying expenses included in finance expenses 1.112 1611 n-n‘
Tax on non-underlying items

_ Current Lax . (x1) (1,1186) 15,588) .

Deferred tax {xii) 20,133 5435
fncluded in taxation 19,017 (553)
Tetal non-underlying items 21,138 21,277

i The Group has incurred additional costs as a result of COVID-19 in relation to higher sickness absence rates, gersonal protective equipment {'PPE’) costs, infection

contra| and higher administration costs. The Group has received additional funding by way of Government grants through local autherities to assist in dealing with this.
The Group has worked closely with all local authorities in establishing » dedicated funuing arrangement 1o support our services which has been collected to offset
the additional costs, as noted above, that the Group has incurred in relation to COVID-19. COVID-19 is unprecedented, and along with the size it meets the Group's

definition of non-underlying.

fiiy Ameortisation relates primarily to acquisition-related intangible assets which are considered unique to a specific acquisition. whereas other development Costs
amortisation cormmences when system is launched. These costs, by thelr nature, can vary by size and amaount each year. As a result, amortisation of intangitles is
added back tc assist with the understanding of the underlying trading perfarmance cf the business and to allow comparability.

i} In accardance with IFRS 3 (as revised) items associated with business combinations have been taker to the income statement as incurred. These itens are cansidered

specific one-off costs that pccur for an acquisition that will not continue following completion.

vy The Group held a sleeg-in provision of E11 8m for the 2020 financial year end. On 24 March 2021, the Supreme Court made a final judgement that social care staft

are not entitled to the national minimum wage for sleep-in shifts and the provision of £11 B has been written back. The provision was primarily as a resuli of the
acquisition of the Cambian Group in Octaber 2018, The Directors have determined this should be adjusted from underlying due to its size, nature and incidence.

v} Gain on bargain purchase arises from assets transferred from The Huntercombe Group, see note 5. An adjustment is made as this is uniikely to recur due toiits size,

nature and occurrence ta ensure comparabitity.
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6. Non-underlying items continued

{vi) Inthe priar financial year. to further support the CareTech Foundation, the Group danated ane million new Ordinary Company Shares to the Foundation. This danation
will provide the Foundation with additional income and demonstrates the Group's commitrment to wider society, to its staff. and its desire o play a strong leadership
role within the social care sector, In connection with the donation, the CareTech Foundation has entered into a lock-up undertaking not to sell the new shares without
the Company Board's approval.

(i) Integration costs of sites transferred from The Huntercombe Group, the Smartbox acquisition, and start-up costs in the Middle East have been incurred to the extent
of £1.0m. Additionally. a reorganisation of the Specialist Services division following transfer of assets from The Hurtercombe Group and the costs associated with the
closure of one ot its larger hospitals have been incurred of E1.9m. The costs of other homes closed during the year and related restructuring costs amaounts o EQ.9m.

{wiil} These charges represent charitable donations made 1o the CareTech Foundation, an independent grant-making carporate foundation registered with the Charity
Commission. Funded and founded by the Group. the Foundation has a number of independent Trustees responsitle for delivering its Charitable Objects. The Trustees
also include Haroon and Farouq Sheikh QBE and Christopher Dickinson, Directars of the Group. The Group is not obliged to make these donations and this does not
tepresent its underlying operatiaons and consequently adjusted due to its nature.

{ix) Non-underlying items relating to the derivative financial instruments include the movements during the year in the fair value of the Group's interest rate swaps which

—————are-not-designated-as-hedging-instrument s-and-therefore-do-not-qualify-far-hedge-accounting-tog ether-with-the-quarterly-cash-settlements-and-accruat-thereof:

(x} Contingent consideration of £3.5m was recognised following the acquisition of Smartbok. This was discounted back to present vatue and as a result a recognition
of interest on contingent consideration was recognised (note 5al, Additionally a put option was recognised as explained in note 24, at its present value. Interest on
the put option will be recognised as a result. Tnese are both considered costs of the acquisition and consequently adjusted lor due 1o their nature,

(x) Represents the current tax onitems (i}, (i} and (viil above, see note 10.
(xii) Deferred tax arises in respect of the following:

2021 2020

£000 £000

Derivative financial instruments 611 107
Change in rate (Note 10) (22,085) (7,592)
Imangible assets 1,422 1.373
Fixed asset - 1925
Priar year adjustments (81) (366)
Other adjustments - (282)
{20,133) {5.435)

Derivative financial instrumenits are exptained in note (ix) and intangible assets adjustment arises from the amortisation charge as noted in {ii).

Change in rate is exglained in note 10 and refates predominantly to non-underlying items.

7. Auditor’'s remuneration

During the year, the Group (including its overseas subsidiaries) obtained the following services from the Company’s auditors and its associates:

2021 2020
E0O0 £400
Fees payabile ta the Group's auditor and its associates for the audit
of the consclidated Parent and Parent Company’s annusl accounts 554 397
Fees payable ta the Group's auditor and its associates for the audit
of the accounts of subsigiaries 52 16
Audit retated assurance services 30 25
All other non-assurance services - 1
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8. Staff numbers and costs

The average number of persons ernployed by the Group (including Qirectors] during the year, analysed by category. was as follows:

Number of employees

2021 2020
Operational and service delivery staff 10.144 5.074
Maintenance 119 108
Management and agministration 787 947
11,650 18,129
The aggregate payroll costs of these persons {including Directors) were as follows:
2021 2020
EQDO £000
Wages and salaries 256.443 214,105
Share-based payrments’ charge* 1,376 330 -
Social security costs .- ... 21,586 15,473 z
Other pensioh costs 5693 5250 -:.
285,098 239.158 g
=
* Share-based paymerits' charge includes LTIP and ExSOP share-based payments of E303.000 (2020: £nil) and £473,000 {2020: £330,000] respectively. “
A
9. Finance expenses z
2021 2020 ';
£000 £000 p
interest expense on financial liabilities at amorlised cost:
Qn bank loans and overdratts 8,236 11186
" Finance charges in respect of leases - T ] } 1,922 T2.742
Underlying financia! expenses 12,158 13,928
Derivative financial instrurnems {Note 6] &4 1.148
Ground rent lease imputed interest (Note 6) 466 463
Interest on contingent consideration £82 ~
Tatal finance expenses 13,270 15,539
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10. Taxation
{a) Recognised in the consolidated income statement
2021 2020
£000 £000
Current tax expense
Current year i (10,697) (10,494)
Current tax on non-underlying items (Naote 6) 1,116 5,988
Prior year adjustments 505 {374)
Total current tax (9,076) (4.880)
Deferred tax expense
Current year {1,273) {840} -
Deterred tax on non-underlying items (Note 6) (20,133) (5.434)
Prior year adjustments {424) 182
Total deferred tax {21,830) {5.892)
Total tax in the consolidated income statement (30,906) (10.772)
Ib) Reconciliation of effective tax rate
2024 2020
£000 EQ00
Profit before tax for the year 66,234 37761
Tax using the UK corporation tax rate of 19.0% {202¢; 19.0%) 12,584 7180
Non-deductible expenses including impairment charge 1,624 1,549
Income not taxable 4.427) (500}
Other tax adjustments (1,172) {1.644)}
. LChangeintaxrate _______ _ _ _ _ _ __ . . . . . 22085 _  _ _ 7582 N
Current tax prior year adjustments {294) {3.988)
Deferred tax prior year adjustmenis 506 583
Total tax in the consalidated income staternent 30.906 10,772

Sleep-in pravisions have been reversed foliowing the Supreme Court ruling in favour of Mencap and a credit of £13.6m has been treated as
non-taxable in accordance with this. The gain on bargain purchase of £5.7m arising on the acquisition of Huntercombe has also been treated
as non-taxable.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities have been measured in line with 1AS 12 using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the reporting date that are expected to apply when the asset is realised ar the liability is settled. On 10 June 2021, the Finance Act
2021 received Royal Assent thereby increasing the rate of corporation tax to 25% with effect from 1 April 2023. As a result of this change 2 non-
underlying tax charge of £22.1m was recognised for the year ended 30 September 2021 in relation to the re-measurement of deferred tax assets
and liabilities (2020: 19%).
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11. Earnings per share

22 2020
EDOD £000
Prafit attributatile ta ardinary shiarehalders 31,908 25,118
Weighted number of shares in issue for basic earnings per share 110,775,312 106,772,214
Effects of share aptions in issue 5,358,398 4,220,077
Weighted number of shares for diluted earnings per share 136,133,709 113,992,292

Diluted earnings per share is the basic earnings per share adjusted for the dilutive effect of the conversion into fully paid shares of the weighted

average number of share options outstanding during the period.

2021 2020-

Earrings per share {pence per share}
Basic 28.80p 22.88p
Dilyted 27.46p 22.03p

12. Underlying earriings per share

A measure of underlying earnings and underlying earnings per share has been presented 1n order to present the eamings of the Group after

adjusting for non-underlying iterns which are not considered to reflect the underlying trading performance of the Group.

2021 2020

[2]:]1] E0QQ

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 31,908 25,118

Non-underlying items (Note 6) 21,118 21,277

Underlying profit attributable to ordinary sharehalders 53.025 46,395
Underlying earnings per share (pence per share)

Basic - . — - _ .. —_ 47.87p. - — —_42.26p

Diluted 45.66p 40.70p
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13. Property, plant and equipment

Landand  Fixtures. fitlings Motar
buitdings  and equipment vehicles Tatal
£000 £000 000 E000
Cost .
At 30 September 2019 (before adaptian of |FRS 16} 580,052 48.816 13417 642,285
Reclassified as ROL asset (Nate 14) {15,098) - {4,437 {19,535
At 1 October 2019 (afier adoption of IFRS 16) 564.954 48.816 8,980 622,750
Acguisitions through business combinations - 399 - 399
Additions 11.529 12.813 L769 26,111
Disposals (1,294} - (1,307 [2.601]
AL30 September2020 575,189 62,028 9442 646,659
At 1 Octcher 2020 575,189 62,028 9,442 646,659
Acquisitions through business combinations 440 - - 440
Additions 12,909 16,222 - 29,131
Dispasals {788) [146) (2,939 13.873)
At 30 September 2021 587,750 78,104 6,503 672,357
Depreciation and impairment
At 1 Octcber 2019 7.993 17,981 6.653 32,627
Depreciation charge for the year 1,183 §,648 1133 10,964
Dispesals 62} - (366] (1.028)
‘At 30 September 2020 9,114 25,629 6,820 42,563
_ At Qciober 2020 o oL 5014 26,629 6820 . 42563
Cepreciation charge for the year 1,228 10,095 1,161 12.484
Cisposals (82} {243) 118471 [2.172)
At 30 September 2021 10,260 15,481 6,134 52 B75
Net book value
At 30 September 2020 566,075 35,399 2.622 604.096
At 30 September 2021 577,490 41,623 369 615,482

Included in the result for the year is 2 prafit of £242,000 {2020; £135,000) on the disposal of freeheld property, plant and equipment,
and motor vehicles. Included in property. plant and equipment are amounts held under leases of nil (2020: nil).

The market value of land and building held at 30 September 2021 was £930m of which £468m is held as security for borrowings.
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14. Leases
Right-of-use assets

Tota!
Land and Motgr nght-of-use
buildings vehicles Equipment assets
EQOQ 200 £G00 EdGd
Gross carrying amopunt
Balance 1 October 2019 82,537 8030 698 91,265
Additions 2,497 85 - 2,582
Halance at 30 September 2020 85,034 8.115 688 93,847
BEEnce 1 october 2020 85,034 ST T 698 937847
Adgitions 40.079 2,397 - 42,476
Aalance at 30 September 2021 125,113 13,512 638 135,323
Depreciation and impairment _
Balance 1 Cctober 2018 - - - -
Depraciation 3.686 2027 344 6,657
Balance at 30 September 2020 3.686 2,027 344 6,057
Ralance 1 Qctgber 2020 3,686 2,027 344 6.057
Oepreciation 4.745 1948 341 7035
Balance at 30 September 2021 8,432 3,975 685 13,092
Net hook value
Carrying amount 37 September. 2020 . 81,348 6,088 . 354, ... 82790
Carrying amount 30 September 2021 116,681 6,537 13 123,231

The right-of-use assets are included in the same line item as where the carresponding underlying assets would be presented

were cwned.

Lease liability

Lease liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position as follows.

if they

2028 2020

€000 €000

Current 55040 6,208
Non-current 118,781 82,480
124,281 88.688

The Group has leases tor land and buildings, moter vehicles and office equinment. With the exception of shart-term leases and leases
of low-value underlying assets. each lease is reflected on the balance sheet as a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. The Group classifies
its right-of-use assets in a2 consisient manner to its property. plant and eguiprment.

SINIWILYLS IVIONVNLY
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14. Leases continued
Lease liability continued

Each lease generally imposes a restriction that, unless there is a contractual right for the Group to sublet the asset to annther party, the right-of-
use asset can only be used by the Group. Leases are either non-caricellable or may anly be cancelled by incurring a substantive termination fee,
Some leases contain an option to purchase the underlying leased asset outright at the end of the lease, or to extend the lease for a further term.
The Group is prohibited from selling or pledging the underlying leased assets as security. For {eases over fand and buildings the Group must keep
those properties in 2 good state of repair and return the properties in their criginal candition at the end of the lease. Further, the Group must
insure iterms of property, plant and equipment and incur maintenance fees on such items in accordance with the lease contracts.

The lease liabilities are secured by the related underlying assets. Future minimum lease payments at 30 September 2021 were as follows:

Within.___.___ 1-2 23 34 4-5 Alter
1 year years years years years Syears Totat
30 September 2021
Lease payments 9,565 9,511 7815 6,767 6,474 392.069 432,201
Finance charges {4.065] (3.895) (3.741) {3.742) (3.642] (288,835  (307.920)
Net present values 5500 5616 4,074 3,025 2.832 103,234 124,281
30 September 2020
Lease payments 9.086 7600 5423 4,394 4,103 324,188 354,794
Finance charges {2.878) (2,713) {2,595} (2,520) (2,461  {252.939) (266.106)
Net present values 5,208 4,887 2,828 1,874 1,642 71.249 88,688

Lease payments not recognised as a liability

The Group has elected not to recognise & lease liability for short-term leases {leases with an expected term of 12 months or less) or for leases
of low-value assets. Payments made under such leases are expensed on a straight-line basis. In addition, certain variable lease payments are
not perrnitted to be recognised as lease liabilities and are expensed as incurred.

Interest expense on lease liabilities for the year ended 30 Septermber 2021 was £3,510,000 (2020: £2181.000).,

The expense relating to payments not included in the measurement of the lease liability is as follows:

2021 2020

£000 E0D0

Short-term leases 310 3783
Leases of low-value assets . 11 10
21 3,793

At 30 September 2021 the Group was committed to short-term leases and the total commitment at that date was £517.000 (2020. £3,793,000).
Total cash outflow for leases for the year ended 30 September 2021 was £7,693,000 (2020: £3,793,000).
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15. Intangible assets

Software and Custorner
Goodwill ticences relabanships Technclogy Other Toai
£000 EQCOD EGQ0 £00c EQO0 £000

Cost
At 1 October 2019 81,484 23.005 116,698 - - 215,187
Acquisitions through business
combinations 4,703 - 10,433 - - 15136
Exchange adjustments 27 60 - -~ 87
Additions for the year 418 2,429 -~ = -~ 2,847
At 30 Seplembler 2020 B6,632 25.434 121491 - - 233,257
Al ) Dcrober 2020 86.632 25.434 121191 - - 233,257
Acquisitions through business
cormbinations 3.468 - 7428 3,393 963 15,251
Exchange adjustments {184) -~ (430) - - 1624}
Additions for the year T - 2868 = - - - 2.868
Adjustments* 1.012) - - - - (1.012)
At 30 September 2021 88,894 78,302 128,189 3,393 963 249,740
Amortization and impairment .
A1 October 2019 2,028 15663 37692 - - 55383
Amartisation for the year - 3,044 7142 - - 10.186
At 30 September 2020 2.028 18,707 44, 834 - - £5.589
ALl October 2020 2,028 18,707 44,634 - - 65,569
Amortisation for the year T 3265 6232 678 g7 7 T D273
At 30 September 2021 2,028 21,912 51,067 679 97 75.842
Net hoak value
At 30 September 2020 84.604 6727 76.357 - - 167.688
At 30 September 2021 86,866 6,330 77,122 2,714 866 173,898

*  Adjustments relate to certain investments which histerically have been included within goodwili. In the current year these have been reclassified
and uitimately impaired in full.

Amartisation

The smortisation charge is recognised in the follawing lire items in the consolidated income staternent

2021 2020
) £000 £000
Administrative expenses 10,273 10.186
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15. Intangible assets continued
Impairment testing for cash-generating units containing goodwill

The Group tests goodwill for impairment on an annual basis by considering the recaverable amount of individual cash-generating units {CGU«)
against canying value,

For the purpose of annual impairment testing, gocdwill is allocated into five identifiable CGUs: Adults Services, Children’s Services, Faster Care,
Middle East and Digital Technology. This broadly aligns to the reported operating segments expected to benefit from the synergies of the
business combinations in which the goodwill arises, with exception to Middle East. Whilst Middle East performs Adults Services and Children’s
Services, given its geographical location, it has been identified as a separate CGU. This is the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for

impairment by management. There are no intangible assets with indefinite useful lives {other than goodwill). -

The carrying value of goodwill is split between the following cash-generating units:

2021 2020

EQDD £000

Adults Services 27,271 27944
Children's Services 44,769 44,769
Foster Care ) 7162 7162
Middle East 4,196 4729
Digital Technology 3,468 -
86,866 84.604

During the year the Group carried out a review of the recoverable amount of its goodwill throughout the business The recoverable amount,
which is the higher of fair value less cost to sell and the value in use, has been determined initially based on value-in-use calculations. These
calcutations use cash flow projections for operational assets at the balance sheet date based on financial budgets approved by the Board of

Directors for the forthcoming year which are based on assumptions of the business, industry and economic growth. Cash flows beyond this
year are extrapolated using growth rates, which do not exceed the expected long-term economic growth rate of 2.5%. into perpetuity.

“The key assumptions for the period over which management appraved forecasts are based and. beyond this, for the value-in-use calculations
averall, are those regarding discount rates, growth and occupancy rates, achievement of future revenues and expected changes in direct costs
during the periods. Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect the market assessment of the time value of money as
at each balance sheet date, adjusted for the risks specific to the Group.

In arriving at the values assigned to each key assumption management make reference to past experience and external saurces of information
regarding the future — for example changes in tax rates. The key features of these calculations are shown below:

2021 2020
Period over which management approved forecasts are based 1 year 1 year
Five-year growth rate 3.5% 2%
Long-term growth rate 2.5% 2%
Pre-tax discount rate
Adult Services 8.6% 8.4%
Children's Services 10.0% 9.7%
Foster Care 10.0% 9.6%
Middle East 15.0% 14.7%
Digital Technology 12.5% —
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15. intangible assets continued

Sensitivities

A sensitivity analysis has been performed on each of the base Case assumptians used for assessing the goodwill with other variables held
constant. Consideration of sensitivities to key assumptions can evolve from one financial yesr to the next. The Directors consider that 2

reasonable possible change in assumptions would be a decrease in long-term growth rate of 0.5%. an increase in pre-tax discount rate
of 50 basis points, or a reduction in budgeted cash flows of 5%

Nore of these serisitivities wauld result in an impairment in the existing CGUs, however, the Adult Services CGU is still considered sensitive.
For Adult Services the current headroom is £29.3m. The impact of the above reasonable changes are as follows:

— A decrease in long-term growth rate by 0.5% results in a headroom of E2.9m,

— Anincrease in pre-tax discount rate of 50 basis points results in a headroom of £2.2m.

— A reduction in budgeted cash flaws of 5% results in a headroom of E3.7m.

The Directors have also considered the amount by which the value assigned to each key assumgption must change, after incorporating any
consequential effects of that change on the other variables used to measure recoverable amount, in order for the Adult Services CGUs
recoverable amount to be equal 1o its carrying amount as follows:

— Adecrease in long-term growth rate by 0.6%.

- An increase in pre-tax discount rate of 54 basis points.

— Areduction in budgeted cash flows of 5.7%.

The Directors believe that, notwithstanding the sensitivity of Adutt Services, there is no requirement for an impairment an the carrying value
of the existing CGUSs.

16 Inventories

—— e - e e e - g2 - - 2020
£000 EQQQ

Consumables 814 100
Raw materials 2,654 1.837
3,468 1937

In 2021, a total of £10,118,300 (2020: £Q) of inventories was included in profit or loss as an expense.

17. Trade and other receivables

021 2020
£000 £000
Trade receivables (Note 29) ) 53,823 32604
Qther deptors and prepayments 5,606 5.025
Accrued income (Note 19) 12,177 8,426

71,606 51,055
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18. Cash and cash equivalents

2021 2020
EODD £000
Cash at barik and in hand . 65,560 54,273
There are no restrictions on cash at bank and in hand.
19. Accrued income and deferred income
ﬁccrued D.eferred
ncome ncome
£000 £000
AtlOctober 2020 8.426 130.309}
Accrued revenue invoiced (8.426) -
Revenue recognised in the reporting period - 30,309
Revenue billed in period but relates to future periods - 36,132
New accrued revenue 12177 -
At 310 September 2021 - - 12,177 (36,132)

The Directors consider that the carrying value of accrued income and deferred income approximates to its far value.

20. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

This note provides infarmation about the contractual terms of the Group's interest-bearing (oans and borrowings. For mare information
about the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk, see note 29,

2021 202¢
£Q00 EQOC
Non-current liabilities

Secured bank loans- —mmmMm———e s o~~~ e 322,403—— - 317122
Sharehaolder loans (Note 5) 1,758 1,833
324,164 318,955

Terms and debt repayment schedule
Book value Book value
2021 2020
Currency Nominal interest rate (%} Year of malurity EQQO EQDO
Term loan 3 2.04 {2020 2.25)" 2023 161,202 158,561
Terr loan E 2.04 (2020: 2.50 2023 161,201 158,561
Revaolving credit facility term loan £ 2.04 (2020: 275} 2023 - -
322,403 317122

' The margin on the facilities is stated at the current rate and can change between 1.50% and 5.25% based on the ratio of the Group's net debt to adjusted EBITDA.

The Group entered into new banking facilities in August 2018 to facilitate the acquisition of Cambian and the previous banking facilities were
extinguished. The facility is a term loan of E322m and revolving credit facility of £25m to a group of banks cormprising Barclays Bank PLC, HSBC
UK Banks PLC, Santander UK PLC, AIB Group [UK) PLC, Clydesdale Bank PLC, Credit Suisse AG, Llayds Bank PLC and National Westminster
Bank PLC and is stated net of loan finance costs in accordance in IAS 23. During the course of the year, the Group completed the extension

of the Term Loan A facility of £161.2m which will now mature in August 2023, The margin of the facility and covenants remain unchanged,
reflecting the highly cash-generative nature of the business and deleveraging profile. In addition, both the Group's ioan and interest rate swaps
have migrated to Compounded Daily SONIA as the reference rate. This has resulted as a non-substantial modification and accounted for as an
adjustment to the existing liability and not an extinguishment.
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21. Trade and other payables

2021 2020
EQDD £000
Trade payables 15,220 15.576
Accriued expenses 54,791 39441
70,011 55,017
22. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets and liahilitiss are attributable to the following:
2021 2020
Assets Liahilities AsSets Liabilities
EQ00 £000 ECOD £000
Property. plant and equipment - 73,382 - 52,552 -
Intangible assets . - 15,905 L= 11,616 z -
Derivative financial instruments 11,353) - (418) - z
Share-hased payments [1,606) - 163 -~ a
Rofled-gver gzins on property. plant and equipment - 8,037 - 6,593 E
Trading tosses carried forward {88) - {27 ~ ;
Shart-terem tming difterances {350) - {309 - =l
Tax fassetshliabilities 13,397} . 97,324 (917) 70,761 z
Net of tax assets - (3,397) - 1917) z
Nel deferred tax liabilities — 93,927 - 69.844 w
There are no unrecognised deferred tax assets_or (iabilities. [
Movement in deferred tax during the year:
1 October Rerognised in  Reclassification Prior year Change in 30 September
2020 income balances adjustment tax rate 2021
£000 E00C £000 E£0DOD £D0D £000
Property, plant and equipment 52,552 2,408 15 891 17,516 73,382
Derivative financiat instruments (418) 611 - - (324 (1,353}
Imangible assets 11,616 {1.422) 2.237 32 3,442 15.905
Share options 1163) 11,090) - 33 {386} 11,606}
Rolled-over gains on property 6.593 - - 1485) 1929 8.037
Trading losses carried forward _ 27 {80} - 26 _ (7} (88}
Shart-term timing differences (309] 35 ~ g (85} (350}
69,844 {F60) 2,252 506 22085 93,927
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22, Deferred tax assets and liabilities continued
Mavement in deferred tax during the previous year:

1 Octaber Recegnised Reclassification Prior year 30 September
2019 in income balances adjustment 2020
EDDO £000 £000 £000 £000
Property. plant and equipment 42,213 4521 5685 133 52,552
Oerivative financial instruments (278) {140) - - {418}
Intangible assets 18,270 &3] (5.685) 964) 11.616
Share options 90) (73) - - (163}
Rolled-over gains an property 3836 945 - 1811 6.593
Trading losses carriad torward - 2) - {25) {2n
Short-term timing differences - 62 - (371 (309}
£63.951 5309 ~ 584 60,844

23. Provisions

£000
Legal and

other disputes Dilapidations Other Total
At1OQctoker 2020 16,794 4,292 200 21.286
Provisions raised during the period - 1500 - 1500
Amaounts used during the period (4.198) 802) - {5.000)
Unused amounts reversed (12.246) - - (12,246)
At 30 Scptember 2021 350 4,950 200 5,540

Provisions principatly comprise an amount provided for legal and other disputes and a provision for dilapidations. The Group held a sleep-in

. provision of £11.8m for_the.2020.financial.year end. On 24 March_2021, the Supreme Court made a finaljudgement that social care staff are
nct entitied to the National Minimum Wage for sleep-in shifts and the provision of £11.8m has been written back. :

24. Derivative financial instruments

2021 2020

£000 EQO0

Fut option 4,662 -
Interest rate swaps 752 2,198
5414 2.198

As part of the incorporation of Smartbox Holdings, the Group has granted the non-controlling interests the option to request the Group to
acquire somne or all of their shares in Smartbox Holdings Limited. The amount of the liability for this put option, which is held on the gross
redemption bas’s, is derived from an internal valuation of the Smartbox business, utilising both discounted forecast future cash flow and
multiples-based methodologies. The charge to equity is recognised separately as recagnition of liabilities with non-contrelling interest. The
liability is subseguently accreted through finance charges. up to the redemption amournt that is payable at the dale at which the optian first
becomes exercisable. In the event that the option expires unexercised, the liability is derecognised with a corresponding adjustment to equity.
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25. Employee benefits
Share-based payments

The Group operates five share option schemes: The CareTech Holdings 2017 Sharesave Scheme, the CareTech Holdings 2020 Sharesave
Scheme, the CareTech Holdings 2015 Approved Share Option Scheme, the Executive Shared Ownership Plan and the Long-Term Incentive Plan.
All share options are equity settled.

The Executive Shared Ownership Plan (ExSOP’) was formed in March 2017 Under the provisions of the ExSOR shares ['the ExSOP shares’) are
jointly cwned by nominated senicr employees and by an employees’ share trust. The ExSOP awards are subject to a time-related performance
condition measured over a three-year period beginning with the date of the grant. To the extent the performance condition is satisfied. the
participant can benefit from any growth of the share price in excess of the issue price.

The_grant.of_the ExSOR scheme_requites.specific_performance.conditions_being satisfied. The ERS Jarget requires.the.growth.in the
Cempany's underlying Diluted EPS over the Performance Period to be at least 15% {being an average 5% annual growth rate. calculated without
compounding) during the year.

On 8 November 2019, the Group issued 2,504,475 new ardinary shares of 0.5p in the Company (the New Ordinary Shares’} under the Executive
Shared Ownership Plan (‘Share Plan’) to 30 members of the senior and executive management team. An award under the Share Plan enables the
participant ta benefit only from the future growth in the value of the New Ordinary Shares abiove their market value on the award date, in excess
of a 'carrying cost’ of 3% per annum.

The vesting of the Share Plan requires specific performance conditions being satisfied. As with the previous issuance of the Share Plan, the target
is an EPS Target which requires the growth in the Group's underlying Diluted EPS over the three-year period beginning on the date of issue of
the awards to be at least 15% {being an average 5% annual growth rate, calculated without compounding). Participants may not normally realise
any such benefit from the Share Plan awards before 8 November 2022.

Qn 21 December 2020, the Board approved the implementatian of a new Leng-Term [ncentive Plan (LTiP’), and the Group granted 803,68%
nil-cost optians gver ordinary shares in the Company to the Company's Executive Directors and certain other members of the senicr
management team.

LTIP awards will normally vest on the third Vanniversary of tHe date of grant, subject to the satisfaction of any performance canditions as set out in
the Directors’ Remuneration Report, and the grantee’s continued service. Upon vesting, 50% of the Award shares are subject to a holding period
of four years from the date of grant, with the remaining 50% of the Award shares subject to a hoiding period of five years from the date of grant.

The options have been valued using the Black-Schales option pricing model in line with IFRS 2 "Share-Based Payments’ The assumptions used
as part of the mode!l include the following:

29 March B November 21 December

2016 2019 2020

Expected volatility 25% 25% N7As
Expected dividend yield 3.90% 3.5% 0%
Risk free interest rate 2.39% 1.25% NIA®
Vesting period 3 years 3 years 3 years

*  Valatilty has no impact on the core value of an award with no exercise price or market condition. Volatility over the one- ant two-year holding periods are 39.03%
and 30.95% respectively.

**  Darticipants are entitled to receive dividend equivalents on these awards; therefore, the dividend yield does not have an impact on the fair value of these awards
ang has been set to zera.

“++ Awards with no exercise price or market condition are not affected by risk free rate. Risk free interest rate over the holding penods is 2ero.
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25, Employee benefits continued

Approved and Unapproved scheme options are exercisable at any time from the third anniversary of the date of grant to the tenth anniversary.
other than nominal cast options which may becaome exercisable at the earliest after a period of 30 dealing days following the third anniversary
of being granted. SAYE scheme options are normally exercisable within six months following the third anniversary of the date of grant. Options

granted under the above schemes, together with those remaining at 30 September 2021 are as follows:

Options Exercise price Average

Cptions Optians Options Qpticns remaining  of share option  exercised price

remaining as at granted lapsed to exargised to : asat {pence) [pence)

Date of grant Scheme 30 Sep 2020 30 Sep 2021 30 Sep 2021 30 Sep 2021 30Scp 2021 30 Sep 2021 30 Sep 2021

29 Mar 2016 Executive Share Ownership Plan 1.336.600* - - {186.149) 1,148,451 2475 538

1 Dec 2017 Sharesave Scheme 2017 220,600 - 67.133) (153.467) - 308 501
23-Oct2019 -Appraved-Share-Option-Plan-2015 BFT72I — {193:152) 664;620* 380

5 Nov 2019 Approved Share Option Plan 2015 898,106** - - - 635,106+ 380 -

8 Nov 2019 Executive Share Ownership Plan 2,504 475*%* - - - 2,503475° 399 -

21 Sep 2020 Sharesave Scheme 2020 480 678" - - - 480,467 358 -

21 Oec 2020 LTIP 2020 - 803.689 {4,107} - 799,582** Nil -

* All optians exercisable at 30 September 2021.
** No options exercisable at 30 September 2021.

The charge for the year was £473.000 (2020: £330.000) which relates to the Executive Share Ownership Scheme. the Sharesave Scheme 2017
and the Approved Share Option Plan 2015, and £902,000 relating to the Long-Term Incentive Flan. The weighted average exercise price of the

remaining options is 315.6p (2020: 398.7p).

The weighted average remaining contractuat life of all share options outstanding is 6.4 years {2020: 7.6).

26. Equity
. - - s - I — 2021~ TT2020
Share capital E£000 E000
Allotted, called up and fully paid:
113,327459 (2020: 113,173,552} ordinary shares of 0.5p each 566 565
53.402 deferred shares of 0.5p each - -
566 565

Share capital represents the nominat {par value of shares that have been issued. The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends
as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at reetings of the Company. The deferred shares have no such rights.
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Movements in the number of issued shares were as follows:

Ordinary shares  Deferred shares

Share premium includes any premiums received on issue of share capital, with the exception of shares issued In consideration in acquisitions.
Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of shares are deducted from share premium, net of any related income tax benefits.

of 0.5p each of 0.5p each
At1 October 2019 109,144,369 53,402
Issued during the acguisition of AS Group 431,465 -
Issued to the Cargfech Charitable Foundatian 1.000.000 -
Issued under Share Schemes 2.598.158 -
At 30 September 2020 113,173,992 53,402
At 1 Octaber 2020 113,173,952 53,402
issued under Share Schemes 153.467 -
——_At30Sep 2021 113,327,459__ 53,402
27. Reserves
{a} Share premium account
During the year, the issue of. new shares charged 1o the share premium account are as follows: R g
=
2a21 2026 z
£000 EQQO >
Opening balance 1 October 133,079 121,304 "
Prermium on issue of shares 472 13775 ;'
AL 30 Septermber : 133,551 133.079 e
=
=z
-

{b) Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the premium arising on the ordinary shares issued as consideration for the acquisition of shares in another
company {merger relief] (note 5).

2021 2020
£000 EDQQ
Opening balance 1 Qctober 125,842 125.536
Issue of shares = 306
Al 30 September 125,842 125.842
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27. Reserves continued
(c) Shares held by Executive Shared Ownership Plan

Further information relating to the EBT reserve of the Group is detailed in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group,

{d) Retalned earnings

Retained earnings includes all current and prior period retained profits and share-based employee remuneration. Dividend distributions payable
to equity sharehclders are included in other liakilities when the dividends have been approved in a General Meeting prior to the reporting date.

(e} Foreign currency translation reserves

A foreign currency translation reserve exists following the acquisition of the AS Group. This consists of exchange differences that arise on the
translation on cverseas net assets.

28. Dividends
The aggregate amount cf dividends comprises:
2021 2020
EQO0 EODO o
Interim dividend paid in respect of prior year but not recognised as liabilities in that year
{4.0p per share, {2020: 3.75p per sharel) 4,525 4.093
Final dividend paid in respect of the prior year [B.75p per share, (2020: 795p per sharey) 9,906 8.913
Aggregate amaourt of dividends paid in the financial year {12,75p per share (2020: 11,70p per share)) 14,431 13.006

The aggregate amount of dividends proposed and not recognised as liabilities as at the year end i's 14.1p per share, £10,482,790 (2020: 12.75p
per share, £14,000,000}.

29. Financial instruments

The use of financial instruments is managed under policies and procedures approved by the Board. These are designed to reduce the financial

risks faced by the Group. which primarily relate to credit, interest and liquidity risks. which arise in the normal course of the Group’s business.

Credit risk

Financial instruments which potentially expose the Group to credit risk consist primarily of cash equivalents and trade receivables. Cash
equivalents are deposited only with major financial institutions that satisty certain credit criteria,

Management has a credit policy in place and exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations are carried out on all
significant prospective custamers and all existing customers requiring credit beyond a certain threshold. Varying approval levels are set on the
extension of credit depending upon the value of the sale,

Where credit risk is deemed to have risen to an unacceptable level, remedial actions including the variation of terms of trade are implemented
under the guidance of senior management until the level of credit risk has been normalised.
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29. Financial instruments continued

The Group prevides credit to customers in the normal course of business. The amounts presented in batance sheet in relation to tho Group's

trade receivables are presented net of loss allowances, The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to the tifetime expected credit
losses (‘ECLs’) using both guantitative and qualitative information and analysis based onthe Group's historical experience and forward-laoking
information. During the year there was a debit to the consolidated income statement of £301,000 {2020: £28,000 charge) to decrease the loss

allowance.

At the batance sheet date, there were no significant concentrations of credit risk, The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset. Based on past experience. the Group believes that no further impairment allowance is necessary
in respect of trade receivables not past due. The Group considers that the carrying value of trade receivables approximates to its fair value.

The trade receivables as at 30 September are aged as follows:

2021 2020

£000 £000

Not due 27.915 26,304

Not more than three months past due 14,180 10,494

Mare than three months but not mare than six months past due 4,039 805

Maore than six manths but not maore than 12 months past due 3,689 -

Trade receivables {Note 17) 53,823 37604

The moverment in provisions for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

£000

At 1 Qctober 2019 1689

Credited to the consolidated income statement (28]

At 30 September 2020 1661
Charged to the consclidated income statement m _—.

1,962

At 30 September 2021

Included in the provision for impairment of trade receivables is an expected credit toss of £235.000 (2020: £220.000).

Interast rate risk

The Group finances its operations through called up share capital, retained profits, bank borrowings. and the sale ot assets if appropriate. The

Croup’s income is by its noture relatively stable and its growth is; inter alia, impacted by inflation. Group poticy ic to balance interect rate fiver

between the short, medium and long term. The benchmark rate for bank borrowings is LIBOR. The Group has not adopted hedge accounting.

As 3t 3Q September, the Group carried five hedging instruments, details af which are a3 follows:

— 2 3 year swap commencing 16 May 2019 at pre-determined amounts initially starting at £21.6m at SONIA fixed at 1.076%
— @& 3 year swap commencing 16 May 2019 at pre-determined amounts initially starting at £21.6m at SONIA fixed at 1.056%

- & 3 year swap commencing 16 May 2019 at pre-determined amcunts initially starting at £27.6m at SCNIA fixed at 1.076%
~ a 3year swap commencing 16 May 2019 at pre-determined amounts initially starting at £21.6m at SONIA fixed at 1.071%
— 3 3year swap commencing 16 May 2018 at pre-determined amounts initially starting at £27.6m at SONIA fixed at 1.066%
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29. Financial instruments continued

Liquidity risk

The Group prepares annual cash flow forecasts reflecting known commitments and anticipated projects. Borrowing facilities are arranged as
necessary to finance requirements. The Group has available bank facilities, sufficient, with cash flow from profits, to fund present commitments.
Term facilities are utilised to fund capital expenditure and short-term fiexibility is achieved by the utilisation of cash resources in respect of
financial liabilities. The following table indicates their contractual cash flow maturities.

2021
Carrying Contractual

Effective amount cash flows < 1year 1-5years 5 years & gwer

interest rate % £000 £000 EQCQ £000 EDOQ

Trade and other payables {70,011) (70,011) {70,011) - -
Secured bank koans 2.04% (322,403) {335,763) [6,519) {329,244) -
Shareholder loans 1.758) (1,758) (1,758) - =
Lease Lizbilities (124,281) {432,202) [9.565) (30,567) (392,070)
Derivative financial instrurments {5,414) (5,414) - 15.414) -
(523,867) (845,148) {87.853) (365,225) (392,070}

2020
Carrying Contractual

. Effective amount cash flows <1 year 1-5 years 5 years b over

interest rate % E£QQ0 £00D £000 E£000 E0Q0

Trade and other payables (49,843) 49,843} (49,843} - -
Secured bank loans 3.5% {317.022) [338.457) {7116} 1331.340) -
Shareholder loans (1.833) {1.833} - (1,833) -
Lease liabilities 188,688) {293,452) (8,581) (15.897) (264,974)
Derivative financial instruments (2.198) {2.198) — {2,198) -
(459.684) . 168578%) . | 165,540)  _ _1355.269)_ __  {264.974)

See note 20 for the maturity dates and interest rates charged on the secured bank loans.

Anatysis of changes in liabilities from financing activities

The below table represents the movement in liabilities from financing activities:

Derivative

| Secured bank - ‘ financial
leans Lease lighitities Shareholders loan instruments Total
E000 €500 E£000 £000 EQOC
1 Qctober 2019 315,878 19.568 - 1,640 337.086
Cash flows - {8,797) 1,808 {1,053) (8,042}
Adopticn of IFRS 16 - 71,730 - - 71,730
New leases — 3773 - - 3773
Changes in fair value = - — 1.611 L611
Effect of foreign exchange - - 25 - 25
Profit and loss 1244 2414 - - 3658
30 September 2020 317,122 a8,688 1,833 2,198 409,841
Cash flows {438) (9.230 - {1761} (11,425}
Acquired through business acquisitions - 36,639 — - 36,639
New leases - 4,612 - - 4,612
Changes in fair value - - - 4977 4.977
Effect of foreign exchange - - 75 - {79)
Profit and toss 1.212 3,572 - - 4,784
30 September 2021 317,856 124,281 1,758 5,414 449,349
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29. Financial instruments continued

Carélech's three key covenant ratios are leverage (ratio of net debt to covenant EBITDA to be na more than 4.5). intevest Cover (ralio of covenant
EBITDA to net tinance costs to he no less than 4x} and LTV {ratio of property value to net debt to be no more than B2 5%). As at 30 September
2021, we were operating comfortably within these ratios at 2.7x, $.5x and 42% respectively.

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that activities of the Group will be able to continue as a going concern whilst maximising returns for
sharehotders through the optimisation of detit and equity.

The Group's capital structure is as faliows;

2p21 2020

— — et e e g et )

Net debt 258,661 268,886
Equity (see Note 26) 182,407 364,216

Our policy is to increase the wtal dividend per year breadly in line with the movement in underlying diluted earmings per share. The final
" dividend will therefore incresse ta 9 5p per share demaonstrating a confident view of the Group's fundamental strength,
Net debt

Net debt comprises cash and cash eguivalents net of bank leans and borrawings and HP leases previously accounted for under |AS 17
exclzding Project Teak sale and leaseback, Net debt remains unchanged following the adoption of IFRS 16.

2021 2020

Note EDOOC £000
Net debt in the balance sheet comprises:
Cash and cash equivalents 65,560 54,273
Bank loans 20 {317,895) (3171.22)
Shareholder foan (1,758) 18335
Lease and hire purchase contracts 18 4.567) 14,204}
Net debt ot 3G September (258,661) [268,886)

Foreign currency risk

Most of The Group's transactions are carried out in GBP. Exposures to currency exchange rates afise from the Group's investment in ‘the AS
Group; registered in the United Arab Emirates. which is denominated in AED, and Emartbox which has caler o kurope, Marth and Central
America, Austratasia, Middle East and Africa, All other revenues arise within the UK and all non-current assets are likewise located in the UK,
No single external customer amounts to 103 or more of the Group's revenues.

Sensitivity analysis
in managing interest rate risks the Group aims to reduce the impact of short-term fiuctuations on the Group's earnings. Over the ionger term,

however, permanent changes in interest rates would have an impact on cansolidated earnings.

Al 30 Septermber 2021, it is estimated that a general increase of 1% in interest rates would impact finance expense and decrease the Group's
profit before tax and equity by approximately £2,024,000 (2020: £2,020,000}). Economic hedging instruments have been included in this
caleulation.
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29. Financial instruments continued
Fair values

The fair values together with the carrying amounts shown in the balance sheet are as follows:

Carrying amount Fairvalue Carrying amount Fair value
2021 2021 2020 202¢
EQOD E000 E0QQ £000
Financial Instruments at amortised cost .
Cash at bank and in hand 65,560 65,560 54,273 54,273
Trade receivables (Note 17) 53,823 53,823 37.604 27.604
Trade payables (Note 21) {15,220) (15,220) {15,576 (15.576)
Secured-bark toans-(Note-20}) {322,403) {322,403) (317122) 317122
Shareholder loan {1,758) (1,758) (1,833) 1.833)
Held at fair value through profit and (oss:
Derivative financial instruments {5,414) {5.4143) {2.198) [2.198)
Contingent consideration {3,616) (3,616) 1.569) (1.569)

Where market values are not available, fair values of financial assets and liabilities have been calculated by discounting expected future cash

flows at prevailing interest rates with the following assumptions being applied:

- For trade and other receivables and payables with a remaining life of less than one year the carrying amount is deemed to reflect the fair

value.

- For cash and cash eguivalents the amounts reported on the balance sheet approximates to fair value.

— For secured bank loans at floating rate the carrying value is deemed to reflect the fair value as it represents the price of the instruments

in the market place.

- For shareholder loans the amount is repayable in less than one year and the carrying amount is deemed to reflect the fair value.

borrowings.

The fair for contingent consiceration and the Put option both arise on account of the acquisition in the year. The fair value has been determined
based on a multiple of profit, measured using prajected cash flows of the entity based on the management's know!edge of the business and
how the current ecanarmic environment is likely to impact it. These projections have not been discounted for the contingent consideration

(as they are expected to be paid in less than a year) and have been discounted for the put option using 7.0%.

With regard to the put option, a change of +/- 10% in the cash flows and a change in +/-1% in the discount rate would impact the income
statement by £66,000. With regard to the contingent consideration, a change of 10% in the forecast cash flows would not have a material

irmpact on the income statement.
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29. Financial instruments continued
Fair value hierarchy

The financial instruments carried at fair value by valuation methods are:

2021 2020

(-0 £000

Level 1 - unagjustey guoted prices in active markets for identical assets or iatulities —~ -
Level 2 - inputs ather than quoted prices included within level 1that are observabie for the asset or liability

ejther as a direct price or indirectly derived from prices (752} (2.198)

Level 3 - inputs for the asset or liabilities that are not based on ohservable market data {8.278] {1,563}

The fair values for all financial instruments carried at amortised costs are within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The fair value of the contingent
consideration is the full amount payable under the earn-out as the Direciors expect the gross profit criteria of Smartoox tor the fullyear ended
30 September 2021 tc be met. The fair value of the put option is derived from an internat valuation of the Smartbox business, utilising both

discounted forecast future cash flow and multiples-based methodclogies.

30. Related parties

-

z

Ouring the year, the Group paid rent totalling £701,155 (2020: £408,343) in respect of properties in which Farcug Sheikh OBE an¢ Haroon Sheikh ;

have an interest. At the year end, rent of £159,743 {2020: £240,595} was outstanding. The current lease liability recognised at 30 September 2021 n

is £2,321,600 [2020: £2,705,000} z

n

Oividends paid to Directors in the year totalled £61,.G00 {2020: £192.00G1. b

-

Transactions with key management personnel ;

™

2021 2020 A

£6Ga £400 v
Salary s 4,233 4,131
Benefits_ L 3 i 635 ... 522
Bonus 1,449 1348
Total shart-term remunesation 6,317 5.801
Post-emaloyment berefits 323 255
Share-based payrments 110 220
6,750 6,276

Key management personne! are defined as Directars of the Group and members of the Senior Mariagement Tearn,
Directors’ emoluments are set out on page 97.

Buring the year, the Group made donations to the CareTech Charitable Foundation which are set cut in note 6.
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31. Group undertakings

The Group has the following investments in trading subsidiaries included in the consolidated results for the year. The operating subsidiaries
are engaged in either owning property ('Property’) or in the provision of services to adults or children {Trading’). Additicnally, the Grougp has
subsidiaries that are non-trading. act as holding companies, or are durmantl {Non-trading J.

Company Ownership Ownership
Company aumper Country af incorpotation Type 2021% 2020%
Addingtan House Limited* 04404355 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Advanced Childecare Services Limiteg* 07559570 England and Wales Nan-trading 100 109
Advances In Autism Care & Education Limited* 03252453 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Applied Care and Development Ltd* SC224352 Scotland Operating 100 180
Asticroft.House Limited? 03390558 England.and Wales. Operating___ 100, 100
Ashring House Limited* 03370991 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Ashview House Limited* 03304446 Englang and Wales Qperating 1a0 100
Barleycare Lirnited* 05156601 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Beacon Care Holdings Limited*+ 03253998 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Beacon Care Investrents Limited*+ (04351554 England and Wales Non-trading iqo0 100
Beacon Care | imited* 03160894 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Beech Care Limiteg* 04050685 England and Wales Operating 139 1G0
Branas Isaf (Ashfield House) Limited* 05761962 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Branas Isaf {Bythrnod & Hendre Liwyd) Limited* 04826628 England and Wales Operating 100 160
Branas Isaf {Dewis) Limited* 04828115 England and Wales Cperating 100 100
Branas Isaf (Education Centre) Limited* 04826662 £rgland and Wales Operating i00 100
Branas Isaf [Liyn Coed) Ltd* 04926774 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Branas Isaf [personal development & approach 04826559 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
trainingl Limited*
Branas Isaf (Therapeutic Provision limited)*™ ™ - 05355404 England and Wales Non-trading TS0 0 100
Branas Isaf Holdings Lid* 04827227 England and Wales Non-trading 100 1030
Branas Isaf Personal Development Centre Lid* 03744583 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Bright Care Limited* 04050733 England and Wales Operating 100 140
By the Bridge Holdings* 05712186 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
By the Bridge Limited* 04050928 England and Wales QOperating 100 100
By the Bridge Management Company Limited® 08587714 England and Wales Nen-trading 100 100
By the Bridge Narth West Limited® 05448746 Engtand and Wales Operating 100 100
Cambian Asperger Syndrome Services Lirmited* 04117476 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Cambian Autism Services Limited* 03449214 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Cambrian Care {(Powys) Limited* 03813824 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Cambian Childcare Uimited* 4280519 Ergtarsd and Wales Qperating ackd 100
Cambizn Chilgcare Properties Limited* 05274524 England and Wales Praperty 00 100
{Cambign Education Services Limited* 15554772 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Lambian FS Limited* 09501886 Englard and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Cambian Group Holdings Limited* 08929407 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Cambian Group Limited*+ 08929371 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Cambian Heritage | Limited* 05150238 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Cambian Heritage |l Limited* 03898254 England and Wales Praperty 100 100
Interact Care Limited* 04822716 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Cambian Properties {(t/K) Limited* 05554819 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
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31, Group undertakings continued

Company Qwrership Qwnership

Company number Couniry of incorporation Type 2021% 2020%
Carmbian Signpost Limited* 06253729 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Cambian Whinfell School Limited* 04617562 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Cameron Care Limited* SC283940 Scotland Operating 100 108
Candaur Housing CIC 13562034 £ngland and Wales Operating 100 -
Care Support Services Limited* 05356025 England and Wales Operating 100 100
CareTech Community Services (No 2) Limited* D3894564 England ang Wales Operating 100 100
CareTech Community Services Limited*+ Q2804415 £ngland and Wales Cperating 100 100
CareTech Caonsulting Limited* 07188925 England and Wales MNon-trading 100 130
Caretech Digital Limited 13601641 Engtand and Wales Operating 00 -
‘CareTech Estates {Na 2) Limited*+ 06518327 England and Wales Property 100 100
CareTech Estares (No 3) Limited*+ 06518491 England and Wales Property 100 100
CareTech Estates [No 4) Limited*+ 06543818 England and Wales Property 100 100
CareTech Estates (No 5} Limited=+ arg27116 England and Wales Property 100 1G0
CareTech Estates ([Ng 6) Limited*+ DB420656 England and Wales Praperty 100 100
CareTech Estates (Mo 7) Limited*+ 08628141 England and Wales Property 100 100
CareTech Estates Limited*+ 05964868 England and Wales Property 100 100
CareTech Foster Care Limited* 05185612 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
CareTech Fostering Holdings Limiteg* 07206363 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
CareTech Fostering Services* 07205262 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
CareTeckh Housing Services* 03438332 England and Wales Non-trading 100 160
CareTech Internationa! (Previously Family 06902547 England and Wales Non-trading 160 100

Assessment Services Limited) Limited*

Clifford House Limited* [ ——— 03320573 England.and Wales. Non-trading . 1 |+ J— 100
Colerne Community Care (Kent) Limited* 02755757 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Community Support Froject Limited*+ 05941774 England and Wafes Non-trading 100 104G
Complete Care & Enablement Services Limited* 05905163 €ngtand and Wales Operating 100 100
Continuum Care and Education Group Limited* 05804360 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Counticare Limited* 02585656 England and Wales Neon-trading 100 100
Coveberry Limited* 01208511 England and Wales Cperating 100 100
Daisybrook Limniteg* 33026221 Engiand and Wales Operaling 106 100
Cawn Hodge Associates Limited® 04130146 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Delam Care Limited* 02995783 Ergland and Wales QOperating 100 100
Delham Care Limited* 02748991 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Elite Children's Care Limiteg* 05251327 England ang Wales Non-trading 100 100
Emeraldpoint Limited* 03098166 England and Wales Qperating 16a 100
EnableAll Lirnited 13540728 England and Waies Operating 100 -
EQL Solutions Limited*+ 08758477 England and Wales Qperating 140 100
Farrow House Limited* 03504115 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Fostering Suppoart Group Limited* 02359399 England and Wales Qperating 100 100
Frankiin Hormes Limited* 03002865 England and Wales Operating 130 i6a
Glenroyd House Limited* 04326288 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Gloucestershire Autism Services Limited* 03051510 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Green Corns Limited* 03918305 £ngland and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Greenfields Adolescent Development Limited* 04068839 England and Wales Operating 10a 100
Greenfields Care Group Limited* 04642100 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100

SINIWILYLAS TYIDNYNIY
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31. Group undertakings continued

Company Cwnirghip Qumership
Company numbey Couniry of incorparation  Type % 2020%
Hereson House Limited* 04185252 England and Wales Operallng 100 100
Herts Care {Escort and Supervision Services) Limited* 03648069 England and Wales Non-trating 100 100
Herts Care Group Limited* 04533660 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Herts Care Limited* 03400914 England and Wales Non-trading 1o 100
Harts Care Propenty Limited* (04132387 England and Wales Nen-trading 100 100
Hunismans Ladge ed* 04668317 England ang Wales Operating 149 100
Indepengent Crulttcare Group of Schools Limited* 02525025 England and Wales MNon-tiading 100 100
Inheseo 2993 Limited* 04534538 England and Wales Non-tiading 108 100
RO B Care Limned® O30386G8  England and Wales Non-traging 100 130
Hirkstall Lodge Limited* D4778674 England and Wates Operating 100 100
Leigham Lodge Lirmiteg* 04583599 England and Wales Qperating 10D 100
Lonsdale Midlands Limited* 02834144 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Lyndhurst Psychiatric Residential Care Limited* 02958528 Englang and Wales Non-trading 100 100
Magnokia Court Limited* 05444549 England and Wales Operating 100 109
Mazan Praperty Development Company Limited* 04308273 England and Wales Properly 100 100
Qakleaf Care (Hartwell] Limited* 05225317 England and Wales Operating 100 160
Jre Six One Limited* 04136284 England and Wales. Operating 100 100
Cne Step Suppart} Limbtad® 04534652 England and Wales Qperating 100 100
Onetrue Step Limited* 08338192 England and Wales Non-rading 100 100
Qutlook Fostering Services Limiled* 04357704 England and Wales Operatng 1040 100
Palm Care Limited* £4050739 England and Wates Qperating 139 100
Park Foster Care Ltd" 04851395 England and Wales Operating 104 100
Park Foster Care Services Scotland Limiteg. 5C427502 Scotland —- . Operating . —-.-109 100
Phoenix Therapy and Care Limited* 5C254565 Scotland Operating 149 100
Pinnacie Supported Living Limited* 02736242 England and Wales Non-trading 104 100
Presuwood Resigential Homes Ld* 04129564 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Prirmrase Caurt Limited* 04803755 England and Wales Operaung [T 100
Protessional integrated Care Services Limited® 04771613 England and Wales Non-trading gl 100
Purpte Zest Lirmited™+ 11421082 England and wales Operating 100 100
Raborgugh Hause Limited* 05054294 England and Wales Operating 100 100
ROC North West Ltd* 05564417 £ngland and Wales Operating 100 100
Rosedale Children’s Services L 04932054 England and Wales QOperaling 100 Lo
SACLS Care Lirmitea” 04495379 Englang and Wales Non-trading 00 100
SACCS Limneg™ 04497910 England and Wales Non-trading 109 100
Selborne Care Limited* 05513162 Englang and Wales Operanng 100 100
Selwyn Care Limites* 03737832 England and Wales Operaung 100 100
Smaribox Holdings Limiled 12813709 England and Wales Naon-trading ™ -
Smartoox Assisuve Technoiogy Linvted 0554184 Englandg and Wales Operaung o0 -
Smnartbex Assistive Technology Ine. (US cal 6082148 Delaware, US COperating 100 _
Smarlbox Assistive Technalogy [EU) {ireland col 658938 Ireland Operating 160 -
Sensory Software International Limed Q3662043 England and Wales Qperaung 100 -
South Easl Care Services Limited* 02296352 England and Wales Non-trading 108 100
Spark of Genlus Limited* SCA78754 Scotland Non-trading 100 100
Spark Of Genius (North East LLP 0384807 England and Wales Operating 50 50
Spark Of Genius (Training) Linited* 5C196146 Scolland Operaung EUL 108
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31. Group undertakings continued

Company Dwanership Owrnership
Company number Cauntry of incorporation Type 2021% 2020%
St Michael's Support & Care Limited* 05978585 £ngland and Wales Operating 100 100
Sunnyside Care Homes Lig* 04589719 England and Wales Operating 100 100
The Community Care Company UK Limited* 02816119 England and Wales Nonstrading 104 100
TLC (Wales) Independent Fostering Limitea* 04824925 England and Wales QOperating 100 100
Trojan Spark Limited* SC453152 Scotland Non-trading 1008 100
Upiands {Fareham) Urniteg* 03488896 Englang and Wales Operating 100 100
Vateo Community Projects Limited* 03941224 England and Wales Naon-trading 100 160
Valeo Lirmited*+ 04089715 Engiand and Wales Operating 100 100
Victoria Lodge Umited* G4454845 England and Wales Operating 108 1G0
Vasse Court Limited* 04778676 Englandg and Wales Operating 1400 100
White Cliffs Lodge Limited* 04351559 England and Wales Operating 100 100
Wyatt House Limited* 04319271 England and Wales Nan-trading 100 160 -
Advaniced Childeare Cagital Limited 107650 Jersey? Nan-trading 100 160 z
Advanced Childcare Holdings Limited 107660 Jersey? Non-trading 100 100 ;
Cambian Capital Lirnited 87311 Jersey? Non-trading 100 100 E
Cambian Developments |l Limited 104724 Jersey? Nan-trading 100 100 :
Agdvanced Childcare Finance Limited 107661 Jersey? Dissolved - 100 b
Advanced Childcare Group Limited 107672 Jersey? Dissalved -~ 100 R‘
Cambian Developments | Limited 106304 Jersey? Dissolved - 100 §
Cambian Developments Limited 102148 Jersey? Dissoived - 100 -24
Cambizan Finance Limited 91181 Jersey? Dissolved - 100 “
Cambian Holdings Limited 87312 Jersey® Dissolved - 100
Cambian Manco Limited 109922 Jersey? - -Dissolved T 100
Care Aspirations Finance Limited 101512 Jersey? Dissolved - 100
Care Aspirations Holdings Limited 101522 Jersey? Dissolved ~ 100
Care Asprirations Capital Limited 101503 Jersey? Dissolved - 100
H20 Limited FC87291 Gibraltar Non-trading 100 100
Hazeldene UK Limited* FCOLS967 Gibrattar Qperating 108 100G
Cambian Properties 1l Limited 91131 Jersey? Property 100 100
CareTech Cloud Limited* 12392889 England and Wales Non-trading 100 100
CareTech Mena Social Care L1LC 1010563230  Saudi Arabra Non-trading 1C0 100
CareTech Holdings Limited 3381 United Arab Ernirates Non-trading 100 oo
AS1 Investments Holding Ltd (ADGM) 3272 United Arab Emirates Non-trading 52 94
AS2 Investrents Holdings Ltd (ADGM) 5298 United Arab Emirates Non-trading B9.9 -~
AS Investments Holding Ltd (ADGM) 3087 United Arab Emirates Non-trading 52 52
Macani Medical Centre CN-1937451  United Arab Emirates Operating 93 49
AS Northwood Investrnents Holdings 1LC (ADGM) (N-2696945  United Arab Emirates Non-trading 99 99
ACPN Dubai 674030 United Arab Emirates Qperating €5 &5
ACPN Abu Ohabi CN-1142528  United Arab Emirates COperating 65 65
ACPN Al Ain CN-1142528-1 United Arab Emnirates Operating 65 65
Care Talent Advisors Limited” 12391623 Engiand and Wales Non-trading 60 60
Jobzooma Umited 10127824 England and Wales Operating 29.4 29.4
Recruiterlink Limited 11665920 England and Wales Operating 25.4 29.4
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31. Group undertakings continued

Y Has a UK designated trading branch, Hazeldene UK Limited.
2 Registered office 9 Burrard Street, St Helier. Jersey JE4 53K,
*  Owned directly by the Company.

' These subsidiaries have taken advantage of the audit exernption under s479A and s479C of the Companies Act 2006 for the period ended 30 September 2021, As such,
the Company has provided a guarantee against all debts and liabilities in these subsidiaries as at 20 September 2021

Exemption from audit by Parent guarantee

The Company being the ultimate sole shareholder of its subsidiaries has decided to take the exemption from audit of a number of subsidiaries
for the year ended 30 September 2021 under Sections 479A and 479C of the Cornpanies Act 2006 and the Company will provide a guarantee
for all the liabilities of those entities as at 30 September 2021 detailed above with the exception of Hazeldene UK Limited, H20 Limited and Spark
of Genius_(North_East) LLP and_Advanced Childcare_Capital Limited. Advanced.Childcare finance Limited_Advanced Childcare Group_Limited,
Advanced Childcare Holdings Limited, Cambian Capital Limited, Cambian Developments 1 Limited, Cambian Developments Il Limited, Cambian
Developments Limited. Cambian Finance Limited, Cambian Holdings Limited, Carmbian Manco Limited, Care Aspirations Finance Limited. Care
Aspirations Holdings Limited, Care Aspirations Capitail Limited and Cambian Properties Il Limited,

Wholly-owned subsidiaries incorporated in Gibraltar and Jersey will not be covered by the Parent Company guarantee as they are incorporated
outside of the UK. - ;

Unless otherwise stated above, the registered offices of all subsidiaries is Sth Floor Metropolitan Heuse, 3 Darkes Lane, Potters Bar, England,

ENG 1AG with the excepticn of:

Company

Address

Applied Care and Development Lid

Netherlea House. Bankend figad, Dumfries, DGE 4AL

Cameron Care Limited

Inspire Children Services. Lochview, Fort William, Inverness-Shire, PH33 7NP

Dawn Hodge Associates Limited

Fiveways House, Buildwas Road, Neston, CHE4 3RU

Park Foster Care Services Scotland Limited

272 Bath Street, Glasgow. G2 4JR

_Phoenix Therapy and Care Limited

1 Lodge Street, Haddington, East Lothian, EH41 3DX

Professional Integrated Care Services Limited

Tan Y Fron, Pontardulzis Road, Crosshands, Carmarthenshire, 5A14 6PG

Spark of Genius Limited

Trojan House Pegasus Avenue, Phoenix Business Park, Paisley, PAL 2BH

Spark of Genius (North East) LLP

King Edwin Schoaol Mill Lane, Norton, Stockton-On-Tees, North Yprkshire, 7520 1LG

Spark of Genius {Training) Limited

Trojan House Pegasus Avenue. Phoenix Business Park, Paistey, PAL 2BH

Trajan Spark Limited

Trojan House Pegasus Avenue, Phoenix Business Park, Paistey, PAL 2BH

H2Q Limited

Mantagu Pavillion, 8-10 Queensway, Gibraltar

Hazeldene UK Limited

Montagu Pavillion. 8-10 Queensway, Gibraltar

CareTech Mena Social Care LLC

7534 King Abdul Aziz Road - Al Ghadeer District, Unit No 44, Riyadh 13311-4672,
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

CareTech Holdings Limited

2458, 24, Al Sila Tower, Abu Dhabi Global Market Square, Al Maryah Island, Abu Dhabi,
United Arab Emirates

AS1 Investments Holding Ltd (ADGM)

2458 Al Sila Tower, ADGM Square. Al Marya Island Abu Dhabi, UAE

AS2 Investments Holding Led (ADGM)

16th Floar, Wework Hub71, Al Khatern Tower, ADGM Square. Al Maryah Island, Abu Chabi,
United Arab Emirates

AS Investments Holding Ltd (ADGM)

2458 Al Sila Tower, ADGM Square, Al Marya Island, Abu Dhabi, UAE

Macani Medical Centre

Ahmed Ali Monamed Abdulla Alsayegh Building, Office 205,
GH 10. & 63, T 2, Al Khalidiah Street, Abu Dhabi, UAE

AS Northwoaod Investrments Holdings LLC {ADGM}

Unit of Ahmed Ali Mohamed Abduila Alsayegh, West 10,0,
PO Box MNo. 52613, Abu Dhahbi, UAE

ACPN Dubai

Jumeirah Sunset Mall, Jumeirah 3, PO Box 66026. Dubai. UAE
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31. Group undertakings continued

Company

Address

ACPN Abu Chabi

Khalid bin Abdul Aziz Street, Mounira Shetd Ahmed Al Mubarzic Building. PO Box 108659,

Abu Dhabi. UAE

ACPN Al Ain

Villa of Moharmmed Raashid Mohammed ang others. Al Ghil, Al Maatarid, Al Ain, AbL Dhabi.

UAE

Srnartbox Assistive Techniology Limited

Ysobel House Enigma Commercial Centre, Sandys Road, Malvern, Worcestershire, England,

WR14 1311

Smarthox Assistive Technotogy Inc. (US co)

2831 Leechburg Road, NEW KENSINGTON, PA 15068, Westmareland

Srnarthox Assistive Technalogy (EU) (Ireland cob

Jpa Brenson Lawlor Mouse, Argyle Square Morehampton Road. Donnybrook, Dublin

Sensory Software International Limited

Seneca House Links Ppint. Amy Johnson Way. Blackpool, Lancashire. FY4 2FF

Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interest {NCI’)

The Group has aggregated the subsidiary financial infarmation of the AS Group acquired on 4 February 2020, The Group has considered
it appropriate to aggregate the information due to geographical lacation and the nature of the activities being performed is consistent.

The below table shows the subsidiaries that form part of the Group.

Proportion,

of gwnershin
interests held by
nan-contrelling

Proportion

of vating

rights held by
non-controlling

Subsidiary name Principal place of business interests intarests
AS Investments Holding Lid (ADGM) United Arab Emirates 48% 48%
AS Narthwood lnvestments Holdings LLC (ADGM) United Arab Emnirates 1% 1%
ACPN Dubai United Arab Emirates 35% 35%
ACPN Abu Dhabj United Arab Emirates 5% 35%
ACPN Al Ain United Arab Emirates 35% 5%
—ASLInvestments Hotding ttd (ADGM) - — — . United Arab-Emirates — L en—

Macani Medical Centre United Arab Emirates 5% 51%

2021 2020

£000 £000
Profit allocated to NCls during the reporting period 521 1.234
Dividends paid {1,160} -
Accumulated NC| at 30 September 8,567 9,206
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31. Group undertakings centinued
Summarised financial information for the AS Group is set out in the table below:

2021 2020

£'000 £Q00

Current assets 9,344 8,139
Non-current assets 304 271
Currert liabilities {2,213) (2,870)
Non-current tiabilities (1,758) {1.833)
Revenue 25,054 15.548
Profit and total comprehensive income 3,131 1,881
_—— Net.cash-from-operating-activities {40) 2,202
Net cash used in investing activities {160) {77
Net cash used in financing activities {1,160) (161)
Net cash inflow {1,360) 1,964

The Group has aggregated the subsidiary financial information of Smartbox Assistive Technology Limited and associated subsidiaries, and
Sensory Software |nternational Limited (Collectively ‘Smartbox’] acquired on 5 October 2020. The Group has considered it approgriate to
aggregate the information due to gecgraphical location and the nature of the activities being performed being consistent. The below table
shows the subsidiaries that form part of the Group.

Propartion Propaortion

of ownership of voting
Interests held by rights held by
non-contralling  non-contralling

Subsidiary name Principal place of business interpsts interests
Smartbox Holdings Limited England ang Wales 30% 0%
SMARTEOX ASSISTIVE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED Delaware, US 0% 0%
© Smartbox Assistive Technology. Inc.” |~ England and Wales T A

Smartbox Assistive Technology (EU) Limited Ireland 0% 0%
Sensory Software International Limited England and Wales 0% 0%

w0 2320

[3]1] EGo0
Profit allocated to NCls during the reporting period 464 -
Accumulated NCI at 30 September 1,914 -

Summarised financial information for the Smartbox Group is set out in the table below:

2021 2020
E‘Q00 E'000
Current assets 139 —
Non-current assets 11,983 -
Current liabilities {3,550) -
Non-gurrent liabilities {2,780) -
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Company Statement of Financial Position

as at 30 September 2021

2024 2020
Note E000 [Ssis0]
Non-current assets
Tangible assets 135 -
favestments 34 402,781 389,859
402,916 399,859
Current assets
Trade and cther receivabies 35 236,041 247171
Cagsh ard cash equivalents 2,553 485
237.594 247.656
Total assets 640,510 647515
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 37 40,642 48.411
40,642 48.411 . 2
2
Non-current liabilities o
Loans and borrowings 3% 319,356 318552 E
Total tiabilities 359,998 367,003 'é
Net assets 280,512 280,512 :
3
Equity =z
Share capital 29 566 565 v
Share premium 133,551 133.080
— -Merger-reserve ——_— — 125,842 —125,842.. .
Retainedg earnings 20,553 21025
Total equity attributable to equity shareholders of the Parent 280,512 280,512

Under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company is exempt from the requirement to present its own incorme staternent.

The profit far the year included in the financial staternents of the Company was £12,584.000 {2020 loss: £15,845.000).

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 6 December 2021 and were signed

on its behalf by:

Farouq Sheikh OBE
Group Executive Chairman
Company number; 04457287

(i

Christopher Dickinsen

Group Chief Financial Officer
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity

as at 30 September 2021

Share capital  Share premium Merger reserve  Retained eamings Total equity

£000 £000 EQ0D EDOD

At 1 October 2019 545 121,304 125,536 45,757 293.142
Lass for the year and total comprehengive income - - - {15,845 (15,845)
Issue of shares 20 11.776 306 - 12,102
Share-based payments’ charge - - - 4,119 4119
Dividands - - - {13,006) {13,006)
At 30 September 2020 565 133.080 125 842 21,025 280,512
At 1 October 2020 565 133,080 125,842 21,025 280,512
Brafit for the year and tatal compranensive income - - - 12,584 12,584
IssUeof shares 1 371 = = 472
Share-based payments’ charge - - - 1,375 1.375
Dividends - - - (14,431) {14,431)
At 30 September 2021 566 133,551 125,842 20,553 250,512
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Notes to the Company Financiat Statements

32. Accounting policies

(a) Basis of preparation

CareTech Holdings PLC (the Company’} meets the definition of a qualifying entity under Financial Reporting Standard (RS 100, issued by the
Financial Reporting Council (FRC'). Accordingly. the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework. The financial statements have beer prepared on a histarical cost basis except in respect of those financial instruments that nave
been reasured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given
in exchange for goods and services.

As permitted by FRS 101, the Company has taken advantage of the disclosure exemptions availabte under that standard in relation to share-based
payment, financial instruments, capital management, presentation of comparative information in respect of certain assets, presentation of cash
flow statement and certain related-party transactions.

(b} Investments

Investrments in subsidiary undertakings are stated in the balance sheet of the Company at cost less impairment written off.

(¢} Cash and liquid resources

Cash, for the purpose of the cash flow statement, comprises cash’in hand and deposits repayable on demand and those with maturities of
three months or less from inception, less overdratts payable on demand.

(d} Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value tess directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any difference between proceeds [net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value being recognised in the consoligated income statement over the period of the borrowings on an effective interest basis.

SINIWILVLS IVIONYND

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the lability for at least
12 months after the reporting date.

{e) Taxation e ———— -
Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates
ta items recognised dirgctly in equity, in which case it is recagnised in equily.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

{f) Revenue

Revenue represents management fees receivable, in respect of the pericd to which management services relate.

{g) Share-based payments

The share option programmie allows employees to acquire sharas of the Company. The fair value of options granted is recognised as an
employee expense with a carresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and spread over the period during which
the employees become unconditionally entitled to the options. The fair value of the options granted is measured using an option pricing model.
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The amount recagnised as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the actual number of share options that vest except where forfeiture is only due’to share prices not achieving the threshold for vasting.

Where the Company grants options over its own shares to the employees of its subsidiaries it recognises an increase in the cost of invesiment
in its subsidiaries equivaternt to the equity-settied share-based payment charge recognised in its subsidiary’s financial statements with the
corresponding credit being recognised directly in equity.
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32. Accounting policies continued

(h) Employee Benefit Trust {EBT")

The Company has not elected to consclidate the employee benefit trust and consegquently recognise it as an investment in subsidiary. and
recognise a receivable balance for any shares issued to the trust. and is subsequently measured at amortised cost. These receivables are payable
on demand and do not carry any interest. Considering these amounts are receivable on the sale of shares held by the trust and such shares are
quoted higher than the value receiveble, the Company are of the view that there are no credit losses as at balance sheet date.

{i) Financial instruments

Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial
instrument-All-financial-assets-are-initially-measured-at-fair-value-adjusted-for-transaction-costs-(where-applicable)-Financiak-labilities-are-initially
measured at fair value, and, where applicable. adjusted for transaction costs unless the Company designated a financial liability at fair value
through profit or loss, Subsequent measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities are described below.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the financial asset and
all substantial risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liabiiity is derecognised when it is extinguished. discharged, cancelled or expires.
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified into the following categeries upon initial recognition:

- Financial assets at amortised cost.
- Financial assetsfiabilities held at (FYTPL).

FWTPL assets in this category are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The fair values of financial assets in this
category are determined by reference to active market transactions or using a valuation technigue where no active market exists.

All income and expenses relating to financizl assets that are recognised in the consolicdated income statement are presented within finance costs
or financeincome, except-forimpairment-of tradereceivables whichis presented within-other administrative expenses:—— -~ = -
Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are not designated as FVTPLL

- they are held withir a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual cash flows; and
- the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

After initiat recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest methad. Discounting is omitted where the effect
of discounting is immaterial. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents, trade and most other receivables fall into this category of financial
instruments.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that are held within a different business model other than ‘hold to collect’ or ‘hold to collect and sell’ are categorised at fair value
through profit and loss. Further, irrespective of business model financial assets whose contractual cash fiows are not solely payments of principal
and interest are accounted for at FVYTPL. All derivative financial instruments fall into this category.

Assets in this category are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The fair values of financial assets in this
category are determined by reference to active market transactions or using a valuation technique where no active market exists.
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32. Accounting policies continued
Classification and subsequent measurement of financiat Viabilities

The Cornpany’s tinancial liabilities include borrowings, trade and other payables and derivative financial instruments. Financial liabilities are
measured subsequently at armartised cost using the effective interest method, except for tinancial tabilities held for trading or designated at
FVTPL, that are carried subsequently at fair value with gains or losses recognised in the consolidated income staternent. All derfvative finaricial
instruments that are not designated and effective as hedging instrurments are accounted for at FYTPL.

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument’s fair value that are reported in consalidated income statement are
included within finance costs or finance Income.

From time to time, the long-term debt held by the Company are either refinanced as these come to matunty, or the margin on these faciiities
moves.inline with the_ratio_of the_Group’s net_debt t¢.adjusted EBITDA In_either_scenario, the Company-reviews whether the debt.is accounted
for as a modification or an extinguishment of the liability. A substantial modification should be accounted for as an extinguisnment of the existing
liability and the recognition of a new liability. A nan-substantial modification should be accounted for as an adjustment to the existing liability,
Both the guantitative and qualitative aspects of the maodification are taken into account to ascertaln whether the maodification is substantial

and these can include the change in covenants, repayment dates and the effective intarest rate. If modification accounting is adopted, the
carrying value of the existing liability is adjusted for fees paid or costs incurred and the effective interest rate is amended at the modification
date. If extinguishment accounting is adopted. the existing liability is de-recognised and the new or modified liability is recognised at its fair
value, the gain or loss equal to the difference between the carrying value of the old liability and the fair value of the new one is recognised, any
incremental costs or fees incurred and any consideration paid or received is recognised in profit or loss and a new effective interest rate for the
modified liability is calculated and used in future periods.

Derivative financial instruments

From time to time, the Company enters into dervative financial instruments, such as interest rate swaps. ta manage its exposure to interast
rate risk.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date 2 derivative is entered Into and are subsequently re~measured to their fair value at
- each-balance sheet date-A-derivative-with-a-positive fair value is-recognised as a financial asset whereas-a-derivative-with a negative fair value

is recognised as a financial liability. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement immediately. A derivative

is presented as a non-current asset or non-current liability if the Company has an unconditional right 10 defer payment beyond 12 months.

Otherwise derivatives are presented as current assets or liabilities.

As part of the incorporation of Smarthox Holdings, the Group has granted the non-controlling interasts the option to request the Group to
acquire some ot all of their shares in Smartbox Holdings Limited. The Company recognises the liatility for this put option on a net basis as it
is not own equity.

{j} Dividends on shares presented within shareholders’ funds

Dividends unpaid at the balance sheet date are only recognised as 2 liability at that date to the extent that they are appropriately authorised
and are no longer at the discretion of the Company. Unpaid dividends thst do not meet these criteria are disciosed in the notes to the
financial statements.
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32. Accounting policies continued
(k} Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the premium arising on the ordinary shares issued as consideration for the acquisition of shares in ancther
company ('merger relief).

Merger reserve
20 2020
£000 £00C
Opening balarnce L Cctober 125,842 125,536
Issue of shares (see NGte 26} - 306
At 30 September 125,832 125.842
33. Dividends
The aggregate amount of dividends comprises:
_ 2021 2020
£000 £Q00
Intesim dividend paid in respect of prior year but not recagnised as liabilities in that year
{4.0p per share, {2020: 3.75p per share)) 4,525 4,093
Final dividend paid in respect of the prior year (8.75p per share, (2020: 7.95p per share)} 9,906 8913
Aggregate amouni of dividends paid in the financial year {12.75p per share (2020: 11.70p per share)) 14,431 13.006

The aggregate amount of dividends proposed and not recognised as liabilities as at the year end is 14.1p per share, £10.482,790 {2020: 12.75p
per share, £14,00¢,000).

34, Investments

IR . A —————— e 4 - = =———————== - Shares in Group~

undertakings
£004
Cost and net book value

At 1 October 2020 305,859
Acquisitions {see Note §) 2.922
At 30 September 2021 402.781

15. Trade and other receivables
2021 2020
£4006 EOQQ
Amounts owed by Graup undertakings 224,738 235,402
Armounts owed by the Employment Benefit Trust 11,303 11,769
236,041 247171,

These balances owed by Group undertakings accrue intercomparny interest at a rate of 3% per annum and are repayable on demand. Please refer
to note 1 and the statement on going concern. Intercompany financial assets were assessed by management for impairment using the expected
credit loss model under IFRS 9. The assets are considered to have low credit risk and consequentially an immaterial credit loss was assessed and
no provision has been made.
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36. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Campany's interest-bearing loans and borrowings. For more information
about the Group's exposure to interest rate tisk, please see note 29 in the Group accounts,

Terms and debt repayment schedule

foak value Goak value
Nominal interest Year of 2021 2020
Currency rate {X) maturity £000 EQCO

Term Ioan £ 2.04(2020: 2.25) 202% 158,548 160,031 -
Term loan £ 2,04 (2020: 2.50)" 2023 158,948 158,561
Revolving credit facility term toan £ 2.04 (2020: 2.75) 2023 - -
337:896———318:552

The margin on the facilities is stated at the current rate and can change between 1.50% and 3.25% based on the ratio of the Group's net debt to adjusted EBITDA

The facility is a term loan of £322m and revolving credit facility of E25m to a group of banks comprising Barclays Bank PLC, HSBC UK Barks
PLC. Santander UK £LC. A'B Group (UK) PLC, Clydesdale Bank PLC, Credit Suisse AG, Lloyds Bank PLC and National Westminster Bank PLC and
is stated net of loan finance costs in accordance in 1AS 23. During the course of the year, the Group completed the extension of the Term Loan
A facility of £161.2m which will now mature in August 2023. The margin of the facility and covenants remain unchanged, reflecting the highty
cash-generative nature of the business and deleveraging profile. In additicn, both the Group's loan and interest rate swaps have migrated 1o
Compounded Daily SONIA as the reference rate. This has resulted as a non-substantial modification and accounted for as an adjustment to
the existing liability and not an extinguishment.

37. Trade and other payables

2024 2020
E0DnQ £000
Amounts due to Group urdertakings 37.259 42,769
———— "—Gther creditors e B - 3,383 - 5642 -
40,642 4B 411

These balances due to Group undertakings accrue intercompany interest at a rate of 3% per annum,

38. Contingent liabilities

As per note 31, the Company have taken the audit exermption for a number of subsidiaries by virtue of s479A of the Companies Act.
A Parent Company guarantee has been provided for these entities under s479C of the Companies Act.

39. Called-up share capital

2021 2020
EQDD E0OQ

Allotted, called up and fully paid:
113327459 {2020: 113,173 992} ordinary shares of 0.5p each 566 565
53,402 deferred shares of §.5p each g 0
566 565

The holders of the ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote par share at
meetings of the Company. The deferred shares have no such rights. Cetails in respect of the movements in equity are given in note 26 to the
Group financial statements.

Details in respect of the reserves are given in note 27 1o the Group financial staterments,
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40. Staff numbers and costs
The Company has no employees (2020: nane) other than the Directors. Directors’ emoluments are shown on page 97.

41. Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans

The Company operates a number of defined contribution pension plans. The total Company expense relating to these plans in the current year
was Enil (2020: Enil).

Share-based payments

There was no expense for share-based payments relating to the Company's emplayees in the year (2020 Enil). There was 3 grant of shares to
the CareTech Charitable Foundation in the previous year, which is accounted for as 2 share-based payment with a charge of nit (2020: £4.1m)

to the income statement in the year.
The grants and related accounting treatment adopted by the Company is identical to that operated by the Group under IFRS 2 ‘Share-Based
Payments’ (see note 25).

42. Related parties
The Company receives dividends from its subsidiaries according ta their ability to remit them and received interest in intergroup loans. Other
details of related-party transactions have been given in note 30 to the consolidated accounts.

Under FRS 101. the Company is exempt from disclosing key management personnel compensation and transactions with other entities wholly
owned by the Campany.
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Appendix: Alternative Performance Measures

The Group regorts certain non-IFRS performance measures, known as Alternative Performance Measures (APMs, The Directors believe that
they provide useful supplemental information for the readers of the Annual Report and, when read in conjunction with the IFRS fingnciat
information, assist in providing a batanced view of the Group’s financial performance and financial position.

In assessing its performance, the Group has adopted a number of APMs as the Directors are of the view that these will assist the readers of
the accounts when understanding our performance relative to other companies in our sectar 3nd in the wider econamy. These measures are
nat defined by IFRS and theretore may not be directly comparable with other companies’ adjusted measures. They are not intended to be 2
substitute for, or superior to, IFRS measurements of profit or earnings per share.

We set out below those APMs which management use in assessing its own performance and a reconcitiation of those APMs to the statutory
IFRS finrgncial statements,

a)_Underlying EBITDA

Underlying EBITDA is defined as Earnings Before Interest, Tax. Depreciation, Amortisation, ExXSOP share-based payments charge and non-
underlying items (see note (b} below). There is no further intent to issue awards under the ExSOP scheme, these have historically been ad hoc
awards and as such not considered a component af underlying EBITDA. Underlying EBITDA is considered the most relevant performance
measure in our (and many other} sectors. We reconcile underlying EBITDA to the statutory measure of opéarating profit on the face of the
income statement as below: :

2021 2020
Note £000 EQO0
Underiying £EBITDA 100.485% 90.932
Adjusted for:
COVID-19 income 6 2,692 2.550
Depreciation 13 {19,518} {17.021)
Amortisation of intangible assets 614 (10,273) (10,186}
Acquisition expenses 6 {759) {545
Sleep-in provision 6 11,777 -
Gain gn bargain purchases T 6 5,758 R
Gther non-underiying items & {5,964} {4.497}
COVID-19 exgenses £ {3,220) 13.422)
Sharg-basad payments’ charge 3 1473) 14,449)
Qperating profit 79,504 53,362

b) Non-underlying items

Statutory measures are adjusted to exclude those events or transactions that, in the opinion of the Directors, by virtue of unusual size cor nature,
or an infrequent/one off otcurrence, distort the understanging of the porformance for the yoar or comparability between periads. Such iterns
are separately classified as non-underlying iterns in these accounts. The Directors are of the view that the underlying items will improve a
reader’s ynderstanding of the core performance of the businesses of the Group.

At the aperating cost level, non-underlying items include expeonses retating to the acquitition of new businesces; the integration of acquisitions
ang the reorganisation of the interna! operating and management structure and redundancy costs: non-cash charges of amortisation of
intangible fixed assets together with any impairment of intangible assets or goodwill; and any other items that may fit this definition. For the
year ended 30 September 2021, a reversal of sleep-in provision and a gain on bargain purchase were included in the determination of operating
profit. COVID-13 income and costs have beer included as non-underlying operating prolit for the years ended 30 September 2021 and

30 September 2020. Please refer Note £ for 2 detailed explanation as to why each of these items are considered non-underlying.

At the financial expenses tevel, non-underlying items include costs telating to derivative financial instruments and inciude the movements
during the year in the fair value of the Group's interest rate hedging arrangements which do not qualify for hedge accounting, together with
the quartarly cash settlement and accrual thereot, These ltems are considered by the Directors to mee! the definition of non-underlying items.
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b} Non-underlying items continued

The impact of current and deferred tax on each of these items are considered in the nan-underlying section, in addition to the impact of
deferred tax on account of the rate change,

We present a reconciliation of our underlying earnings 10 our statutory profil un a line oy line basis including Operating profit, Finance expenses,
Profit before Tax and taxaticn as follows:

2021 2020
Non~- Nan-

Underlying wunderlying Statutory Underlying  underlying Statutory

Note £Q00 EQDO0 £000 £000 000 £000

Operating profit 80,493 (989} 79,504 73,581 {20,219 53.362
Financial.expenses g (12,158}, 1,112) (13,270)— _(13.928) {1.611) {15,539)
Profit before tax ) 68,335 {2,101) 66,234 59.653 {21.630) 37.823
Taxation 6,10 (11,889} {19,017} (30,906) {11.325) 553 {10,772
Profit for the year 56,446 {21,118) 35,528 48,328 (21.277) 27,051

c) Net debt

A key performance indicator for many readers of accounts is the level of net debt within the business. Net debt comprises cash net of alt loans
and borrowings as defined by the Group's banking facilities. Accordingly, the Group provides information on its net debt which is reconcited
to the statutory financial statements as follows:

2021 2020
Note £000 £000

HNet debt in the balance sheet comprises:
Cash at bank and in hand 65,560 54,273
Bank loans 20 {317,896) (317.122)
Shareholder loan . . —— I (1,758). (1.833)
Lease and hire purchase contracts i4 {4,567] 4.204)
Net debt at 30 September {258,661) (268.886)

d) Underlying earnings per share

Underlying earnings per share is calculated based on underlying profit for the year as calculated in note {b) above. This is reconciled to earnings
per share in note 12.

e} Operating cash flows before non-underlying items

Operating cash flows before non-underlying items is calcutated based on operating cash flows adjusted non-underlying cash flows as
reconciled below.

2021 2020

Note £00D EQDG

Operating cash flowy before non-underlying items 96,594 94,222
Nan-cash adjustment 903 -
Integration and restructuring costs 6 {4,177} 13.795)
Payment of charitable donations [ (1,203) {702)
COVID-19 receipts 6 2,692 2.550
COVID-19 payments [ {4,220} (3,420
Payment of acquisition costs 5 (759) {545)
LCash inflows from opcrating activities 83,830 88,310
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